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qATT FUR AAATHT I& AT FHY TATA) AR e AUGHH [AATHT AR
FALATHT TEAT HoATeATs AT HoITHT TR T AlehT 3 |

b qar faxiig WA FAT YATE SWUHT GRATSITATR! IATeT  &TAAT  (Production
Capacity) [a&dR & FHR=A 9§ AWM g qg a1 ¥ ANTTAT Jig ST HRIA
STEHT AMBUHRI HAT ARl TH AT (Repayment Schedule) AT HSAT F<hT T T
fegfq TRehr HOHE AT TATHHATHT WWH BTegIIER, HadFR, {He, qX aled
a1 A TEER A ] aREAeAeedls Seredl Od R TR AT AT
/mwmwwwﬂ?imwwwﬁwwwaﬁm
§|Mm?/mmwﬁw*wms qA FHSAhl TTHT AT
T e G |

o) ITETSAT iR 9% Foarad § WEH a1 oA % g HHAT Wl g, T

)

(3T) STEAT Sl JaTe &l [ERer TRTH A (Moratorium) AT FaT TTShl dAATIHT
UTebehl ST Yok IR ATl dTed 913 |

3) o qur faxirar gwarer afeETSTHTRl I &THAT (Production Capacity) fa&dT® STUepT
it T |




(=) S FAT FaiTT WA FEIITAT HAFATIHT AT JaTe Tl ol TEFe] TTHT BRI
gl qRTAT QTSN a7 O FTHIAH FhT TH A9 5 bl qAREeaT a1
TATAAT ¥ ATTSTHT WO {99 o STHATH ATIRAT [AGLAAT AT TALANABIRIT T
EEE LTI T G 1ok s B T o M 11 R o o | B I
TARAT AR/ [ARELHAT T AhT @ | TAL TARAT AR/ [ATHLHAAT  TRTHT
FAETATs TS HoA(h] TTHT ANH T Flh B, |

(@) FIRPT FIATHT TaTH TPT Fofiells TARERAAT AT AT AR T e S |

() I TRPRA AT ATTTHAT TR 07 FANTHT TALATIAT TAT IIITh  (ThTeh]
AT 7 Sfepel ST TReBT &0 FANTT AEI-HT (=T GAaTe giga e araear

Frafafy, 090 (FEMEMT -3.9) FHINTH &7 T HSAT qALANABIRLIT AT TAXH=AT
& IATH Y, IITNT FHSAT AT AT T TS |

(%) TOSTAYAIT eF qAT faiia TRATA WaTe TRl FSAl (AAT AT FoAU GET HIATE
YA TRIGH] a7 ATHT TRICH] FTEITHT AT FRE BT BoATehl AT T I bl
FHATAT a7 (Loan Loss Provision) HT 9% 9iqerd ge a8 amel W gfqera @ sgen
W I G |

(0) SATHITA/ HEAWTT STHAAT o1l Y& Tl HThl AR STHTT THH AR A
FHF! FMEAT AN FEAAep! [qarer Aard a9 faq avg | afdTa/ F9amrd ST
A gaTied FATATE I FIRITRTTAR a3 T @, qeH ARTT, FHAA T 9
FSAHT O AT FT FIHT qNfbURl Fiaeraesl Afafles 0 gfaerd g9 W &a [
AT FTIH T I8, | AT A, Ao GFIq AT TRATSAT il q@rey 98 99 Jeer
AT AR/ FART FTHAT GH [q8 FSAT JaT8 Tl AGLITAT & TGTHEB
FAHT THA ATARTh 0 AT HSAT AT FaedT THIG |
qX, AR/ TR STHHIAT TATE TUHT SETHRT HATAT I ol ATaqTHT TGl HTTH
T ATaTT g
(&) Hiee FIE Hl |

@) 1 MeeE 7 3 # AT 7 L H @ (@) AT IfedArdd FEATATS I&TT BT Hl |

(@M F& quar T ST At a THHMAT YaTE AEiedl RTe #wr, giedrer frdrr
YATE AURl Fll qA7 A [ qI TIH WERR HEATATS (O A Bl A
TN TN AT IJTST () THITH AMBUH] FoAl A FTEITHT AR 0
JITTT oI ol ATRITAT SHFLT T TS |

(°) Tfafaes 9T SATETAITE ATAH JaTd T GEATATe JaT8 g1 & Y A1 GFAET Hll |
(3) SETIH o AT & TR JaTe AUH & 94 ATGAFHH] AThTd ol |

(1) TSSO FEATHT HSAT ANTHT T (HTaHHT HoAl YATe, AT AT AGAl
AT T Joofd TR I |

(3T) TR {RaHPT FAT TATEHT AT SHATAATIITG FEATHT FoaATcAH AT Fad
JIede T Tehd TRTs AN] TH &1 I T Foll JaTe Tl Yrgde Ju¥ q07 qreT

qo0



(%) HAR AFRIDN FAd Foll RN T T L ATGR gAI | I
HTFRTHTRT AT HUTHT b qa7 i TRATHT TEehT @IaATare TehiA Teepl g |
QT AT ATTATIRIHT TITAT @T T79R (PAN) fTehT g7u |

(%) ¥H #ifg® [T (Equal Monthly Installment) T &Sl SThTAT & T HTHAT
AR TT GAIA | TEAT FoATRl ATTHAH  qHIATAT 9 qUGEH JF g9 | X,
TATSTAUTITT HEATA ATGHT T QY Ar@Rl AT @l aQHl 5. 4 ATaaFHebl
overdraft FST Y&T TH T ERl

(I) HIMAS-9% T FHTaT fafq= TTHT i UG TGATAEsarg (Afd 309
HTE AT AT YaTT Tl ol |

(F) TEAT HAT B FHolrebl ¥ IANTART A& FaTg T AqTH |
(F) U FASHFHHT TRATSTAT AT JaTe TUehT ol |

(@ @S (&) T (F) THISTHBT FoAl R0 (a7 9T qEl AaAlgel WIHl ATSHT @e A A
FATHI T 91 GFTLTT oAl AT AT HIIH T |

() AT FoATehT (aR0T Gg TR TI G |
(Q9) SIATATTAYT FEATA TETThT ATLITHT aTgeb @l TeTehl RIATHT WA Jalfed solieg a9
e FHIteH afideor T o9d, g&d MR, FHAA T FRIE HoAHT 99 A7 Al
AT FMMPUHN FAMART ATAREH R0 FATT IT Al Al FIedT FAH T TS |
WU A FFAP] A TG T 99 & a19d 9l TeTehl fadr a6a fag &
JATE TPl AATATHT TRl o FFIAehl GREUA AQGHH SAq FAHT AT Jooid AT
THITTH o ol AT SHEeT T IS, | TAT FoIehl gg (aa¥er qar T 99, |
(31) O ATk ATHT STh! THTER RERET FGTh] ATHHT U T |
(M) | FH TUHT AT HHB TSR, ATHER a7 (AoThl THTeR GiRaReET ATl AT AT
TUHT oI |
(3) SN THEW a7 FRATHT ATFTAIE FW, IJAN T AT FaGd goarad T
TERIAT AIRDT oo FEITTPT FRETTHT T XTI ol |
R, fafd R0%%/03/3% 9= AT garied Araige HSiihl gebH AfH [Hedr qehml
FAfaT FXAT AT FAT AR SAARAT T SR E S |
gedieEeer  TH GATSTAH] AN A= GHI ATl = A=l Goafa T GRATSTATRT FRE
TRREAIES |
(QR) ZOTATAIT FEITT HITAT MG AGEST AGRAT AT AT Kl PRI HUNBT FoAl T
AHATHT T TS [aeeiuur AT FSl dIedTs dedl aIAT a0 TH Fada |
JETETTHR] ATNT FHAA HATATS hEqe o7 G FATHT T HEIEATS @A FHATHT
BT TH FiebeT 3 |
(A3) STSTATAIT FEAT AT Foliehl Eafq &30 T QAT AfBUHRl =—TaH FHofl AT
TRUET FHAT @TAEE T AT IS, |
(Q¥) AT/ FTIE AT faedt @ivg 97 STRIQUE qHAATS &R T |
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27727 (General Loan Loss Provision)” ¢ f7f%a @il &ifiT TRTHE Foar FF4T+T

-

qFETATS “[F91T FSTT TIFITHT ST (Specific Loan Loss Provision) ” &1 9T 737 & |

90, HET AFATT AILTATATE HEST TH IISH AGT Foll AT TILITATS IBTAB! ATEITHT
ATeh FHTATST T UTe o -

(%) oAl TIe@" TTHAT,
(@) PRl TThTAT fehearavar ar ifiTer TTHT TUAT ol AHIU AASTRT Boll ATFATAT LT

19.

FIH & AR AU FIAFAR] Fol AT TRTH Foll AT ST,

(3T) GARETAAT AT AXATAhIRU TRTHT FHSI(hl Tiar TAT SATTRI STHTHT AMAR T3 THTHH

BRICCER: L

(5) I =[ThT WTHT,

(3) FURFLITEH! FHHAT SRATHT FRTTEE FATTATT YT AT TR LT ATATHT FART

faregeq wuHT |

R Sfery gwafq TR, ST Sae T faems e S

Sy

STSTATAIT HEAT el oIl TGl THUHT GRETITHT TEehl fdl aiferas I el |rar
TN IS139 TS, | G FoAl qqA T (qeArqerdr fadr foemsr & e fashr
TATHAT AT THR T e | bR & (bl JAed aoik Jed a7 fadl Jor T
Afeedl [T HST TFI0 [T THH e SH FH g5 dlel Jeadl JedTed T 948, | Ifg
Rrdrepl a9 Iod FSiipl oA IHH 9a1 HH HUAT HH AUST THH el Afdsd quer
ATRT /AT fEdEHT @ e FERT @l AdH Jooi@ T I |

THTHEH AT THHALAD] AT THHATS AThT/ AR EHTEHT A= STATST 984 & T
AT THAATE TR SAfebg TFART ATIART AR ARATHT I T, |

TATTATAIT AT FHR TPl TR Afeby THAMAHT ¥ Wb (Hfqafg ord gfefera
AT SET FAH T 993 |

AR AALAF (EATATAATT T T |

TSI FRATS T qRETUEATS TR Sifeby TATepl TUAT bR I&T JAT FHR TN TR

(F) % 90 W@ AT T FoAl THH THENAT EH YTEhdl AT A TR APy
TR TTHT TR T T TeIdTe AaEeadl FAEAT Garael T a1, |
W, . Q0 AGIAFR Folbl gRHT THEHT o o1 O G 5 Ao T
FIARLAA FHLT T TS, |

(@) ATHT FETHT ATHT wHl IR Afpg qEafaer faam THId @de gearsadarene
AIIRE T3 RIS T, | TR, TIE HATSTHAAE AMAR THIIF Tral el
TTET THATRT HeaTsd TS e S |

@@ faar qrewr/ IR ey awfa faeam grEraE s deTe gReEe ¥ e
ERgT T Sk qan faxira "earen fed "werwr g W faswr T ae e, |

R



(@) TG TR b gwta GER T e fqarT g Ao eI ARaue e
qrtadrs 5 fae o, At FHEr 9T fae e S

(@) T FFR W (AU raars FqEeTa (Eer fomhr T 998 | SSsiauayre S
A JATSTATS ATE9TF TUHT AT BT JTANTHN AN FodTelh ATAfTaTe Wi RIS
TG ApATE FHA AR RIS T, |

@) TR dfrg Frafaer soET S/ faxia RATer WER TP GG frdt IR on (TR
cifere ratqaT smee At &) Wﬁlﬁnwmaﬁﬁmﬁmﬁrw
wmﬁqﬁnwﬁm@aﬁwﬁmm (AT T AT STE) Hed I el
Wwwwnﬁw?aﬁa?m?wﬁaﬁwwwﬁ%ﬁww
Wwﬁaﬁwwaﬁwnﬁ%/wwﬁﬁnwm BECEERCIEN
T A S 1

qR. H ATAET T (AR SATSET e T O AR G

Q@

TSTSIAIAITG T & FET holl AqA g AT g (IR T AR TR T AT Bl
TG T AR AT-AHT el AT (Ao I TR 99 dehare Siepld g «@mp
T 99 |

TATTATAITG HEATESA IRTIRT YhATEs TRT T ol ATer@d 9 TFS |

(@)  HS GRS AT T §00 YIANT FSAT AR AT A5 Hebebl I |

(@) F AFAHBl AN JoAAd U qdr Aiq aHiiTH fadr GRerorel faard fasnre
YERAT TR TRl & |

() HSArepl [Fdr AT (AT (a6l g9 Al AaTATH ATTaTd FTAT [l TR Tehl
g |

HAT ¥ HORT AT JAeTATs T Sbbl (A9 THIH Holl FEAT Pew (. b
FTATGHAT FHTALT TREAHRT &7 T |

AT, JIEET () THITH TAR TR FTATGMIR] STEET A=A g T 5.2 AT@H=T HH
THHFT FAT AIAGT TaT FTHET (J)(@), AT) T AT AT AT & B |

AIAGT TRUH FAHT FHAT AT Holl kT Bal & d@ a1 HHH! (MUFeTE TElhd TUH
81 7 ¥ AT FoITehT G AT ARGl fIcieT HeATse sl TRUHT &7 ? AT, &l Hott
AR AT & FEAT YATAEE TRAT TG AICGTHT IR Afaedr g e
ATerEHT SATST T |

FATEwH AATH] ATNT FHEIrT FEAT MYy JaTE S e I, |

HIAGT THT FAEeH] AATATIF [ gg TR @I T e I |

=T TTAT ATA@A TRUH FlBadh! [qaRor (AT ITear 7. ¥ AT Ifeaatad dares FTHTae
RN AT gfqaaTAr Afard F0d Ieord T T |

FA ATAGT FFIH] BAAH] TEFAH] L] R W AW a1 (AT
THAR! FATTHT THATET 9T Aqer@q ® Tl HUadaAng qcanaed Afger B S
AT ATATS 8208 TR [FashiiasR TN g9 Afed MO IFA HAEl a7 doa@ddane
ATHT O Fa YA FHAATS AR @l d1 Fregd e qar qraedit qifara

ZERAT T IS, |
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(?)

(P)

ATAGT  TRUHT FAEeRl [qaRu Aifded a9 Jura 9uahl MAfaa U featar geafera
U fGART T FA GIAT B fq. AT TISH TS, |

93. qEATA o FET AQTAAHR (U BrEATEIT G

g qur fadg geaEsd a9 a1 SHEG td fqdrA geeeadr g g AT e
yeTadare fAfd R09%/0% /9% AT HUHT HEATE Fo deb qIT (ol GEATEEH! ATHHT
TR FHINTHFT (s Tebld FRATEIT T AT HUH gaT Al (Hee" Fr=aa T
AT S Ty TRUeRT

Q@

(o)
Q9

Q)

STHTAAH! BRTST bl &1 Al STHTAAR] bl THT drebl Hiel AT B2/ JIHT el
THTAAHATHT JIAE T g TR THAARATH Bg FETS TRTS |

HOUY FAT b= a1 TATRAT ¥ Sehall=l HIT TIT THHT TEIIHT TRUHT fergdesar
ATGUHT HERT TF 9TEe qeol TIAT @ Flehd =TT qaR 9 RIS |
SHAAHATT Hed Tl AT del sAehehl aMdca Tl I TR Jeael a1 RIe] Al
FRTS RIS |

STHTA AT A TPl FNAE THITHE! ThH Fagad qeafead Holieare 5 9@
ST T, FFEfad HOEe d9d I g1 AGHHT STHAdHA had Tl 4T
EEAFHH] THH [ THEARA [qUH IRE0 fadrere Fad FHiH (e TR
FFA T Alhd Tl STATAAR] TAATATAT Iocid I |

SHAdHAT S@TUel Trafd fadl FRETuTel FTAT FHR THId HAAT TRaT 9RO I
FAT FH &1 a1 Tkl &l, AFH Hed & H(q 99 al, T Hed Gorl T HeATeA
T 9 |

AT fadel ®aA TP THH SAEHh  HUNHT A Qe FEIHT STATAT Belebl
FHAEe d9d I A |

SHAAHRATA HaA Tl IMIcAP] IHH FrItrdd HUTETe TG I g AqHAT AT
ST [qUH FREATATE AFAHR] IRAT TS FTETS |

STHTAAHATT HIA BT THAAHR! TFH TAGH THIAT IMGer T ATCHT i
STHTAA REUTHT Il FH Rkl TRa |

WU (TR HOT aT9d STHATDR HAebebl THH STATATDRA (QUH [l FREurare
FA YU AT HUAT AT FHFaeh! Hed [MaRo TaT T Alchesare TRITH
A, fgal TR @R T&l MaiRd qed FHdAs AATeR T Hed MaRT T
RIS T AIEUE TS @R T |

AR T T ATIR TIT BRI IR Il dAaqednsd T T HEaH T |
STATAA®AT fadr qReforar fqusl a¥afa faam| o 9uar |7 94 SHdeardrs
[sTel STPR TN b FIhl THH TMGAT TAH AT AT fehara T =1 fa |
STHTIARAT AMFUR FoAATH THT GAITT STHAEATTHT AR T TR THA
FIREET T TATTAT fal FRETITR G (AATHR o1 TTerd T STHAASATATS
THT el =T JaT T |

9%



(93) Sl ST GRETUHT T&HT G [ard a7 A9ATI O YOhAT qar sratafae
QT G (HIATEaedT a1 Frafafy ar (HaRTesr qar TR0 Afqard S99 @np T |
(§%) STHTHT IREATH THd [dard fafaa=r semfe a1 faamm ge=ma Wivea awg
AT STHAAIAE ST JHISTHeS] T Sl T ATTHT qihias fadl Fewar

T e

T =1 Fa=e HETedel [Hid R093,/09,/05 | WUH hEATEE Sgrd aHITTHeb!

fAgemee Id S qaT AT SRS HTATEAT T Gl (ATST a9 AheATs AT

HUHT 82T |1 (e Ha=aa T a7 I Sy aRear g

Q) ST foIe HHAT T HOB! GEAART GET TATST g ATATIRITRT GA=aar T+ |

() faar @ FEid faam Terel sEdH gEiad aer " qTaR faa fosnr qar
qHR T TRIST TR FFIT I |

(3)  geus |l ST T AAdasr ¥ w0 fAUusr TEH AIHICHT & T AT Holl
YR T e JUAh g gl AUl T fAsTehl GRarafd R T Ferala
TGl AT qEaT FoAl AFA T ACRAT ATed ITAH & aal a1 Bl FAr=raar
g T FTAT TS |

(¥) oAl [ARTHT aE@d TRUH A= (ORI AR SATIEIHAT qhg AT /RIS |

(%) I AFA GORAT TRFT UM, HOH] TRARET qEfead dT GIIeoH dHID
FIT2T, Fooid], FHATTHT Fideee THIE T TR AE9TF T (RT3 |

9%. Credit Sale /Purchase/Re-purchase @7 Takeover ¥+l sqa<dT

Q@

TG Aepel ATheb TSI TAT AT b AT i Tl a9 Sehepl T TTepiay Afers
o B 9T S 9T o "Rarare w fefawer o, wwr efe @ftd T a9, Discount
T fI9 qAT Credit Sale/Purchase/Re-purchase ¥ Takeover (CS,CP,RP & TO) T IS S |
TG Febel ATbebl ISIehTT TATE AUHT ek JAT fa<iT AT CS, CP, RP & TO IT&T I@THeHT
9T SvaSTehl AATTAT T2l T T B |
(&) o /faxira FeaTer s, CP, RP & TO 4T foe siferepl sraerrar ¥ a9 Sfebel dilebepl
IS HTIH TH g T |
(@) CSCP,RP & TO I foaw/faw Tvamawy o/ faxirar wamer armr ol wifqar Tae
AT T g, | AT T FRIAR T IS T |
() efdeF aver AfvaH WEATHT CS, CP, RP & TO TFI=AT 1 W g+ & |
() ST @& (Credit Purchase) &1 &l ol UTEHATE AFASIY T o ATIPR @R
T f O, | |7 HTIRT AN FEItead ATeehehl Gediq aHd o a9, |
() HA @RE T (el A1 @RE TRHT FoleArs ATFI [edreAT qeiegd efeha!
FAT ATIE T~ TR F@ISH T I, |
(AT)  FATR 9T T HALATR (g fqare R A &1 @ied T 97 |
(@ wor @e T faq g6 qur fai gearer grateag wofter wor fauer fafd,
FoAThl [BTH, TR AT, [aITqRT Foll FRIARE] ATT, THTAABATH]
gfaad, #oi Ao feafd, aTgd ETIdEs JAT TF Sl (AR
JITaETHT F BIRAT TPl AT BRIAHT foawer anfg fqarues fafga sar

AL



fIUR ol HTZeAT AT TS, | AT, FANTATIITT AT Fepl FAThT
FAT T T [T FHT A7 AT AN &S |

(@) HS GG T b qAT (I FEATT Bl aUTeh0Tehl (I S aedl agr ol
AT SEeT TRINTHE! FHAT AR SHIIT HTAH IS, |

(F) ol @RE T fFT T&AT FoAl WIS @R JAT AXATATS RIS E AT/
TATH! IR AT g AR Gorl FRTATAES AHIedd ol RISAHT FATATD
T 97 |
() CS, CP,RP & TO FRIARH AeaAT® fqaxur srefarfies rafy gura auesr fafaer q4
feeforT I Sepebl TFafedd QURAETTT fITTAT 9313 e, |

S T faxia =TT a9 w9 @ia /fa#T (Purchase and Sale) T ¥ dartad @ivadhdl

RIS FAT ISTST AGHAT AT Holl ;. Al @G T (Credit Repurchase) T T&hT

HFTITHT fahlbal XTSIl &l Repurchase TT&>eT Contingent Liability T FTAT

AT faeira faaroresr IeaTfad st ¥ d@reFadl [coquiiel =Ml s@rgda ¥ Il

Contingent Liability @S ST 0T ITH GASTHRT AT 400 wfeTe AT SfEH R 9EE

T 973 |

F GF qA7 faAT FRAETE R g FRIAR ARG [GUHT ATIE AT AHT dF AT

forira FETHT TEehT (TS THIAT A SR g AHebebl ATTATHT AT FTIar a1 fardes!

[qraT T AT F[A SR T FASTAR! AT Arady a1 e o geafea S ar faim

TS YaTe TRHl FAl @RE T gogep A9dl fad a7 féd ey &% ar faxdi gear

QAT ekl TEHITHT T8 Sehebl Td T (oTg I@TAHT IBRAT ATeFI T Hofl

anRg T T B

(®F) HAl @RE AT HA AGA IUX ITH aAlebl FiaT JAT AT IHHFT ey TaT FH Ag
T FAT GRE T IS, |

(@) o @RE T T Foll foohl T FEAT AT AT AHFHERAT T THT HSAl @ia
e fashr T 9o |

() ol @iXE TaT ATTE AT T T F fpfawer w @itg T 9re S |

qy. faia ST STERAT Huil fa q9r HET WeR T 96 99T SqaedT

TG TTAAT IS FooTeITHT TEHT oo AT {axirg Gl AT TXepT faxirg ST (Financial

Guarantee) T HATITRHT e Ui o6 e fadira g=arer oti/afaar faq qar e w7+ 9ed
P | AR, ‘@’ AT T FTRT (AT RATHT AHATAT AT febel ST q4T Fiqdqas Srer

q%.

T AT I G |

AT e AT FiBl FRIAR T FEEHAT

Q) SOTSAUAITT b qAr fadg gl g qur fai gedr g U9, 093 deed 9w
T FIAA THINTH T TEATAT TAT FHoliehl HRIATR TLEhT ALATAT (HETT I qar
AT FRIAR T qTeT S |

() T qar faxirar Tear gEEedT U9, 093 9eE dF YEad BT FHIE gud giErad

TAT FSThl PRIAR TRIEHT GEAT TH bl SoATSTATAIG ofep qar foeid HEITAy
faagrg et ¥ faer et fadmm &9 o9 S S9EEr 9 T SHERATd ardr e |
TR, g e Fagwr fadmm w9 G 99 %/ faxig geamar Hew @ & 9
e / fa=iTa FRATETE AT AT ST G T I, |

9%



(3)  TOSIAUANTE o qar fad "Rare Hedl (e e T aeehry qReAudaT fadmr wei
JaTe W& #fehd SATSIEY (Coupon Rate) WWaT &H FATIEX A I FLITHl ol AN
fafrepTepr aiRfaiaa X HSIl/AT9e ITeed TS TS |

9. Margin Lending Y&l ¥ FRAT JTET TaTE G HoATH! AFIGAT

(@) fordro fafaaa aeear gEegd e darer fadmr g% qur fadm demEe g w gy
AT TebfeTepl oTiehl FRI=IHT SBTAHT A ATAAT TR AT | ATERB! Bl Ta& T
i, |

Q

(R)

fadrept AT ARG SRR UL () THISTH Hedlebe I bl T AT A T
FAT JATE TS, |

T fdAdgaTe YahiTd dfgedl 950 F1F fadr afedw qeadl diad T ar
SRRFT YAAd TR AT T FH &5, A1 Toddl deMdl 0 Yiqed IHHAH
AT TR Al S0 9aTe T Aiches | THUCH TaATe T ebebl TXAT Holiehl FLETUTHT
TEH YA [AHATST T ARl SATIRHAT I9 Foll FHT FEAH T a7 99 HaAl
YT T qTEA S |

TIHT TR FAAT g IRaaThl HRUA A2 [l GREATH] HAHAT HH[ ATTAT
qrafead o qar fad TR "l HeA  FHA T g9 fadrer T ol
TehaTs Jrard I I9g | Margin Call T&T I JIAT T g AfhA TUHT gFYT <
Y TAREE GATHIU THUH] AT qHT fdrT AUl F2R F@ITHT T0ET T
Tfereeg |

G GATE WU HA(hl AAT Teh AGA=T Tl g o | AU fadrar @i
TR oAl AT Igehl ATTATHT TN HoIl AATHI T A, |

TR, A GATSTAH! AT TaTe HUHT FHollehl ATNT IT FREATEEET He [qUehr IR
frdTer geFAT AT SERAT AR B ©F | GEatedd deb /M GRATT el G
AT ATEALIF FoAAT, JAF T [qaRe qFafedd &1l RISAAT AATaiad bl
IS | | FHEeE 99 fadr ey fage wwar R, wfdtes fadrer seE
CIERCE I

TETAHT ATITHT T8kl GRATESH YATH IATHT HS TS T9 a1 o |

F) TG ThAT GEHLTIT ST TUHT a7 (99 FHITH Il PIT ATITT BTaH
THT b qqr foig Feames

g) Aead HUMHE HUH! YTATET,

M) AU Wb TR [AHEge FEIhurene garsuar (Delisted) HEITES,

) AfdE a¥ qET TURT U g9 Aatd G gal GHd ATTH o@l Qe A8

FTITES,

) UiSedl A 9 SR AT TR GEATES,
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Afteaedzer atreTar S qar faxir TRAT @R U9, 093 W7 diieusl FHEATE fa
AfaTd AT JRIRTT T 99 |

e faira gfaqass qepre 9 99

() SF T faxia Fear whEd fadia wfqee awmad yeE faxi akeEdes Major
Financial Indicators) &7 =ae® fara wligaed (@fara gfqees) a9 warsHer ot
TTRURT GIETHT e TTHTEAHT HigAT ATqa TUHT fAfqer © feafas &7 ws aftcawawsr
i afreerar afard FUAT YEeTa TR G Ue Giq e qur A ger e
faamr 7 grafera guivaeo faamers @@ ITeer WS I9g | @1y, a=aed fad

ELS



gferaawer faeqa faeror a9 ool ATfRlaUerT gr=mAT AT FTATSHT TCT THs, | TG0
faeqa A=A f&ax Jiqaed JaarsadT AEUH! RRT qrABTHT TR A IAaaTHT
JHT Joold T T |
Te TG FIAIF TIRH T ghiaaT (@R giqasd) e ¥ qare U 99
famfirT garorT 7 geg |

() =t o gfdqaed Jerer= &l Aard FYHT AT @I IaThere THTI TR0
AT THE T I |

) BF AF qUH FIHT FEfA  FEH AIRSRT AARH A giqeasd T
TRATHT ATMF FTaaTh! AT AT T Aol A[ebebl SIATHT FHIRTT T T, |

(%) F=ared fadie afqass geiiTa el Ih sTafdel wHATT add, FHERET qrferd
geEs qI1 AR AR GFI0 @oee TaH (HAHAHR GHIANH FHAATS FHTET
TR WA YHRTT T 995 | 919, Giq9@y Am=TT (Earning Per Share) ¥TOrET rat
Annualized EPS J&TeTH THIAS |

(%) FAATIRUHB] ATTRRIBT AN AT AAH faira qideaad e Tal “GURae
T [ q97 a6 d@rIedd 99/ 9 T (Hee QAT aivskd fad fqawosn s
T G T FERTH Fedle @l JHed T I7 |

&) U=, Wifa, o gur fAeemer o aiuer et gud SraduaTe GReTE
AT GHTH FHENE W i qfqaeqdr Bih Wbl AEaeTHT geeiead
FITATS ATIAF FRATE! TS, |

. T TSRl TATSTH A¥aT=IHT

79 AT awIfsTH Shel ATHT RETAIT AT ORETEH, HeATsT AU TEAE TR Fl,
A& aRrade o= WG quar Siacase qul IqAT faard faerer g A A
AT T TgAw | a9 Sl fafae Heew awifaw a9 Sepeer fafger faamresar o1 9 o
AT GHTITT T T T3 TG Sobebl GEAedd Qe qEITH F g% | A, T Sbeb
fader st a9 St fafae faamr qor sreraaesar o1 9 o fafa= qoms e rm
AT I T I T AARTHT foawer qeaedt swr w1 9fd fAeerears a9 fAderer anar
TATTHT AT T |

ATRATF TATSTART ATRT TATX A @l (a2 =A@l

T TS IHIfead SoITSTquauTT WEThl AT JATSTHR MHAT JAR AR S+ o T
feraRor SR T AT qRATTHT A S |

g cfebel dlebebl = T 9T AT el qIea T TS Grereedl

fairr faea=oreht & 9feF ovav i YW WRed! 9 e a1 ofide sy e ag S
AThepl GIETAT e TRAAT T ITE & | a7, ATIAET Jooi@ TR “o=g” ofehias T8
TR ATEIIRAT ATAR A% of6F FHTILT T Al |

. aTes fair faavoes 99T T 99

SGTIUET 1T AT AUIS, JIAR GUR YRISTE gfaded, O gidaed IR AGEITIE
STl 9T Wb ATARHT TH bl dIBEUR] STETAT qAR UTRUeRT foeirar faewe ofide av

ER



AT TUHN 3 AT FHIegq qIRAET aammaT i ahT e 99 998 | I
feramurenT TFmIwT T Hehehl TR-TI GURALATETE bl FITIT T I (HeaTd qUAT &7
FHITTH FHTAS T ATF a6 FHTT AURT ¥ HigdT 47 (RITE 99 AUH ATLATHT TEHT
g7 g% HEANTT) @RI e T 99 | A, gumEine fadia e
J@TIIET Rl AfaH gfdasd qar @ wRd Afed RUTE (Long Form Audit Report, LFAR)
AGTITETT FFI TUHT QY [&ATTT 79 Sepepl Frateae QULALT fa9RTeeAr Jo7 T g |
AMF TR GATHT TTHIcTeb] AT T TH G TAR TN arids feaqra (Annual
Accounts) T8 Sehepl FFafedd AL FA9RTH! TeAld fauz AT qrasties T 99, |

T faaror qaR IiRkA SR 9T W @i

(@) fairar fqamor qar &l Jure faxi gfqaeaa e (NFRSs) SHINH qaR 9 99, | S9Te o
FfTAETHT FHTAL THT SFETHT A faxird Gfqaa a1 (IFRSs) T TR TIHT
ERIEEEN

@) faaRer TR TR AUARH d@HIaes T A giaag HTT (NFRSs) HT Solfad SaeTe]
AITTHT 6T SSASATIIT HEIThT F=aTeleh FrA[qare Qi TRTe FAaar= TWaHITH g |
TATTATAIT  RATETA  AIATUR]  AQ@THITeshl ATATCHE [aaror fa<irg fqaworer  omn
TEdT feoqofl =i gH@ Sr@TIia (Significant Accounting Policies) 2TTH®HT Ieei@ T I+ |
AEHIAes AREdd T THT 9T [ Jiqaaaad (NFRSs) & AUAHT @l qiRdad T
qfed & | giads TRUSl s@miiaessl faeax fadm faarurer ar aveedr ool sreaia

Basis of Preparation Gl Changes in Accounting Policies I d Fool @ TIT-T; IS |

3. FMIHAIER g

TATTATAITG AT HAFIA THI A@IAINT THITTH FIH g g3 FATRIEE o qdr fa<dim

T R U9, 093 qAT TH bebl (ST THITHB! ST qIT AT HUESAT ThH

ATATET faa=or T Al |

(&) o Tar faia Tl 9fgedl NFRSs Compliant fa<itar fa=or 9 18T Opening Statement of
Financial Position TdT Tq averl fa<irar faa=orar NFRSs adTteH fafae ofrderesar qwmdH
T Ffsad HATRTAT THH STHAT THAT F1 aTaRabl ThHATS Statement of Changes in Equity
AT Fisad HATHRT (Retained Earning) @Tdr g9 T IR By (Regulatory Reserve) HT
ST T I |

(@) 9fedl NFRSs Compliant fadira [gaxer qoa1 € qe=Tqel dueed! Gy [qaRuesd 8
FHITHST [HAHTENET AT T FTIHTHRT BT (Regulatory Reserve) HT ThH ST/ G
T T3 |
() Q) SATTATAIT FEATHT A@THIT THINTH AGTSH ITRUH! FHoITehl AT AFIHHY T
Sepebl 9T FEINTH YIEwTdr AR (Accrual Basis) AT <@T3H T ATl ATRTHTHES
Wi I AT TUHT 9 faA T 9T WUHT AT THA ATERH AT AT B AT
TS AR aRTEReb! THHAT ToAAT [HAHATARD! ATTRT TAT FHAT AT gl T
il THHATs Al HATHT (Retained Earning) AT G T ATATHRT HHT STET n?r;
g | Ih AT IHEA YT g9 ATCHT (HIHAERT Fare dfsad HATRT (Retained
Earning) HT frar 9 afes |
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) Sk qar fad g=arer A1 e 9T WU fAfq 0% /90 /3% qeHTd HieRd g
4T Financial Closure &7 @Sl TS ISIIHUTHl @ichd TEI=IAT IeTdaHITH
EIEEIC T BIES (Accrual Basis) HT ICIeT] TIﬁ'Q_OF\F I Fatd  /Moratorium Period T
SATSTATS S T&T YSilehal AT IHAATS Interest Capitalized Term Loan (ICTL) Treie#T
g JGIHT T TS |
ICTL T @i HUHI YSilehd TSl SRTERB! THHAT YATAd TIHTTARD ATTHT TAT
FHAT AT Fel T diehl IHAATS Ar>ad TATRT (Retained Earning) @ 2T Interest
Capitalized Reserve (ICR) @IATHT @l T 9°& | TG @b HUHT Interest
Capitalized Reserve (ICR) KIEAEREEEANECI | (Regulatory Reserve) EESHIN (I@l‘l:‘l(iﬂ I ICTL
HT or@ieh WU qotlehd ATl ThH YISl HUAYTT I<h ThHels ICR 91 T8 drerd
HATRT fedTad T e AHIEs |

1. At the time of Income Recognition
Accrued Interest Receivable a/c Dr
To Interest Income Cr

2.At the time of Interest Capitalization
Interest Capitalized Term Loan (ICTL)a/c  Dr
To Accrued Interest Receivable (AIR) a/c Cr

Retained Earnings a/c Dr
To Interest Capitalized Reserve(ICR) a/c Cr

3.At the time of Recovery

Cash/Bank a/c Dr
To ICTL alc Cr
ICR alc Dr

To Retained Earning a/c Cr

TATTATAITT GRTESA 8¥eb HoIHT AT AQTHIT TANAH @I T &l ATarr
(Impairment Loss) 99T a9 Sebepl ULIAEe 7. 2 JEIfTH ®FH g4 Foll AT
ZIFEAT (Loan Loss Provision) &I fa¥qd qaxul yeie FUATEAT TIR T 998 | NFRSs
FHITH A@TF B Bl BTAT ATRTAID] THH ST, (HaQH 7. I THITH HIA g HAl
ATl AT THH AT FH HUAT FH AUS(G IHH AMHE SIAT Flsad HATR
(Retained Earning) @TATATS @< <7 {HIWeRRT HTOHT SHAT T 949 | NFRSs aHIfTH
i qATRTT fRdT T Afeg |

Feober AT fai gfqaewIT (NFRSs) SHITSTH Fair value through profit or loss AT @@T3
TV TR 1 e Elfrf FEFAEsH T Fair value gain (unrealized gain) HUHT 3I<h ATHT
THEHATE  Afoad HATHT (Retained Earning) grareTs @9 T [HIETERT HITHT TET WTT-TL
T8, | TRl BITHAT STFAT SUT THH NFRSs TRINTH TFEId el Fair value
gain Hdhl AT Fair value loss ‘W‘IEF?F TITIATAT T THHATS AE FYHT (HAHTHTT HITae
WWHWWWWH%WW Waﬁmwi%rw
WWWWWWW&WWWTH TS | Il
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THH IR Afey R ol WURT qUHT AT S@YATSIHRT AT YANT TRl aHT
fraweeTr Srvare afs=ra ARt @raraT fEar 19 afe |

() faig aeameh! faarordT Wbl T & FFI SRR THH Afs=d HATRT @rdrdls
Go T AIAAFERT HEHAT ST T I | TR BRI O AT & T R
THEIfd®l HeA  (Carrying Amount) T HHI ATUHI FUHT FHI ATTHI aTERBI ITHH
TN FIvare Fisaa AATRT @IATHT Rl T J(Hs, |

(&) fadra faaRuresr |fs=rd JATRT T/a7 d7 (R0 J/g qATRT & gealiegd g8 T &
QT SRTeRb] ThH Fised HATH @ATATS @ TR [AAATR HIOHT ST T T, |
TN FH0 IF TN & TIF FY FEIAE Hed(Carrying Amount) AT HHT TR
Hipre, |

(}) AT G FHITTH Merger/acquisition sIT€ fafsra Bargain Purchase Gain &I <@g
THT F@Tg TGl audT Fiebl fhardl e (Carrying Amount) SRTEReT TehH Ffs=d

HATRT @TATATE @F RN [AIATERI BITAT AT T I ¥ 7 THH Bonus Share ST

T FATTHAERT AT | FIART T b o | HT‘ET, Bargain Purchase Gain F IHHATE Bonus

Share TR ATNT F¥ATra GAREAET [T T97 TaT |l faeqa fqaror dfed g

T IS | TF ApaTe WTHIT T WUHT AT Bonus Share ST TRHT THHGTT

e SIvare disaa AATRT @ArET fhal T9 dfeTes, |

(T) ATHET JQEINT FHINTH FHANT @oehl @Tg &l dMHihd HeATsT (Actuary Valuation)
FHINTH fasAT TSI Actuarial Loss @8 Other Comprehensive Income T @@TgT HTH
HATTH F SRTeRH TP Alod HATHT @IATATs @ T (TAHAST BITHT STHAT T
UE | Actuarial Loss FH HUHT &H WUSIA YA [MIAAHN] HUAE Foad HATR
QrarT fRar T Aies, |

(@) AT THITT T G TeFH ATHR] AR QAT J@I39 7T9% Other Comprehensive
Income WIhd a1 |vh SfEEHT om@Tsd W Sl fedma wmwiaer @wata ofide
HUMCAE HTAT Al SRTERET Fi>ed HATHT @ATATs @ T FIAAHNT BITH] T T
U | F WfaE AUET AR SUEHT ATRTAT @rs AURT AT A1 AR
FRTERF ThH (THAHT BITHT STFAT HUHT ThH Tl & qad ) (MAATHRT B
G TR Fisad TATRT @IATHT STEAT T A |

() AT Joodfgd FI=AT ATehapl FEedd ARAT [aaiTel (Hee fquaHiisTHeaT TwH
TN HITHT FHENA T T |

(3T) Afsad AATRT @ T HIHAHRET FHAT THEAT TR THH [FIHTHRI FTare I
afsara FATRTAT fRAT g9 Sa<dT 9UAT (MIAAeNl Hudre Rl g1 I6H a1 S
ST AU ThH AT &l & & |

() THIHAETE FTIH AT TUHT THH TG ARG Fecdiad HaedT UaH T ool [qUel TTehiey

TEehehT ATTITHT G T I3 S |

(°) TTaA=erT HITHT STEAT URT J9T @ AURT ThH Afed HITHT WURT qREdTR e
AT i [qa=orel @ FFdT el (Notes to Accounts) AT Ii@ (Disclose) T I |

() Statement of Other Comprehensive Income AT @@l HUH! ATTATe (= &l faawor g
TFHE! R0 Yiqerd General Reserve AT STFAT TR Afehl 50 Ffqerd ThH AT [0l IS, |

EN



¥, MM T9T T (Merger & Acquisition) T HETSH TR ¢

4.

T2 a1 T39RT d&l IeAET U ATTTA] MIHS a1 Ueh IR Aeh] FeATATs e &N T a1 i

T FEITl A a1 i g9 |¥dTel dFfd, STca qaT Sl o@rsd &l <erd aHitsH

T |

Q) AT TAT TR FFRAT @@TSH & NFRS 3 Business Combination T9T SATd ATCE ThT3wdrad
Feardl fAfqd 09R10¥qY AT ST Tl Explanatory Note on Accounting for Business
Combination &1 =T ATFT T{IAE |

() TELT @IS &I Explanatory Note T 9T 7. & [ aedraHisA Other Component of Equity
AT AT a7 9 W5 39+ d=4mehl Acquisition Date T #TIH el Al fardere
FUEE (Afoad qATRT Afed) T a1 TR 9 AATRl GEIegd BIuhl RTUHAT B T
ECIESIIEREE

(3) e WA a1 gt (UfEtser) AT SR HEATEedl =Thl ISl & AN Heal WA a1
I (THRTSTeT) T HBTIH g YEdTehl =hl ISil A g WTAT =[<hl USITHI ¥ ga ATI
THH (FF) A% SN SRIST #IY (Capital Reserve) HT of@T3 I 9@ | J&T IHHATE
RGAIEEATS TG AT drgT qT3T B |

(¥) Other Component of Equity H&d SURITh &l 7. R T 3 THINIH @3 HUH FUE ATeHaH
TFH dfhl g ATCHT AT IHAATS Merger/Acquisition Reserve HT T@TEH THUA®S | I8 RSTHHAT
TUH THEHATE AREAEEATS AT AT qTed @7 | a¥ WA a1 Wi 9 Ieae U
Goodwill T ETHI ATl (Impairment Loss) ATHhT TR fEqTedT @9 ©@Ted 90 SRTERH THH
AT FaaRT T T AT AT RN AT S |

(%) Merger/Acquisition Reserve HT @@T$H TRUH THH [HIHARRT HITAT STHAT THIAS | THA
Goodwill RTERET THH Merger/Acquisition Reserve ATH HAHTETE BISTHT STEAT TUh AFTITHT
ITh A ST TUET I GATSTAET AT CET 1 a1 ¥argd Aa9ds ga |

GRSl T FEh
Q) TG Fepare TIAH TRN TRUEHT TETHHT (HEITHES @RS TR G -

TR (M9, 098 1 d@MITd JIT A faeruesed! gren JFewl aedl 3.9 M
T ¥ /09 I ST TRURT Heed Jour I qe=ng fHfq 050 JGe HAIIGF ST
qUHT 79 [T Friead T IRTTEs |

() IULET (§) THIAT @RS TR G Tar aRgT qHITH 9T THT FH FRAET T
g9 FHINTH 9T THT JIiHAS |

¥O



AU AL AP

Fld FTATAT
&% qur firr g P R
z.91.feyw /. W/ 0z0
115 K R s e L e L
= U=1 gV «gr LN . ~ N r
Tg deare “F”, “@” T T G SATTATAIT  GRIATRT BRIGRAT (Fled &, Ioarad, deedT,

IR, =ATeTeY adT faeefT fafaas aemadesr Sifew eawarae Trm=Er Fura 6 SF A, 045 B
THRT W of feUal ATTHER FART T AT A9 SImer Tivuer & o

1.

NlICE RS ELS IE]

AT ATAAT I SGHD! qle=, HIH, ATTHA, e, g T Raifdgsr @it 95e
SIfgH ST AT TR T FATAITHT AT TG | TAHN SAraH SqaEITIAR AT
EATH] FFIOT & FHEA T QU] ToH Ueblehd Ggfd AR T e | AN a7 958
SIfgH AT TATHR] qeaed T g T SGH ATLATTT Jiq FqTel I gieqargar
Ih T IS |

ST FaIT HEHA (Risk Management Program)

() FETH FRIAT BATHNTHET (q0FEE FHEA T SRGH eI YA FAA T T
F) ToATdE  FHHTT T I=d AFIIAATE iR T IR (Oversight),

@) Hifq g gFERARTa fawEeT qarear,
)

) TATIEN AMGH STFTTIT H1d (Risk Management Function),
o) ITIH FATATIT FAAT Tl T
(Z) THTAHRT AT I JOTAT TAH FHAT (Limit)

(R) IR FoaTde FHTA AT T8 TH ARl @ (Risk Appetite) T IAXATATS TS
g4 AT (Tolerance Limit) Ife=e TRT SIM@H 0T TF THIAS | AATH] AT SAM@H
EATATIAHT ATNT qoaTeieh FHIA ITRAMAT IS |

(3) &% qar fadT SR a=dAied O Hecdel Hedd SaH (Material Risks) T dTHAT T
T q9T FrAfaly FEATHR FoATAF FAITATE Flhd gAais ¥ T Al qdT FHratarg
FHIHT 90T TR Tehdddh TAEAred T q97 ATaedd IRGUAT FATa e qHa T T, |
TR TRATH] SMGH AFEAIH q¥ag A, Frafatas T IERamH FEad T 9o

(
(
(
(

AR HAed gIS | FLAH FoaATad AT ¥ o AILATIA  SIt@H  Fraed
yiqera HEIAT UG ThIeh T AETHAT AeY S[Aqh TUAW FAT I FeAhel
T TG, |

(¥) TITHT YHE W@ #Afeed (Chief Risk Officer - CRO) AT T&d THIH YT Awa<aTd &+ <
@A SgH AT B AT T U | AT ATRR  TaH, BRIERE
faRTsadTeT dTaTe g9 TN ATEARAT ATAR YAF SIEH aeTIThl AT gelgs o
T TebTg/ HETAT@Ih A€ T Hicbm | WG ATLATIH P FRTAT SETH
fauoEs FHed TS |

¥q



(1)

(@) StgHaFerdr qifd qar Frafatgs’ qoH 91 dEmEtae T e TR arw
T T,
(@) TEATHT G BTN SHIGEehl HAG SGHET FFATHT SFTHA T qaT Aaaterd
Sifgaare fHureEdesdars a9 ETET o RIS,
() STgHTF=T gfdaed TR T T 41 Jidded Sad Faeddd afafd ¥ q=erds
gtafaar ger T, ¥
(%) SIGH SAawITIT HFT T TEAEEH] TAAFR] FAFITAT TES TATS |
ATPR Sedt@ T IS | YHE WIEH Afdhdd AR GodTad AiAfg R SieH
AT AFATTAT srafaes F96T Rafdy T 97 |
AT FTF T SGH HALATAT BTIATS el (BHBT T (Conflict of Interest) TR
T AT TG | TR, SIEH FaITATs Sgd  Faedraq  faanT g 9
feamrer F9aT faq g | Sifgw a=araeeT AT Eantas 1 (Main Business
Function) afeedl FR&ATERT (First Line of Defence) I TTHT I8 ATALTE T | FEITH Tdb
FHAR AMGH FTLITIAHT AT AT-ATFT [TFHEARIGIT TS G SEH HEE( (Risk
Culture) T I&T® T I+ |
SIREH TOHIG qqeT SEHdATs d&qTe “ged 9 =gl sirad” (Risk Appetite) e
UET g1 HMHET (Tolerance Limit) T3 @+ T F=AMHT Fad AT [HAAT YOI
(Internal Control System) HTIH THUTE | A=A (AT JUTCATRl qaaar T qarar
GiA=rd g T HTATHT THTEH] @I IRISA GoaTads FiAfd /SRaH ey
afafq gfdag g1 s |

AT q ThHT HAHT ST@Hee (All Material Risks) T SA@ATIAET AT FIATHITHT
el Alfd, 9RAT TAH IHE SREH  AfTEdERl wARel SigH gUrEd HI=El (Risk
Governance Structure) TRTTIAET faoar THET a1ftfer gfaass qawR =7 e a¥ TS Ul
T WieATTaT Featerd quicaer faamrmEr o7 79 9 |

sifeH =i
TATART SAMGH SALATTART ATV LT TETAGHINTH FIGHB! AH0T TG, -

g 49 5g s

o SR
LECICDEEIITCE
AT AEH
EEIERSIEE
FTTE A@Hq
faefr fafraa Sifew
I e

HAT AT TG T AT a4

Q

(R)

TH dpale S TRUDT “oll HTACH! aUBL T ol AEEHET Arvdl  aaedl
IS F. %) T “Uhd UTedh qAT & ol |19 T Jradrepl JraT Haer awaredr
FEE (39T . 3) qUT oW G e (391089 |, 5) |re N ey adr
TN FEET SREH AR T ATIRH FqHT A e, |

FAT SGHEF! e, AT, FHET T a0 9 G600 g T G J9g<h Ara a4
FrAfA dTAF TH ET IS, |
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FTE] THY ATCTAT FIAAT Flhd T AT FFfed GdThl goardd rafaer
g | WETH ATHR TAH FRIERS [ARTEATH ATIRAT SoF HaITIdTe JeATTa
FoAl ATGTINT T & T |

&I ol TFIg FIAEE: Business Solicitation, 11 TeaTSH, HoIl T, Hol JaTe q4aT
HURTR] T AL ST F1Ue% Sglge g MR AT TH g T |

AT qAT FAT GaTE &1, Foll AATHT T a7 [aad il Flaem 99 &l &1l fagersror
TR HeATFAHT T SATIRES T bl g9, | 9 FATSTT ar FEAFT ATNT il
YATE g &1 TIET IE9T a1 YATSIAHT 7 Fol JUART gHT TIT TEXEeh! Frleadl Ffead
AT TATE ATIREEH! FATSTur T Jebe TWeHT g I |

“TF" AT AT S TAT “@” a1 ANTTEACHT [qhT STehebl ThAT Holl T&ATd HeATs
AT ol S HedTga YUl (Credit Risk Rating System) @1 faesrar geafraa dam
I THl g1 I8 | I YU YTk 3 Fadedl 9@ TaH  [qeadiadrars
THTERR el THIH! & T18, | Ul HeATgAdTs HUIH Due Diligence I AT FTHT
faae | FEATel TEAT TeATs GUTell daR &l A=RIfed Ichte ARITHesdls TR
T TG, |

FAT AT BN, HAl  HHRAAD AATHA, Foll Rled TaH GRAT  FFEwl
FETSTACEH] AT TAT SATRITT GoAATH AATETF ATTA@ FAH T TATSTART AT
T IFed YehRepl ol JeMEA F#I=dT %14 (Credit Administration Function) 3@a#= T

TG, |

U FS(Eoehl Tobel AT &I ITAT ATk GRTeAleh g AT T | &l
TRIAARAATE TEHATH] THIed ALATIAH] IUAITT TSHT T AR TIHT (AT, |

TR ToaTdAE AAITA T TRl “Fe T ATeehl SA@H” (Risk Appetite) TaT I g
AT (Tolerance Limit) TaH {Ha@d ¥evdl SIawdmes qHAeNs gred TRI ATl ATRA
Foll HETES (S SEd, JevavTd, ska s A anfs) fqameer = a@d gfva wfewer
g |

AT (T Foiiepl TATAT FALATIAHT AT IFad AT AT FHHaAT FATEATHAT e
g |

EfaATIeRRT FATH! EFAT SAT@HPT [FITU T JHE [TEHETT SFTaT Sehebl g9s | T4y,
AT Theeed AT-ATHT AT AMGHbT [TIATT T oo |

TOTTAIAIT o qgT faxi HTIEST Unique Document Identification Number-UDIN) Sei@
AU AGTIRET Jqaad AT AFR THIAE | 9T ATes ThSrerad ALdThl qedTacHl
TEHT UDIN portal 3T 9T TRURT faamor Famel I2al Al TRehl SHERT Foll HIAHT T
TIHT Il I, |

Y. TS AW FEIT T G Fawan

(<P)

FART  SALh, GOHAT, YUl UaH Aed "edATH FRU [Eied gourad siad
SFEATITE AT Ifad Aifq qar FEfafs FwEEET T 9Hg | om@, e i,
TR TAH WG JAT Sk BRER ST A9 FoATAT SHISETHT oA g ae
SfEHeTE 7Edr Afad THaA I |
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FTITA ATHT PRI I AT AGHATs FGLAIT TH TATGRT AT b
fa=or gomelr 9T e Gl (e T | ARE d@raadd  Jodd
et/ a9/ FATETdT AR Yiqae d T geurad SeHdrg ATIERl S99
AT T FqArIT AUHT JUHESH TRl F¥=gdqT qHq  fewquly / gfqtman
THTALT T T |

S FFAETT PEE Goarad qFg SaAseH] AHA (AHT FTHT g sqawT
qfed @fdel TeATETaR A JoATes: (e TadTh Jh(d, TFIRr, J9are T
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& afAfaert ok Hataa dvaasT a9 9 ¥ aedar SieH JTed ST @ TR
AT H JUTASTH ATAFT TPl FAAS, |

YTl TRAATHT AT Gl GHIHT ATIIF B S{Zl¥T Contingency Funding Plan FITriTIT
TH g TG, |

¥y



(Q0) T=aTad AT T Iod FFUAd dqXAdT qIl dRadl A@H el qidded =arad
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(%) =T (Gap) HIIF F&Td FHISH T I, -
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Eﬁil'ﬂ?f UEUI £ R S Pricing ¥ Repricing < TId gfqeqarcds  faeereo (Competitive

Analysis) FF=AT fafg qar IOHITTGEE TSHT T @RL T GRT TR 3 |

faaely fafrwa Shfew sgeeqae ™ I g

Q@

fagelr fafqaa ST g9 IAR=EEde IO SEHATs AeITIT T FLAT Ifera i
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FRATEH T ToaTeddh /SARGAT a7 (Al Gfqtigel ®Rae! 9ual fAfdd T ayv

qAeT T TS |
AT / ToaTeP ARl Paed T SaLEIaed

YIRS AT Fehed T FHPT FIE T ST AEAYU FIAHT FA ST AT AIT
TR FoaATAdbesed  ATHT JARGABGH (6d A el [A&Thd] TR GRIHRAT
(Stakeholder) €T fed TRV THAH T A=A FoaATaqAT BRI g9 T | ToaTddmasdl
A AT JAT BRATFATIAE qRafedd TATRT ATY I9TRT THT (T JOCATHT Sohel TATT
O ST §aT Il WA AoaTadbesd! Mgfh, Alsgsd aradl T 99 haed q91 dgd T a4
JTRETIH FEIIHT SeTd THITHDB! ST TRTH S -

(F) TS 387, [qahqul TaH ATTAIEd TqH F=arad 0 IUI<h [haHeb] FH=RI dal
fafraraTaell dar T d/g qa1 FEH IoF JRIUERESH SAE qoT s 19 99 |
@) W) ARE dEIRIERAE FafAd FOHT ATARE TGN RIS I | AR
AEIAETRT HF - Outsource T WUHT NG FHIUIAUT  SATch / d&dqTars  Ha<h
TS | WY, dTaRe AEIdsusr H™ Outsource T WTHT ¥ WL AT
TF A1 AUEATs AQIAAT TG 99 qiadel MEaRT die I8 | ATIeE
AGIINETR FRIHT FHGE T AT Fiqaad T T@ra<ierer qrafq awey aor T+

AT T I98, | I<h WAAGTAT TETTHT [aUIee qHaq T TUH g1 IS, -
() AT AGTIIEAHT TATT AL heb! [aa= |
(A1) AT BT AR T AR HY fae |

() HT TIET TRATHT Internal Audit TEvdT F1T T TTHHEATT SIPUHT ATk a7 FEar qar 4
IEATHT AIHaR AT FHATS AT FEATHN Statutory Audit T¥I=T FIEAT e g4 a3
S | A B UFAT FLATH Statutory Audit AT F1F T faeiardy diferuasr =afd =
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FET qAT AT FEATHT AIWHER a7 FHATA Al ALATHT Internal Audit THI=T HTIHT FA™
g qUTSH awdr atafae frarsT o+ |

FET FIATIRUTE] THH GRETAT T FEAT TUHI §aT ToATARE sl GEAThl FTHA qT
QUL FTF T Aol ¥ FEH qAHTA T I9G |

TR FHANEEATe ATGTIR JATANA T afq [Asieedl Bharearasr afas e
ToATAFEST o qgd T UA §a1 FoATAF QAR ASHHAT FHATIEE AT IRTH
FURALT TAT FRATET TFAT ATTerg T TS, |

FTITRT A TAT HAT A1, AT JAT ST ST, TACF, ATTAAT T 97T ATGITF
farrra fafad Hifq qar AET G T FHARESATS 1A 9 A8 998, |

qoaTAhesd STSTAaaIT GeTh! AT TAH I(Arard T SAaeITITel ATGTAR LRI AT
TrERHT (At FOHT AR a8 AEaedsdl AR IRIcAE IIT A8 I8, |

AT ATHIAHT T5F FATA FIATHAT AT AU FAAR T I |

JAAd BT T A ShAT W AURT Aitq AR qar fqmmeer afedrersr AaeEn
ToATAFee ATHFI T3 T@ FHA gAdd garel AT HIAA, Al fHaer qar Hawa
fauaeT gseedEe T WHHR gAHE A1 T SaeAITd SRATEE @l HIAA, Aia
e qar HHa 9T U F9URT GEH HafAd S T O6S |

TR GoATAFES (HAThATHR Bhied [TUId 1d TAT a7 T4 Sebel HHT T BRTSATAES
JUe] TRICHT 9Tl ¢ ek U, 045 1 Ih] 900 FTEITH F&T Foalaas aar
TRIIFRIATs TTEUR! AT SAThITd FTAT [ 998 | T AR T fq2epl e
THHATE TEITIT SOOI FEATel ST [ERTadT @ ol STl & aTae S |

S AT faxiTa HEATHr FEATIF, GoaTerd a1 T TIHAT Teh AqerasI=ar q&l FAT feqwapr
IR FAT (ATl IRAR AT GRATT T TodTels gd IS O | &q goaTasdhd
AR AT T |

JATAT FIAAA ATbeb] HALATHT ATeeh FOATTATAIT FEATHT TR TR GoalTeleh JqT
AT FEET TG AR ATeTehaehl AATCATTHAT THE FTAFRI Aol araqaae
¢ FATsET T g @ | GT§ AL T FAFET AT FEATE el
amw@vnﬁﬁw&rwwmwsd I | R, AATATS o qar faia g
W?@fﬁ?f?oewﬁm?iaﬁm WW%HWWW
SALATIAH] &(AF HTH FRATEHT eXT&T T add AT TALATH HATHT @[ %
AT AT T |

AT FoelTeleh ATHITHT dSHHT TouTelh aEehehl UEIEHATS ATHAU T ool 93E
Tk T AT AT e & T e S | A% Aeb qAT faig FRART qoATeAsh qrAtaer
AEIHAT Hedd AT @E@Erd (U S I/ IRIALHE AT {owid @rd TH9uel fas
TS Toueleh HHITH] TSHAT AT T ATaeqeh T/ RAY T T GT &
qiestie YEM TH, RO afed JuT SMEarade FHEEsdrs goeidd griae
ATHTHITHR! @ TG T T AT HFTITT ATl TATTH AT T |
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(TSI © TF JASTHAH! AT ToaATAF Aleeh AT TRMIHRIA oo Garsd a1 G
B Atafa/Iy-afafaar Ses war faa qrew gA9 | Y, afearas g s T a
TeTfeRIens Afafae dife gad war faT afed 5 1)

(@) oo a1 i SR fHaiterd / AAaE U Y FodTerhel AT (Haited a1 JAied T
frfeaer e Ufaw femfiae e qor fadi den gveml UA, 093 & T 939 FHINH T2
JaT AAfEdrEr 9d g ¥ T | dFed qug fder ‘%7 v geeaa
RAETH] ghHT THAAY/SIAT THFR qHE, “@” FH AN TRHT ST aaIred
FEATEEHT THAT SYET THAY T TG Aehebl oo AT faiTdr F=AT (IR FaswTet raeerdy
(ST THET T FIOUTS] ITABMAT YOI BEATAT  I@H “T” GFThl  AMIITIERT
SATTATAYT GRATEEh! BehHT TF oehebl oib qoAT faxird = foAe faaqmret srdery
faeTe a1 e FHE ¥ FISATSI IR AleY T FRATAT el ATl T “@” T4
‘I AR FATAATAITT  FLITEEH] ZhHT TEAT & & AT A ofeb HraATeAdeh!
fAderes qwer 9g AT AefAAdTer A9 faq 96w | AR, S% qar Al geere
ToATeAeh qAT BRI JHE GEAtedd Seb a7 faxiia TRATHl Aeael TH T A7 TQIaehes
HQTWWWET&IW Al URTIRRT THE (a9 T8 | a9 el
Wwaaﬁwwﬁwawam,wﬁ%ﬁmaﬁmﬁaﬁwm:w
g |

(1) BN JHEH qaT raarerl (e qiferusr AnEed AR T I

TATSTATAIT FEIT ofeb qAT fair Fear Feaedy U, 2093 %7 THT 0 AT TUHT Tae]
FefoT T ¥ T4 SFgRT SR ANGEHT Sfedfad AI9EUE AR T TS |

(@) FTATATIAIT T It Ah BAIE (Talent-hunt) IBRATATE HHATT A7 I 94
FaeTHT fAorerdT ¥ UREefar FEW g W AT wrafaty Jemr T /A qAT T FEdT
THIA G |

SECICER G UE TR

Q) S T AT ST A GeArad MOk /"R 9 T q9ETd At dedTel
ATHRAT FEAT, AR Th(d, LRI [UEd, SN 0T, Faanasd  dreiT,
qoATdAdd] Haed qdl IJAENIA, SMGH TIIMIAHT FEIIHT  ATATSURT I,
I AT waH faxirar sraear, adure FIFHT SAaedT, ToaHT Teehl iy Jar a1
Igfa T A9 Sk SN RUHT M9 AiE fAuaes qud Uh AieAnaT Aty
Orientation) RT3 T, |

() &% qar fafra wearer GHY SfEy UUTClRl GRINTT QOUES UAH WMEGH  SrawerdTe!
&R g4 TR AT IRERTAT (Transparency), @THT (Disclosure), QIR §75 (Conflict

of Interest), TTITAAT (Compliance) T AT &PTITI'GF fTepTaTeRT g TaH ?TFITORT
NEIRRED) Pd'GT?THT Wrﬁ%'!I JAYA AT (International Best Practice) JHAT ATHRAT T

ToATARETATe E%F a9 HRIAT THUH  ATTHEIRT/ TAATSTIR0 RIS =T
fretTeT oig |
(3) o T fair TR goATdAH AT FaT 7. q T I AT AUS! HIAIT THET JoaTelheb!

ARAAT TAT STy SR FTI ATHART ATIRAT T FoaTeTbells TaTT T qodTeAeh {978
FTIHH GEIET FHAEE TG AN] T I9 ¥ FLT s §/9 9 g% qqr i
7 e favmr ¥ Feafead quiaeer fqaRmT Jer T 99 |
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FEAF TEPT FYRA TFET Taen

Q@

TSTSTAIAIT HEATHl GeoTeAes ATATTA JHATAd HIAT qAT FRATRT Jareaad, [HaHTEe T
S AT faeir ST FoaTcish T BTN THEH! (it AT ATaeas JRIdr a1 F
I T [AfTIHEe], 00Y FH IR AIHHT W FEFRT GHEH R T
UG | AW FHFER] GHE@H (AR TET AN GUTEA qAT ARE A TaH
AT REHI FoATeAh AR AAAATS HIABNT THEH TIHT HIH T IIIH &
ol

YW A9 ATERl ATh b qAT faiT TRATH! THE TR Afded AT Ik /T I
BT AT g S | WA, &} 99 ATHEl ARk THE FEENT Afdehd TIH FETT B qa
call

FTIFRT FHGH! TTAT (FIh g4 ATHAT JAd S a1 faxirg Fear Fwewdy H=an
Sfefad AT TAT AR ATARTH @TTHT g9 AAAT, ATHAT TAT [UET g IS, |
() SfeFy FRIERET AN ATAIAF T ATAANTE AT,

(@) TEATH 3fF FT FETETHT A=A AT ¥ FAAT BIAbT TRITAAT T TRIGT

FETHAT,
[ dferg ar faia saaqmre S5 TEAT B A,
(%) 2TE AYedehl a7 YRLTAR a7 JSHMT a7 ATAATNR! ARTTHT AT TATTEHT,

(3) 9B GiqaeTHT ATIRIMIE GSHIH (Criminal Record) AU a1 ATIRIIE JSSHH
(Criminal Record) 3T AU TSI HThTT Tl L a9 AT HS Aehehl |

(@) ATHT Jd FRIERHAT TF dhdTe (Herwad AU a1 a9 Sehare qUHT TTaearTar
HTIE BRIARHAT A AT {ehard ARYRT a1 AT HAFaTaTe Febal TUHl qi=
Y QBT AT AT RIS FRIARH GATATAE THTS AT,

() FAGATHT THELT THUST AT FAT AT Behal TUHN 3 a9 THT |

LTSl FAFPRN TH@R! [afch AT, FREFN THE@ AT [GUHT, e qUAT a1 37
T FROC TEAE &8 T TS AHIGAT 87062 BaT TF debapl s o facira & e
farmT ¥ FEafega quieaeror faamTers ge el o 99 |

PN THE 290 e AIT AUAT T AT SRIETH FA T9 A9 AT a1 @ faawear
& THT TG TRAIT qUHT ASThT TATAT FTH T AThepl TFIEHT T Sebebl o T
facitr S e faamT 7 Svafegd qaRae faanTers 9@ el 6 a1 |

T FATATAT, FRER, AEANIE A O AR G GHaars gea o
FHFN THE, I TRMGEN] 9 FHARESH qad a9 g R T o |
TATSAAIAT HEATATE FHFRI THEATS YaTH TR e, AT, Se q97 o= graar qeaedr
fareRor T T TR qUHT F 9 AREATRT R IR AUHT, GREcHR U qu ¥
qE 99 THTT HUR Uk HEAHT TG Sbepl ok adl faad gear fama faqmr ¥
THEIId R [ Ters Iuaded RIS I+ |

AT FTHT HTH T A8

FAFRT THET AR FART GAT qTed TG AbaTd oaaaard A= & I FETH
HITeTeh ETAT THT HTH T 8o |
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F S A1 fad GRATRT FTEET THE AR B AT GEATHT GoATeAb, BTAB
TG, A TR, FHEAT a7 o7 bl TIHT W& BTH T G S | d% S a1 faird
AT QAT qepT Sep’ /T AT TRBT FALATHT TT FLATHN ToATeAP g TG HALAT
ST TATTHT AT ST |

TG TATTAHT AN ‘AT F GRAT AT FATRT AT T S¢9T TG Foarard & qi
FETATE, I T, |

(%) RT YS(TRl SETT FHITH =37 el g4 T YIX IR T IRl AT FXAThT qoaTded I8

qo)

AEF FEFNT YHE AT FT I dehl FHART IGAT Ik &9 a9 &9 & | AT
fAEeT ST €eTRT S@d R ATh WRATH HEUERT THE YIHT TETe Ehl TT (a2
HTAHTETR] STebT AART GRT T A &TeT Gl AT S |

() “F” AR FSAAATIIT FEATHT =hT Goirebl § GIqerd a1 ArHw=T del

() “@” AH TATTATAIT FEITHT F[hT Goirebl R Iqerd a1 Jra=aT del

(%) A’ AR TATTATAITC HATHT [hT Yol & Ffqera a1 Freear el

FCATaRAT F4 FATT a1 FURE BT &bl Seb qAT G TR FAFN THE
FATT BHE! [GAGATH e 6 BATGAAT Fatid Iuedd &1 a9 |

(19) FIFN THE ANAR 5 TCHHRT del I<h TEHT [HaTtad, FAIa ar Haeh g9 T9a T

JHEIfead FEAT ATRAT (AT 2@l T g | 41 (39 S a1 & o qd
fairar Fearep! [HAATaTAT |1 STaedT F9UHl U ANTHI QIR 97 A1 gl g=ard
qifee T FErHTEeT FeTrge T G |

THE FEFN Aged U b AOH A\ AfeAiiae aftard s9e aegfd TREd 9he |
AT SATSTAYAYTS ST SFaEIhT g 9AT dibehl U98s IHd [eh WUH 3
HigA T Aad TOAT 9R9d TREF THe | GEelad G¥IT GIel STHISTHS ST
AT HHART FaT AIHEAH THT Ioord TS, |

oA HHAIT THE HARR Adkadls Haeh T [qafqardr wivstis 7 o= gfadr
TR [THT FR FERIAT T&T AT AERIATH FaT AT Tl des [har T4 T
TIAT Joel@ T T3, | Ferars faiir ar o a1 gadr qweedl aries o Tal gEterd
FIAAT I AT [ATTATEAHT FadT THINH g 9T (giaemdeh T Al e JanT T
qUHT HFLATHT [STel GTZUTS ATTHT FaT Jraar IS 9T A7 THA FRATHT Feoid TIE,
| T, AT HATT g TS TRUHT TERIATEEHT qrd Fwaieerd oo a1 b geare a9
AT FHITH g T ATfaeh TERIATHT qaeqe e/ TRATSTT T I3, |

FHARA AT T T AT GHIT oqaeT

Q@

(F) FATTATAITG TR FHARNS T bl TIRT TPl ATERUFAT Aa€T qTef
T FEFagar died eereR T 99 |

(@) STFI AIdeded FHANATS AERUS [quad Heed fad T e fad Iaeaiaa
franTT IHEEe®! g98 | FHAR AT a7 MIH Iedud AT FFH Jiqded
el d [ gHEe STAelh Saaedaa [qanTers Iqaed RIS a7e T JeEd
fersmTer Soh UfqaamTeRT AfTerE qURAETITRT FHAT T Aehebl URALT Aetrels ST
RIS 99 |
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FUAT FATATTAIT GeaTepT fed oot Serepr iafafaar g g7 qre o

(F) FHART FALT AT AYAL TIAT TATAATAUTT  Fedrepl feq fameia g4 & afv
fepfearwrepr fafaferar Tem g &3 |

(@) FOTSTAITITT GEATHT FHART ATHT faiid @ Igh] AEHETRT FRIARHAT TTeT
a7 AL TIHT Yo g ga |

(M) FATTATTIT GRITHT FHATR! ATHT AEHAT JIX WTHcE, ATSHaR, HOT foa= a7
fer wnfe & fofawer faxfr @ wifquar © 99 Ao smwm feeaw
FURAETHATS qchTel AF FH SRR 3 T |
TR, Mebaan quikaersel sterT faxia @y ifuar & 9= Yo i REs qrasiae
SIAT [ASRTeT TRUST JAR/HOIAEEH] FRIARD! SFHAT T [RAHE Ticerwd AN g
ol

(&) HTHR HERT TEH FOATATIINT GRATHT ATANTH A7 e I TITAAT TUITeAT
TIHT AT g T g4 |

AIRTF FIHT FH T MR (A T

FHAR A T ek AT Bl U GITHT AT TTHT b T AT AT ATEIIE

Tiafataar @ gTA=T dieel ISSaIayrd Feamehl SFaeraqere fatgd @efd g o |

fa T |

Eﬁﬁaé NEEIEEGIFEEEIIGEINE BRI R

TSI AT a1 g1 GRATH ATIHIT @MHcd a1 [AI=ATAT I@ehl  Feamel
FETAATAT FHATN F G IATTATTITS HEATPT TaATeAF / AeATZHIX g IS S |

T, TETA FRINTH g T LTS arer AT AT 7 -

(F) THAIT HAT THITH FASTAIAIT  FEAT AT TR FEAF BB oh!
R ECIRED Eﬂ"

(@) FUTA TRFREF! T AUHT GATTATAIT TLATT AT hel  SOITSTATAIT  FEATHT
AT T PRI TN SATATTAITG  FLATAT F=aTeAeh AAIA T G&T AT
TFRPT WIEd a5 ATFT FF FHART T B SATSTATTIT  FEAT]

YoATARAT HAMAIA g, aT

() ATRT FATST LT THUHT JTHINAE JaTH] FeATT TLATET Tl aTfHep, TTTpideF,
STferep, TRTTHTET STeaT TeaTeehl (HaweT aRfafias & gsaras g |

TREThRT Bl qadHT | T8

FHATREST UTEhd] THM JAT AT JrIHT FRISAAT THeE a7 GReThebl aiqaae] qerv

T Bad | X HABAT AT FIIHT T g GHT FIUFRT JHEAS G fafad e

feraeas |

TN TEIART T4 A8

FHAGA ATHT 98 ¥ ATH TEIANT T B 9 FIawedT AThITT HTgar g Pharharad

)

AW g TS I | FHA A (AoThl ATERA GHd A9ee T8 WEhl gRrsTaaayrd
LT FRER & qIREE bl T 9 g @ | 91, qraTesedl @ve fash
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&, R AT AT JATA FRIERAT AT TS a1 fadehl AT 98l ITART T
qree B | FA g9, =, faweft fafree 7 faeelt qRevTeRer e e 9dm g9 9
I S |

FEAATH! TEIART T A8

FUAT FATTTTAITT AT RIS (TATGATHT I el ITH GeATehT FRIANT T
JaT F AT GRS TTHRT FEIAT AT GATBT & ATl TEhT BT AT AR
TUHT FRIGRAT AT g TEH G | (olesd HHH [Garqerdr qee od% HITEdh
FUATIATS THT T e T AT TAT ATTer@ehT AT & ga |

aferg T BRIERE! Yiaded el I

TSTSIAIAYT FEATH] oIl FFedl Afqerd ¥ Gfqaed quf TaH & aquds | HHErrd
FATIERT TTHT FATAATAIT FLATHT @I AT T FRTSATTHT SAThITd FqHT JI8E T
qTET A | T AT (ST BT JATeTd BT STHITH Tl SHER g9, |
AT A e T

(@F)  FHARIS TATAd FAA THITHA AEhF TAAT T JEHET AUH HRIAH! TqIam
FAH TE IAg | S Farare e wgadalg aft o eRERE M (
giaterdr AfgedR, 7 TATER, o@T T AEEAT TUHI =T FBRIATH [Fa397) AT a7
W& FHAR! AT TR AT TART T qUE S |

@) HA Wedd! AFATF a1 faxiig FEAT Uewa fdfgd @sfla fqw o= =afd =
EERICIERCE R i
TR, FATTd FIAAHT ATHT &7 Sfeby PRIER qWavdl fqarues Ja7 Iererg Suaed
TRTSET TIAIIAT SR{T AU HIT 857 |

8T ¥ gHE FEer T 99

FHAREE TEFHATH [HAAT T FEI=gare GATad 95 o6 TaH qHTard] ATaRHT
AEATIF FRER T 1S, |

fafea sqar STerer faq o

TATATIAYTT AT AT IRGU FHINTHD] FHANA AR e T TR Tl
JAT AR IEAT AT AT BT TOMeATehl AT I AT TEIeel T IR T 4T
TFR TR AFERT TG Sehepl ob g7 fadi T fqaaa faum v awafea qufeen
farmTeTs fafad wowr ST foq a9s |

TR AT AFEIT AT AT/ THTRT FTFbT (& I

FA FEARNS TH (HGTTHT JMBUHT ATERVT el ACHT |1 qeerwdy fqaror 7 fasr @t
TRUFT FRATE! AREN AAFRT T SGbd S qan faxira dwar faaa faamr v gt
AR (TR To=T ToT3q IS, |

TASTATAIT o TT T ARATEeed AT FHANATS FHA ol Afaamaed Sfearad
ST/ FRTETH AR ST a7 A= B b AT Faxier SRATAT AUt qEelT 9, e
TFAT AT B /FUTA AT el STRT TRBT HTT / TATTABT TIAHT AT T&T T o |
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Q¥)  SATTAIANTT TRATHT YA AT FoaToleheh] UehlR JRARET I aT § Fiderd 9wl &H
FEIIF X ORI T ARG el AT HHAIR] FTAT B T FARIATHT A
FHART F T FHART IR TP TS P T & |

QW) F 9T S qAT A WA ¥ WO A AR AT A Heprdesard A ferers
TG AT T T TH] FUEEHT AT b T [aira T FHART JeeT a1
dIAT TIAT FEART g WS oA | S Jur faid TR ATRAT HHEI G4l

Q%) Job Specification ¥ Know Your Employee IFI=IHT
=T SAM@H (Operational Risk) AT ATNT FSATAATAIT FLIT MMET THE AT
AT Tedl TRNIhRIars FHarl el FMR=rd Jmadr 991 a9 [aeeare
FRHAFHTE g TR T FRTEER Job Specification) TAR RN AR[ T THe, T FHART
FrRAT faar (Haftia Fo9T sramatgs T Ao TeTaHE |

FHEATY TEHAT AT TG

Q) FHSAEANTG b AT T ST FHATIR B, AT, TGAT AAT TSI TG ATAH

®

T AR R (Certification Courses) faust wu @y fadiy Avaarens a@d
AP FITAT fg T |

TATSTATAYTST eh qgT faxiTd FRATer ATRAT FHAARIP IeTaT ATTIGehT AT Ta® a9 T

AMIF TUH F TATATAT  @obl IATH 3 IIAT IHH A qaT i faepraar @=r 19

g, |

TET @ &l [FTTIRE s aradr T 99 -

() qie® Jar afa e @=iare GeaTH g FHEREed T ATaig T THe a9y
IT T TN ATAAF FAT AT I, |

(@) FoaATA® ATATTHT qA, ToaTed T THE BTAFR] ATTHART (39T FHUT THI=T FHT
qf @9 T ATRAT GRATHl qReTe GiAHiac Ta T a1 GEACTHT TEdRIT gaTe
it HUgerdr @< T9 A= THTAI T AP B |

(M) wratHe Sfekg #Td (Core Banking Functions) I Yea&T T¥afwld =IgMAT 3 AfEATIHA®
Feefl ar faaelt arfad qor Al FwaedT @= qHEeT T e |

(&) ATEHAT HANTT/ QAR gaT Sl HIAaR arfd @@= I8 dwasia EaeT T
e |

(@) dITH YETHS GEATH! FATE Tl FEAT TRl @i, Giaeer T fqeaaaardrs @rem
FATST TS |

(=) TR qATH TAT TCETRT gehAT Stehg &G Fratead qeTd TaTT T GLT, T
A FF TAT AU GRPRA ATITSAAT LT ATCTH, TICST, SARTENT BT, ATHAR
ATGHT AT TRISST AR @9 TAT GLAT AT T ATH AT qHAT Feg ATRT
AAH T & AR Goals AN q97 i [aehrd =T FHEe T9 aEds |

(@) = ATGF TUH] FHARGER] F&7aT ATHIGHT TNMPY ATAREB! IHH @ g AGHHT
g T I |
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b T fadir e FHANATS BT GEid qieH T X aUHT BiRTHT
TF Tak T 48 RIEATT AT Foll GE=Al &I T FHANATS (aRitded aiaq
Jce A9 YRTH I IAg | g6 a7 i aRarer dfekg e 3 Jeerihet faswra
T SANT FAT TAT GUH FHARIGEATS Sb Y97 bl q AigATTT Hqar g
FATHT ATTHETHT AT F&TH TS, |

(W) o qoT (I AT FHERAS YarT el areraer ofrdes, fafa, safa arfew gre

UEREEY

o AT fa<ii GRATRT GoATAH QAT FHARIHT F&7aT ATTdlg TrI=IHT Frafare
FATE AN T 998 T AT pratatger §/9 gfq S qar faxie g fraee faam 2
Frfeerd R faamTAT Jo7 T e |

©, FTNRE FiAfa/IT-TMATT FFIRT T

S qar foeia dear gea=dr UA, 003 &1 TRT IR, [T, 9, O T &9 AT HUH! FawT
HTEAR oAb FAIAA ATF FTATHEHT S@Td STHISTH B T AHATT /IT-FTHIT T3
TR B, HAA I ATHR THA A TS

Q@

(G

g% aar fad GEAe SR FH FRATETS THIEER] FIHT goArad T
qoaTeAheh] FATSTHAH] IETIFT AT a1 IT-ATAIT AT TS T I, |

GUE (F) AT [AAF FZT AGUH TUAT 9T FA @GR AT T A TR
FTIHR FoATAREH GATTReTAT FI-FTAIT TS T e STeT [TbT AT ST |
ToATAE AT AL ATk AT ATk o7 F UM A=A ATATT AT I~
qrafaaT THET & arST B |
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JAIETHT ISTEUHT FaTewerl qaWH (eafd Afeqasr Wiqrnar a9 Swdl aeaiead quivaeo
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quieeror faamrar o1 T 9g | G afateT a9 Seare fde 98 9w e g |
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ATARE AGTIETT qqT =0
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Al AT FE AT Ykl AATATHT ¥ HoAl A1 b5 [AHE, Nepal Clearing House Ltd.,

National Banking Institute, Nepal Stock Exchange Ltd TT JaTeR faera Siehepl ARHT ITYeHI
SHTET TGS 619 HAH T A= g 3 |

AT, AUTART TTRTAT TSR] ATITTHIFOTERT AN AR TAR T HET TATST o qal
fairar SeamepT Wk R TMIgRT 9afgd Payment Switch T aTd I HFARAT TRURT AR
EHHT GHA ST THEST BT BTAH T T S |

F UF AMed AT TR, fedser a1 & AHfed T FGHT AT TET GrATHE
TofTeT Q0 ITTRTAT Fegd I ¥ Fe WS TeATHT AR, feer=a a1 i = I
TETHT ATHT YTATHE TofebT 30 FIAATHT A TN AT I Al B | I, TMiod
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Capital Adequacy Framework

2015
1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND:

Prior to 1988, there was no uniform international regulatory standard for setting bank capital
requirements. In 1988, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS)! developed the Capital
Accord, which is known as Basel I, to align the capital adequacy requirements applicable especially to
banks in G-10 countries. Basel I introduced two key concepts. First, it defined what banks could hold as
capital, as well as designating capital as Tier 1 or Tier 2 according to its loss-absorbing or creditor-
protecting characteristics. The second key concept introduced in Basel | was that capital should be held
by banks in relation to the risks that they face. The major risks faced by banks relate to the assets held on
balance sheet. Thus, Basel I calculated banks’ minimum capital requirements as a percentage of assets,
which are adjusted in accordance with their riskiness and assigning risk weights to assets. Higher weights
are assigned to riskier assets such as corporate loans, and lower weights are assigned to less risky assets,
such as exposures to government.

The BCBS released the "International Convergence of Capital Measurements and Capital Standards:
Revised Framework", popularly known as Basel 1l, on June 26, 2004. This framework was updated in
November 2005 and a comprehensive version of the framework was issued in June 2006. Basel Il builds
significantly on Basel | by increasing the sensitivity of capital to key bank risks. In addition, Basel Il
recognizes that banks can face a multitude of risks, ranging from the traditional risks associated with
financial intermediation to the day-to-day risks of operating a business as well as the risks associated with
the ups and downs of the local and international economies. As a result, the framework more explicitly
associates capital requirements with the particular categories of major risks that banks face.

The Basel Il capital framework also recognizes that large, usually internationally active banks have
already put in place sophisticated approaches to risk measurement and management based on statistical
inference rather than judgment alone. Thus, the framework allows banks, under certain conditions, to use
their own ‘internal’ models and techniques to measure the key risks that they face, the probability of loss,
and the capital required to meet those losses. In developing the new framework, the Basel Committee
incorporated many elements that help to promote a sound and efficient financial system over and above
the setting of minimum capital requirements. Keeping this in mind, the Basel Il framework incorporates
three complementary ‘pillars’ that draw on the range of approaches to help ensure that banks are
adequately capitalized in commensurate with their risk profile.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) released a comprehensive reform package entitled
“Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems” (known as
Basel 11l capital regulations) in December 2010. Basel Il reforms are the response of the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) to improve the banking sector’s ability to absorb shocks
arising from financial and economic stress, whatever the source, thus reducing the risk of spill over from
the financial sector to the real economy. Basel 111 reforms strengthen the bank-level i.e. micro prudential
regulation, with the intention to raise the resilience of individual banking institutions in periods of stress.

! The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision is a committee of banking supervisory authorities that was established by the
central bank governors of the Group of Ten countries in 1975. It consists of senior representatives of bank supervisory
authorities and central banks from Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Spain,
Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. It usually meets at the Bank for International Settlements in
Basel, Switzerland where its permanent Secretariat is located.
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Besides, the reforms have a macro prudential focus also, addressing system wide risks, which can build
up across the banking sector, as well as the procyclical amplification of these risks over time. These new
global regulatory and supervisory standards mainly seek to raise the quality and level of capital (Pillar 1)
to ensure that banks are better able to absorb losses on both a going concern and a gone concern basis,
increase the risk coverage of the capital framework, introduce leverage ratio to serve as a backstop to the
risk-based capital measure, raise the standards for the supervisory review process (Pillar 2) and public
disclosures (Pillar 3) etc. The macro prudential aspects of Basel Il are largely enshrined in the capital
buffers. Both the buffers i.e. the capital conservation buffer and the countercyclical buffer are intended to
protect the banking sector from periods of excess credit growth.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision's (BCBS) recommendations on capital accord are
important guiding frameworks for the regulatory capital requirement to the banking industry all over the
world and Nepal is no exception. Realizing the significance of capital for ensuring the safety and
soundness of the banks and the banking system, at large, Nepal Rastra Bank (NRB) has developed and
enforced capital adequacy requirement based on international practices with an appropriate level of
customization based on domestic state of market developments.

With a view of adopting the international best practices, NRB has already issued the Basel llI
implementation action plan and expressed its intention to adopt the Basel 11l framework, albeit in a
simplified form. In line with the international development and thorough discussion with the stakeholders,
evaluation and assessment of impact studies at various phases, this framework has been drafted. This
framework provides the guidelines for the implementation of Basel 11l framework in Nepal. The Basel 111
capital regulations continue to be based on three-mutually reinforcing Pillars, viz. minimum capital
requirements, supervisory review of capital adequacy, and market discipline of the Basel Il capital
adequacy framework.

1.2 OBJECTIVE:

The main objective of this framework is to develop safe and sound financial system by way of
sufficient amount of qualitative capital and risk management practices. This framework is intended
to ensure that each bank maintain a level of capital which,

0] is adequate to protect its depositors and creditors.
(i) is commensurate with the risk associated activities and profile of the banks.
(iii)  promotes public confidence in the banking system.

1.3 PRE-REQUISITES:

The effective implementation of this framework is dependent on various factors. Some such pre-
requisites are:

0] Implementation of Basel Core Principles for effective Banking Supervision
(i) Adoption of the sound practices for the management of Operational Risk
(iii) Formulation and adoption of comprehensive risk management policy
(iv) Adherence to high degree of corporate governance

14 RESPONSIBILITY:

The board of directors of each bank shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining, at all
times, an adequate level of capital. The capital standards herein are the minimum that is acceptable
for banks that are fundamentally sound, well managed, and have no material financial or
operational weaknesses. Thus, banks are generally expected to operate above the limits prescribed
by this framework.
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1.5 SCOPE OF APPLICATION:

This framework shall be applicable to all "A" Class financial institutions? licensed to conduct
banking business in Nepal under the Bank and Financial Institution Act, 2073.

This capital adequacy framework shall be applicable uniformly to all "A" class financial institutions
on a stand-alone basis and as well as on a consolidated basis, where the bank is member of a
consolidated banking group. For the purpose of capital adequacy, the consolidated bank means a
group of financial entities, parent or holding company of which a bank is a subsidiary. All banking
and other relevant financial activities (both regulated and unregulated) conducted within a group
including a bank shall be captured through consolidation. Thus, majority owned or controlled
financial entities should be fully consolidated. If any majority owned subsidiary institutions are not
consolidated for capital purposes, all equity and other regulatory capital investments in those
entities attributable to the group will be deducted except otherwise prescribed and the assets and
liabilities, as well as third party capital investments in the subsidiary will be removed from the
bank"s balance sheet for capital adequacy purposes.

1.6 APPROACHES TO IMPLEMENTATION:

"International Convergence for Capital Measurements and Capital Standards: Revised Framework"
alias Basel Il under Pillar 1, provides three distinct approaches for computing capital requirements
for credit risk and three other approaches for computing capital requirements for operational risk.
These approaches for credit and operational risk are based on increasing risk sensitivity and allow
banks to select an approach that is most appropriate to the stage of development of banks’
operations.

The product and services offered by the Nepalese Banks are still largely conventional, in
comparison with other economies. This coupled with the various inherent limitations of our system
like the limitation of credit rating practices makes the advanced approaches like Internal Ratings
Based Approach or even Standardized Approach impractical and unfeasible. Thus, at this juncture,
this framework prescribes Simplified Standardized Approach (SSA) to measure credit risk while
Basic Indicator Approach and an indigenous Net Open Position Approach for measurement of
Operational Risk and Market Risk respectively.

1.7 IMPLEMENTATION OF ADVANCED APPROACHES:

This framework prescribes the simplest of the available approaches at the initial phase with a vision
to move onto more complex and risk sensitive approaches as the market gradually gains maturity.
Banks willing to adopt advanced approaches, even for internal purposes, should obtain prior written
approval from Nepal Rastra Bank on providing evidence that they have the resources and the
capability to adopt the proposed approaches.

A bank will not be allowed to choose to revert to a simpler approach once it has been approved for
a more advanced approach without supervisory approval. However, if a supervisor determines that
a bank using a more advanced approach no longer meets the qualifying criteria for an advanced
approach, it may allow the bank to revert to a simpler approach for some or all of its operations,
until it meets the conditions specified by the supervisor for returning to a more advanced approach.

1.8 TRANSITIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

In order to ensure smooth migration to Basel Il without aggravating any near-term stress,
appropriate transitional arrangements have been made. The phase-in arrangements are indicated in
the following Table:

2«A” class financial institutions refers to “Commercial Banks”
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1.9

2.1

Transition Period

(Mid July)

2023

2024

2025

Leverage Ratio

4.00%

4.00%

Migration to Pillar 1

Liquidity coverage
ratio

Introduce minimum
standard

Offsite Monitoring

Migration to Pillar 1

Net stable funding
ratio

Introduce minimum
standand

Offsite Monitoring

Migration to Pillar 1

SIFI & DSIB
Measures

NRB shall issue the regulation.

EFFECTIVE DATE:

All banks within the scope of this framework should adopt the prescribed approaches.

REQUIREMENTS FOR CAPITAL FUNDS

DEFINITION OF CAPITAL:
The qualifying regulatory capital shall consist of the sum of the following components:
a. Tier 1 Capital (Core Capital)
A. Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)
B. Additional Tier 1 (AT1)
b.Tier 2 Capital (Supplementary Capital)

The detailed description of the components of regulatory capital and their elements are as follows:
Tier 1 Capital (Core Capital)

The key element of capital on which the main emphasis should be placed is Tier 1 (core)
capital, which is comprised of equity capital and disclosed reserves. This key element of capital
is the basis on which most market judgments of capital adequacy are made; and it has a crucial
bearing on profit margins and a bank's ability to compete.

The BCBS has therefore concluded that capital, for supervisory purposes, should be defined in
two tiers in a way, which will have the effect of requiring at least 50% of a bank's capital base
to consist of a core element comprised of equity capital and published reserves from post-tax
retained earnings.

In order to rank as Tier 1, capital must be fully paid up, have no fixed servicing or dividend
costs attached to it and be freely available to absorb losses ahead of general creditors. Capital
also needs to have a very high degree of permanence if it is to be treated as Tier 1.

Tier 1 Capital shall consist of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital and Additional Tier 1 Capital and
the sum of these two capital shall be total Tier 1 Capital.

. Common Equity Tier 1 Capital

Common Equity is recognized as the highest quality component of capital and is the primary
form of funding which ensures that a bank remains solvent. Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
consists of the sum of the following elements:

(i) Common shares issued by the bank that meet the criteria for classification as common shares
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for regulatory purposes;

(i)  Stock surplus (share premium) resulting from the issue of instruments included in
Common Equity Tier 1;

(iii) Statutory General Reserve;
(iv) Retained Earnings available for distribution to shareholders;

(v) Un-audited current year cumulative profit, after all provisions including staff bonus and
taxes as well as regulatory adjustments. Where such provisions and regulatory
adjustments are not made, this amount shall not qualify as Common Equity Tier 1 capital,

(vi) Capital Redemption Reserves created in lieu of redeemable instruments

(vii) Capital Adjustment reserves created in respect of increasing the capital base of the bank
(viii) Dividend Equalization Reserves;

(ix) Other free reserves if any

(x) Bargain purchase gain arises on merger and acquisitions. However, prior approval of
NRB is required for it to include in Common Equity Tier 1 Capital,

(xi) Any other type of instruments notified by NRB from time to time for inclusion in
Common Equity Tier 1 capital; and

(xii) Less: Regulatory adjustments / deductions applied in the calculation of Common Equity
Tier 1 capital.

Criteria for common shares issued by the bank for inclusion in Common Equity:

Common shares must meet the following criteria to be included in Common Equity Tier 1
Capital:

1. All common shares should be voting shares.
2. Represent the most subordinate claim in liquidation of the bank.

3.  Be entitled to a claim on the residual assets which is proportional to its share of paid up
capital, after all senior claims have been repaid in liquidation (i.e. has an unlimited and
variable claim, not a fixed or capped claim).

4. Principal is perpetual and never repaid outside of liquidation (except discretionary
repurchases / buy backs or other means of effectively reducing capital in a discretionary
manner with the prior approval of NRB which is allowable under relevant law as well as
guidelines, if any, issued by NRB in the matter).

5. The bank does nothing to create an expectation at issuance that the instrument will be
bought back, redeemed or cancelled nor do the statutory or contractual terms provide any
feature which might give rise to such an expectation.

6.  Distributions are paid out of distributable items. The level of distributions is not in any
way tied or linked to the amount paid up at issuance and is not subject to a contractual
cap (except to the extent that a bank is unable to pay distributions that exceed the level of
distributable items). As regards ‘distributable items’, it is clarified that the dividend on
common shares will be paid out of the current year’s profit and retained earnings only.

7. There are no circumstances under which the distributions are obligatory. Non-payment is
therefore not an event of default.

gug “g” 4



8.  Distributions are paid only after all legal and contractual obligations have been met and
payments on more senior capital instruments have been made. This means that there are
no preferential distributions, including in respect of other elements classified as the
highest quality issued capital.

9. It is the paid up capital that takes the first and proportionately greatest share of any losses
as they occur. Within the highest quality capital, each instrument absorbs losses on a
going concern basis proportionately and pari passu with all the others.

10. The paid up amount is classified as equity capital (i.e. not recognised as a liability) for
determining balance sheet insolvency.

11. The paid up amount is classified as equity under the relevant accounting standards.

12. Itis directly issued and paid up and the bank cannot directly or indirectly have funded the
purchase of the instrument. Banks should also not extend loans against their own shares.

13.  The paid up amount is neither secured nor covered by a guarantee of the issuer or related
entity nor subject to any other arrangement that legally or economically enhances the
seniority of the claim.

14. Paid up capital is only issued with the approval of the owners of the issuing bank, either
given directly by the owners or, if permitted by applicable law, given by the Board of
Directors or by other persons duly authorized by the owners.

15.  Paid up capital is clearly and separately disclosed in the bank’s balance sheet.
B. Additional Tier 1 Capital

Additional Tier 1 Capital mainly include the instruments either classified as equity under
relevant accounting standards but are not the common equity share and hence not includible in
common equity tier 1 or the instrument which are classified as liabilities under relevent
accounting standards, however it is includible in additional tier 1 capital. Under Basel Il non-
common equity elements to be included in Tier 1 capital should absorb losses while the bank
remains a going concern. Towards this end, one of the important criteria for Additional Tier 1
instruments is that these instruments should have principal loss absorption through either (i)
conversion into common shares at an objective pre-specified trigger point or (ii) a write-down
mechanism which allocates losses to the instrument at a pre-specified trigger point. Banks
should not issue Additional Tier 1 capital instruments to the retail investors.

Additional Tier 1 capital consists of the sum of the following elements:

(i)  Perpetual Non Cumulative Preference Share (PNCPS) and Perpetual Debt Instruments
(PDI) issued by the bank that meet the criteria for inclusion in Additional Tier 1 capital;

(i)  Stock surplus (share premium) resulting from the issue of PNCPS instruments included in
Additional Tier 1 capital; and

(iii)  Less: Regulatory adjustments / deductions applied in the calculation of Additional Tier 1
capital.

Criteria for Instruments issued by the bank for inclusion in Additional Tier 1:

Perpetual Non Cumulative Preference Share (PNCPS) and Perpetual Debt Instruments (PDI)
issued by the bank must meet the following criteria to be included in Additional Tier 1 Capital:

1. The instruments should be issued by the Bank (i.e. not by any ‘Special Purpose Vehicle’
etc. set up by the bank for this purpose) and fully paid up.

2. The claim of investors of the instruments shall be:
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(A) In case of Perpetual Non Cumulative Preference Shares:
(i) Superior to the claims of investors in equity shares; and

(ii) Subordinated to the claims of PDIs, all Tier 2 regulatory capital instruments,
depositors and general creditors of the bank.

(B) In case of Perpetual Debt Instruments:

(i) Superior to the claims of investors in equity shares and perpetual non-cumulative
preference shares;

(ii) Subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors and subordinated debt
of the bank;

The instruments should be neither secured nor covered by a guarantee of the issuer or
related entity or other arrangement that legally or economically enhances the seniority of
the claim vis-a-vis bank creditors

The instruments should be perpetual, ie there is no maturity date and there are no step-ups
or other incentives to redeem

The Instruments may be callable at the initiative of the issuer. This means that the
instruments shall not be issued with “Put Option”. However, banks may issue instruments
with a “Call Option™ at a particular date subject to following conditions:

a)  The call option on the instrument is permissible after ten years of issuance;
b)  To exercise a call option a bank must receive prior approval of NRB;

¢) A bank must not do anything which creates an expectation that the call will be
exercised; and

d)  Banks must not exercise a call unless:

i. The bank replaces the called instrument with capital of the same or better quality
and the replacement of this capital is done at conditions which are sustainable for
the income capacity of the bank; or

ii. The bank demonstrates that its capital position is well above the minimum
capital requirements after the call option is exercised.

Any repayment of principal (eg through repurchase, buy-back or redemption) must be with
prior approval of NRB and banks should not assume or create market expectations that
supervisory approval will be given. Banks may repurchase / buy-back / redeem the
instruments only if:
(2) The bank replaces such instrument with capital of the same or better quality and
the replacement of this capital is done at conditions which are sustainable for the
income capacity of the bank; or

(b) The bank demonstrates that its capital position is well above the minimum capital
requirements after the repurchase / buy-back / redemption.

Dividend/coupon discretion:
a.the bank must have full discretion at all times to cancel distributions/payments,
b.cancellation of discretionary payments must not be an event of default,

¢.banks must have full access to cancelled payments to meet obligations as they fall due;
and
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

d.cancellation of distributions/payments must not impose restrictions on the bank except in
relation to distributions to common stockholders.

Dividends/coupons must be paid out of ‘distributable items’:

As regards ‘distributable items’, it is clarified that the dividend on perpetual non-
cumulative preference shares (PNCPS) will be paid out of current year’s profit only.

In case of coupon on perpetual debt instruments (PDI), it is clarified that if the payment of
coupons on perpetual debt instrument (PDI) is likely to result in losses in the current year,
their declaration should be precluded to that extent.

Dividend on PNCPS and coupons on PDI should not be paid out of retained earnings /
reserves. In other words, payment of dividend/coupons should not have the effect of
reducing retained earnings / reserves.

The instrument cannot have a credit sensitive dividend/coupon feature, that is a
dividend/coupon that is reset periodically based in whole or in part on the banking
organization's credit standing.

The dividend/coupon shall not be cumulative. i.e., dividend/coupon missed in a year will
not be paid in future years, even if adequate profit is available and the level of CAR
conforms to the regulatory minimum. When dividend/coupon is paid at a rate lesser than
the prescribed rate, the unpaid amount will not be paid in future years, even if adequate
profit is available and the level of CAR conforms to the regulatory minimum.

The instrument cannot contribute to liabilities exceeding assets if such a balance sheet test
forms part of requirement to prove insolvency by any law or otherwise.

Instruments classified as liabilities for accounting purposes must have principal loss
absorption through either (i) conversion to common shares at an objective pre-specified
trigger point or (ii) a write-down mechanism which allocates losses to the instrument at a
pre-specified trigger point. The write-down will have the following effects:

a. Reduce the claim of the instrument in liquidation;
b. Reduce the amount re-paid when a call is exercised; and
c. Partially or fully reduce coupon/dividend payments on the instrument.

Neither the bank nor a related party over which the bank exercises control or significant
influence (as defined under relevant Nepal Financial Reporting Standards) can have
purchased the instrument, nor can the bank directly or indirectly have funded the purchase
of the instrument

The instrument cannot have any features that hinder recapitalization, such as provisions that
require the issuer to compensate investors if a new instrument is issued at a lower price
during a specified time frame.

. Tier 2 (Supplementary) Capital

The Supplementary (Tier 2) Capital includes reserves which have been passed through the profit
and loss account and all other capital instruments eligible and acceptable for capital purposes.
Elements of the Tier 2 capital will be reckoned as capital funds up to a maximum of 100 percent
of Tier 1 capital arrived at, after making regulatory adjustments/deductions. In case, where the
Tier 1 capital of a bank is negative, the Tier 2 capital for regulatory purposes shall be considered
as zero and hence the capital fund, in such cases, shall be equal to the core capital.

The Tier 2 Capital consists of the sum of the following elements:
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(i)  Preference Share Capital Instruments [Perpetual Cumulative Preference Shares (PCPS) /
Redeemable Non-Cumulative Preference Shares (RNCPS) / Redeemable Cumulative
Preference Shares (RCPS)] issued by the bank with the maturity of 5 years or above;

(i)  Subordinated term debt fully paid up with a maturity of 5 years or above; unsecured and
subordinated to the claim of other creditors, free of restrictive clauses and not redeemable
before maturity. Since, subordinated term debt is not normally available to participate in
the losses; the amount eligible for inclusion in the capital adequacy calculations is limited
to 50% of core capital. Moreover, to reflect the diminishing value of these instruments as
a continuing source of strength, a cumulative discount (amortization) factor of 20% per
annum shall be applied for capital adequacy computations, during the last 5 years to
maturity.

(iii) Hybrid capital instruments combine certain characteristics of debt and certain
characteristics of equity. Each such instrument has a particular feature, which can be
considered to affect its quality as capital. Where these instruments have close similarities
to equity, in particular when they are able to support losses on an ongoing basis without
triggering liguidation, they may be included in Tier 2 capital with approval from Nepal
Rastra Bank.

(iv)  Stock surplus (share premium) resulting from the issue of instruments included in Tier 2
capital;

(v) General loan loss provision limited to a maximum of 1.25% of total Credit Risk
Weighted Exposures. General loan loss provision refers to provisions or loan- loss
reserves held against future, presently unidentified losses are freely available to meet
losses which subsequently materialize and therefore qualify for inclusion in Tier 2
Capital. However, impairment loss booked under NFRS as per Incurred Loss Model shall
not be eligible to be included in Tier 2 Capital as the impairment is recognized on loss
incurred and not for the future.

Loan loss provision created on performing loan as per regulatory requirement shall be
eligible for inclusion Tier 2 Capital.

(vi) Exchange equalization reserves created by banks as a cushion for unexpected losses
arising out of adverse movements in foreign currencies.

(vii) Investment adjustment reserves to the extent created out of retained earning i.e.
appropriation of profit.

(viii) Any other type of instruments notified by NRB from time to time for inclusion in Tier 2
capital

(ix) Less: Regulatory adjustments / deductions applied in the calculation of Tier 2 capital .

Criteria for Instruments issued by the bank for inclusion in Tier 2 Capital:

Preference Share Capital Instruments [Perpetual Cumulative Preference Shares (PCPS) /
Redeemable Non-Cumulative Preference Shares (RNCPS) / Redeemable Cumulative Preference
Shares (RCPS)], Subordinated Term Debt and Hybrid Capital Instrument issued by the bank
must meet the following criteria to be included in Tier 2 Capital:

1. The instruments should be issued by the Bank (i.e. not by any ‘Special Purpose Vehicle’
etc. set up by the bank for this purpose) and fully paid up.

2. These instruments could be either perpetual or dated with a maturity period of minimum 5
years or more and there should be no step-ups or other incentives to redeem. The perpetual
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instruments shall be cumulative. The dated instruments could be cumulative or non-
cumulative.

3. The dated instruments (both cumulative and non-cumulative) shall be subjected to a
progressive discount for capital adequacy purposes over the last five years of their tenor, as
they approach maturity as indicated in the table below for being eligible for inclusion in
Tier 2 capital.

Remaining Maturity of Instruments Rate m(‘(yl?) ;scount
Less than one year 100
One year and more but less than two years 80
Two years and more but less than three years 60
Three years and more but less than four years 40
Four years and more but less than five years 20

4. Dividend/Coupon/Rate of Interest

(i)  The dividend/coupon payable to the investors may be either at a fixed rate or at a
floating rate referenced to a market determined rupee interest benchmark rate.

(i)  The instrument cannot have a credit sensitive coupon feature, i.e. a coupon that is
reset periodically based in whole or in part on the banks’ credit standing.

5. The claims of the investors in instruments shall be:

(i)  senior to the claims of investors in instruments eligible for inclusion in Tier 1
capital;

(if)  subordinate to the claims of all depositors and general creditors of the bank; and

(iii) Neither secured nor covered by a guarantee of the issuer or related entity or other
arrangement that legally or economically enhances the seniority of the claim vis-a-
vis bank creditors.

6. The instruments shall not be issued with “Put Option”. However, the Instruments may be
callable at the initiative of the issuer. Banks may issue instruments with a “Call Option™ at
a particular date subject to the following conditions:

(i)  The call option on the instrument is permissible after five years of issuance;
(i)  To exercise a call option a bank must receive prior approval of NRB; and

(iii)) A bank must not do anything which creates an expectation that the call will be
exercised; and

(iv) Banks must not exercise a call unless:

(a) The bank replaces the called instrument with capital of the same or better
quality and the replacement of this capital is done on conditions which are
sustainable for the income capacity of the bank; or

(b) The bank demonstrates that its capital position is well above the minimum
capital requirements after the call option is exercised.

7. Treatment in Bankruptcy / Liquidation
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The investor must have no rights to accelerate the repayment of future scheduled payments
(coupon or principal) except in bankruptcy and liquidation

Prohibition on Purchase / Funding of Instruments

Neither the bank nor a related party over which the bank exercises control or significant
influence (as defined under relevant Nepal Financial Reporting Standards) should purchase
the instrument, nor can the bank directly or indirectly should fund the purchase of the
instrument. Banks should also not grant advances against the security of the debt
instruments issued by them.

2.2 LOSS ABSORPTION OF ADDITIONAL TIER 1 INSTRUMENTS (AT1) AT THE PRE-
SPECIFIED TRIGGER

Level of Pre-specified Trigger and Amount of Equity to be Created by Conversion /
Write-down

As a bank’s capital conservation buffer falls to 0.625% of RWE, it will be subject to
100% profit retention requirements. One of the important objectives of capital
conservation buffer is to ensure that a bank always operates above minimum Common
Equity Tier 1 (CET1) level. Therefore, a pre-specified trigger for loss absorption through
conversion / write-down of the level of Additional Tier 1 (AT1) instruments (PNCPS and
PDI) at CET1 of 5.125% of RWEs (minimum CET1 of 45% + 25% of capital
conservation buffer of 2.5% i.e. 0.625%) has been fixed.

The write-down / conversion must generate CET1 under applicable Nepal Financial
Reporting Standards equal to the written-down / converted amount net of tax, if any.

The aggregate amount to be written-down / converted for all such instruments on
breaching the trigger level must be at least the amount needed to immediately return the
bank’s CET1 ratio to the trigger level or, if this is not sufficient, the full principal value
of the instruments. Further, the issuer should have full discretion to determine the amount
of AT1 instruments to be converted/written-down subject to the amount of
conversion/write-down not exceeding the amount which would be required to bring the
total Common Equity ratio to 7% of RWEs (minimum CET1 of 4.5% + capital
conservation buffer of 2.5%).

The conversion / write-down of AT1 instruments are primarily intended to replenish the
equity in the event it is depleted by losses. Therefore, banks should not use conversion /
write-down of AT1 instruments to support expansion of balance sheet by incurring
further obligations / booking assets. Accordingly, a bank whose total Common Equity
ratio slips below 7% due to losses and is still above 5.125% i.e. trigger point, should seek
to expand its balance sheet further only by raising fresh equity from its existing
shareholders or market and the internal accruals. However, fresh exposures can be taken
to the extent of amortization of the existing ones. If any expansion in exposures, such as
due to drawdown of sanctioned borrowing limits, is inevitable, this should be
compensated within the shortest possible time by reducing other exposures. The bank
should maintain proper records to facilitate verification of these transactions by its
internal auditors, statutory auditors and supervisors.

I1. Types of Loss Absorption Features

5. Banks may issue AT1 instruments with conversion / write-down features. Further, banks

may issue single AT1 instrument having both conversion and write-down features with
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the option for conversion or write-down to be exercised by the bank. Whichever option is
exercised, it should be exercised across all investors of a particular issue.

6. When a bank breaches the pre-specified trigger of loss absorbency of AT1 and the equity
is replenished either through conversion or write-down, such replenished amount of
equity will be excluded from the common equity tier 1 of the bank for the purpose of
determining the proportion of earnings to be paid out as dividend in terms of rules laid
down for maintaining capital conservation buffer. However, once the bank has attained a
total Common Equity ratio of 7% without counting the replenished equity capital, that
point onwards, the bank may include the replenished equity capital for all purposes.

7. The conversion / write-down may be allowed more than once in case a bank hits the pre-
specified trigger level subsequent to the first conversion / write-down which was partial.

I11. Treatment of AT1 Instruments in the event of Liquidation, Merger, Acquisition of the
Bank

8. If a bank goes into liquidation before the AT1 instruments have been written-down/
converted, these instruments will absorb losses in accordance with the order of seniority
indicated in the offer document, and legal provisions governing priority of charges. The
order of seniority indicated in the offer document should be in compliance with the
provision of Banking Act.

9. If a bank goes into liquidation after the AT1 instruments have been written-down, the
holders of these instruments will have no claim on the proceeds of liquidation.

10. If a bank is merged with/acquired by any other bank before the AT1 instruments have
been written-down/converted, these instruments will become part of the corresponding
categories of regulatory capital of the new bank emerging after the merger/acquisition.

11. If a bank is merged with any other bank after the non-equity regulatory capital
instruments have been written-down, these cannot be written-up by the merged entity.

IV. Fixation of Conversion Price, Capping of Number of Shares / Voting Rights

12. Banks may issue AT1 instruments with conversion features either based on price fixed at
the time of issuance or based on the market price prevailing at the time of conversion.

13. There will be a possibility of the debt holders receiving a large number of shares in the
event the share price is very low at the time of conversion. Thus, debt holders will end up
holding the number of shares and attached voting rights exceeding the legally permissible
limits. Banks should therefore, always keep sufficient headroom to accommodate the
additional equity due to conversion without breaching any of the statutory / regulatory
ceilings especially that for maximum shareholdings and maximum voting rights per
investors / group of related investors. In order to achieve this, banks should cap the
number of shares and / or voting rights in accordance with relevant laws and regulations
on Ownership and Governance of banks. Banks should adequately incorporate these
features in the terms and conditions of the instruments in the offer document.

V. Order of Conversion / Write-down of Various Types of AT1 Instruments

14. The instruments should be converted / written-down in order in which they would absorb
losses in a gone concern situation. Banks should indicate in the offer document clearly
the order of conversion / write-down of the instrument in question vis-a-vis other capital
instruments which the bank has already issued or may issue in future.
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2.3 DEDUCTIONS FROM CORE (TIER 1) CAPITAL:

Banks shall be required to deduct the following from the Common Equity Tier 1 capital for capital
adequacy purposes. The claims that have been deducted from Common Equity Tier 1 capital shall
be exempt from risk weights for the measurement of credit risk.

a.

@ = o o

Book value of goodwill and all other intangible assets.

Goodwill and all other intangible assets should be deducted from Common Equity Tier 1
capital including any goodwill included in the valuation of significant investments in the
capital of banking, financial and insurance entities which are outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation.

The full amount of the intangible assets is to be a deducted net of any associated deferred tax
liabilities which would be extinguished if the intangible assets become impaired or
derecognized under the relevant accounting standards. For this purpose, the definition of
intangible assets would be in accordance with the Nepal Financial Reporting Standards.

Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred Tax Assets computed as under should be deducted from Common Equity Tier 1
(i) Deferred Tax Assets associated with the accumulated tax losses

(ii) Deferred Tax Assets other than associated with the accumulated tax losses, net of
Deferred Tax Liabilities, if any. Where the Deferred Tax Liabilities is in excess of the
Deferred Tax Assets (excluding Deferred Tax Assets associated with accumulated
losses), the excess shall neither be adjusted against item (i) nor added to Common
Equity Tier 1 capital.

Miscellaneous expenditure to the extent not written off. e.g. VRS expense, preliminary
expense, share issue expense, deferred revenue expenditure, etc.

Investment in Securities of financial institutions licensed by Nepal Rastra Bank?.
All Investments in equity of institutions with financial interest.
Investments in equity of institutions in excess of the prescribed limits.

Investments arising out of underwriting commitments that have not been disposed within a
year from the date of commitment.

Reciprocal crossholdings of bank capital artificially designed to inflate the capital position of
the bank.

Cash Flow Hedge Reserve

The amount of the cash flow hedge reserve which relates to the hedging of items that are not
fair valued on the balance sheet (including projected cash flows) should be derecognized in
the calculation of Common Equity Tier 1. This means that positive amounts should be
deducted and negative amounts should be added back. This treatment specifically identifies
the element of the cash flow hedge reserve that is to be derecognized for prudential purposes.
It removes the element that gives rise to artificial volatility in Common Equity, as in this case
the reserve only reflects one half of the picture (the fair value of the derivative, but not the
changes in fair value of the hedged future cash flow).

3

Investment in shares of institutions, where the waiver has been explicitly provided by NRB are subject to risk weight of

100% and shall not be deducted from Tier 1 capital.
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J-  Defined Benefit Pension Fund Assets and Liabilities

Defined benefit pension fund liabilities, as included on the balance sheet, must be fully
recognized in the calculation of Common Equity Tier 1 capital (i.e. Common Equity Tier 1
capital cannot be increased through derecognizing or unrecognition of these liabilities). For
each defined benefit pension fund that is an asset on the balance sheet, the asset should be
deducted in the calculation of Common Equity Tier 1 net of any associated deferred tax
liability which would be extinguished if the asset should become impaired or derecognized
under the relevant accounting standards.

K. Negative balance of Reserve Accounts

Negative balances of any reserve such as which is recognized directly or through other
comprehensive income in equity such as revaluation reserve, fair value reserve, actuarial loss
etc. shall be deducted from Core (Common Equity Tier 1) Capital. However, the
corresponding assets shall not be exempted from risk weights for the measurement of credit
risk as the loss recognized in equity has already been adjusted in carrying amount of related
assets. Since, full amount of assets has not been deducted from Core Capital, risk weights on
carrying amount of assets shall be applied to measure credit risk.

I.  Any other instruments as stipulated by Nepal Rastra Bank, from time to time.

24 CAPITAL FUNDS:

The capital fund is the summation of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital and Tier 1 capital is the total of
common equity Tier 1 and additional Tier 1 capital. A bank should compute capital ratios in the
following manner:

Common Equity tier 1 capital ratio = Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Total Risk Weighted Exposure*

Tier 1 capital ratio = Eligible tier 1 Capital
Total Risk Weighted Exposure

Total Capital Ratio (CAR*) = Eligible Total Capital
Total Risk Weighted Exposure

*Total Risk Weighted Exposure = Credit Risk RWE¥+Market Risk RWE+ Operational Risk
RWE + Supervisory Adjustment under Pillar 1

¥ RWE= Risk weighted Exposure;
# CAR=Capital Adequacy Ratio

0] Banks shall maintain a minimum total capital (MTC) of 8.5% of total risk weighted
assets (RWALS) i.e. capital to risk weighted assets (CRAR).

(i) Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital must be at least 4.5% of risk-weighted assets
(RWAS) i.e. for credit risk + market risk + operational risk on an ongoing basis.

(i) Tier 1 capital must be at least 6% of RWAs on an ongoing basis. Thus, within the
minimum Tier 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital can be admitted maximum at 1.5% of
RWA:s.
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(iv)

v)

(vi)

Total Capital (Tier 1 Capital plus Tier 2 Capital) must be at least 8.5% of RWAs on an
ongoing basis. The sum total of the different components of the Tier 2 capitals will be
limited to the sum total of the various components of the Tier 1 capital net of deductions
as specified in paragraph 2.3. In case the Tier 1 capital is negative, Tier 2 capital shall be
considered to be "Nil" for regulatory capital adequacy purposes and hence, in such a
situation, the capital fund shall be equal to the Tier 1 capital.

If a bank has complied with the minimum Common Equity Tier 1 and Tier 1 capital
ratios, then the excess Additional Tier 1 capital can be admitted for compliance with the
minimum CRAR of 8.5% of RWAs.

In addition to the minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital of 4.5% of RWAs, banks are
also required to maintain a capital conservation buffer (CCB) of 2.5% of RWAs in the
form of Common Equity Tier 1 capital.

Thus, with full implementation of capital ratios and CCB the capital requirements are
summarized as follows:

Regulatory Capital As % to RWAs

(i) Minimum Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio 45

(i) Capital Conservation Buffer (Comprised of Common Equity) 25

(iii) Minimum Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio plus Capital Conservation Buffer 7.0
[()+(iD)]

(iv) Minimum Tier 1 Capital Ratio (Excluding Capital Conservation Buffer) 6.0

(V) Minimum Total Capital Ratio ( MTC) (Excluding Capital Conservation 8.5
Buffer)

(vi) Minimum Total Capital Ratio plus Capital Conservation Buffer 11.0

For the purpose of all prudential exposure limits linked to capital funds, the ‘capital
funds’ will exclude the applicable capital conservation buffer and countercyclical capital
buffer as and when activated, but include Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital. It
may be noted that the term ‘Common Equity Tier 1 capital’ does not include capital
conservation buffer and countercyclical capital buffer.

2.5 CAPITAL CONSERVATION BUFFER
A. Objective

1. The capital conservation buffer (CCB) is designed to ensure that banks build up capital buffers

2.

during normal times (i.e. outside periods of stress) which can be drawn down as losses are
incurred during a stressed period. The requirement is based on simple capital conservation rules
designed to avoid breaches of minimum capital requirements.

Outside the period of stress, banks should hold buffers of capital above the regulatory
minimum. When buffers have been drawn down, one way banks should look to rebuild them is
through reducing discretionary distributions of earnings. Banks may also choose to raise new
capital from the market as an alternative to conserving internally generated capital. However, if
a bank decides to make payments in excess of the constraints imposed as explained above, the
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bank, with the prior approval of NRB, would have to use the option of raising capital from the
market equal to the amount above the constraint which it wishes to distribute.

3. The capital conservation buffer can be drawn down only when a bank faces a systemic or

4.

idiosyncratic stress. A bank should not choose in normal times to operate in the buffer range
simply to compete with other banks and win market share. This aspect would be specifically
looked into by NRB during the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process. If, at any time, a
bank is found to have allowed its capital conservation buffer to fall in normal times, particularly
by increasing its risk weighted assets without a commensurate increase in the Common Equity
Tier 1 Ratio (although adhering to the restrictions on distributions), this would be viewed
seriously. In addition, such a bank will be required to bring the buffer to the desired level
within a time limit prescribed by NRB. The banks which draw down their capital conservation
buffer during a stressed period should also have a definite plan to replenish the buffer as part of
its Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process and strive to bring the buffer to the desired
level within a time limit agreed to with NRB during the Supervisory Review and Evaluation
Process.

The framework of capital conservation buffer will strengthen the ability of banks to withstand
adverse economic environment conditions, will help increase banking sector resilience both
going into a downturn, and provide the mechanism for rebuilding capital during the early stages
of economic recovery. Thus, by retaining a greater proportion of earnings during a downturn,
banks will be able to help ensure that capital remains available to support the ongoing business
operations / lending activities during the period of stress. Therefore, this framework is expected
to help reduce pro-cyclicality.

B. The Framework

5.

Banks are required to maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, comprised of Common
Equity Tier 1 capital, above the regulatory minimum total capital requirement of 8.50%. Banks
should not distribute its earnings and reserves in the form of cash or/and stock dividends in case
the capital falls below this level. However, they will be able to conduct business as normal
when their capital levels fall into the conservation range as they experience losses. Therefore,
the constraints imposed are related to the distributions only and are not related to the operations
of banks.

The Common Equity Tier 1 ratio includes amounts used to meet the minimum Common Equity
Tier 1 capital requirement of 4.5%, but excludes any additional Common Equity Tier 1 needed
to meet the 7% Tier 1 and 8.5% Total Capital requirements. For example, a bank maintains
Common Equity Tier 1 capital of 8.5% and has no Additional Tier 1 or Tier 2 capital.
Therefore, the bank would meet all minimum capital requirements, but would have a zero
conservation buffer and therefore, the bank would be subjected to 100% constraint on
distributions of capital by way of dividends, share-buybacks and discretionary bonuses.

The following represents other key aspects of the capital conservation buffer requirements:

(i) Elements subject to the restriction on distributions: Dividends and share buybacks,
discretionary payments on other Tier 1 capital instruments and discretionary bonus
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payments to staff would constitute items considered to be distributions. Payments which do
not result in depletion of Common Equity Tier 1 capital, (for example includes certain scrip
dividend) are not considered distributions.

(if) Definition of earnings: Earnings are defined as distributable profits before the deduction
of elements subject to the restriction on distributions mentioned at (i) above. Earnings are
calculated after the tax which would have been reported had none of the distributable items
been paid. As such, any tax impact of making such distributions are reversed out. If a bank
does not have positive earnings and has a Common Equity Tier 1 ratio less than 7%, it
should not make positive net distributions.

(iii) Additional supervisory discretion: Supervisors have the additional discretion to impose
time limits on banks operating within the buffer range on a case-by-case basis. In any case,
supervisors should ensure that the capital plans of banks seek to rebuild buffers over an
appropriate timeframe.

2.6 COUNTERCYCLICAL BUFFER

A. Introduction
1. Losses incurred in the banking sector can be extremely large when a downturn is preceded by a

period of excess credit growth. These losses can destabilise the banking sector and spark a
vicious circle, whereby problems in the financial system can contribute to a downturn in the
real economy that then feeds back on to the banking sector. These interactions highlight the
particular importance of the banking sector building up additional capital defences in periods
where the risks of system-wide stress are growing markedly.

2. The countercyclical buffer aims to ensure that banking sector capital requirements take account
of the macro-financial environment in which banks operate. The primary aim of the
countercyclical capital buffer requirement is to use a buffer of capital to achieve the broader
macroprudential goal of protecting the banking sector from periods of excess aggregate credit
growth that have often been associated with the build up of system-wide risk. Protecting the
banking sector in this context is not simply ensuring that individual banks remain solvent
through a period of stress, as the minimum capital requirement and capital conservation buffer
are together designed to fulfill this objective. Rather, the aim is to ensure that the banking
sector in aggregate has the capital on hand to help maintain the flow of credit in the economy
without its solvency being questioned, when the broader financial system experiences stress
after a period of excess credit growth. Therefore, excess aggregate credit growth is judged to be
associated with a build-up of system-wide risk to ensure the banking system has a buffer of
capital to protect it against future potential losses.

3. The countercyclical buffer regime consists of the following elements:

a) Nepal Rastra Bank will monitor credit growth and other indicators that may signal a
buildup of system-wide risk and make assessments of whether credit growth is excessive
and is leading to the buildup of system-wide risk. Based on this assessment Nepal Rastra
Bank will put in place a countercyclical buffer requirement when circumstances warrant.
This requirement will be released when system-wide risk crystallises or dissipates.
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b) The countercyclical buffer requirement to which a bank is subject will extend the size of
the capital conservation buffer. Banks will be subject to restrictions on distributions if they
do not meet the requirement.

B. Countercyclical buffer requirements

Nepal Rastra Bank has adopted the Credit to GDP ratio, macro-economic variable, as guide for
reference point for taking buffer decisions. Nepal Rastra Bank will monitor Credit to GDP
ratio at least annually and calculate Credit to GDP gap, i.e. the gap between Credit to GDP
ratio and its Trend. The intensity of Credit to GDP gap shall be the indication of the extent of
the buildup of system-wide risk i.e. If the credit-to-GDP ratio is significantly above its trend (ie
there is a large positive gap) then this is an indication that credit may have grown to excessive
levels relative to GDP. The Credit to GDP gap shall be calculated as follows:
Creditto GDP Gapy = Credit to GDP Ratiog— Trend,

The countercyclical buffer requirement will vary between zero and 2.5% of risk weighted
exposure , depending on the extent of the build up of system-wide risk. The credit to GDP gap
of 5 points shall be taken as cut off points of excess credit growth level. The increase by
additional 2.5 point of credit to GDP gap in excess of 5 point shall require buffer requirement
of 0.5% i.e. each increase in every 2.5 points in credit to GDP gap in excess of 5 points shall
require to raise the buffer requirement by each 0.5%. For this purpose trend is defined as
average of credit to GDP ratio of past 5 years. The following table shows the countercyclical
buffer requirement in case of excess credit growth:

Countercyclical Buffer Requirement

Credit to GDP Gap Buffer Requirement in Terms of CET 1
Up to 5 points 0%
above 5 to 7.5 points 0.5%
above 7.5 to 10 points 1.0%
above 10 to 12.5 points 1.5%
above 12.5 to 15 points 2.0%
above 15 points 2.5%

The banks are required to raise level of the buffer by up to 12 months, but shall be allowed to
decrease the level of the buffer with immediate effect. The bank, not being able to maintain the
countercyclical buffer requirement, shall not be allowed to distribute its earnings.

2.7 LEVERAGE RATIO
A. Rationale and Objective

One of the underlying features of the crisis was the build-up of excessive on- and off-balance
sheet leverage in the banking system. In many cases, banks built up excessive leverage while
still showing strong risk based capital ratios. During the most severe part of the crisis, the
banking sector was forced by the market to reduce its leverage in a manner that amplified
downward pressure on asset prices, further exacerbating the positive feedback loop between
losses, declines in bank capital, and contraction in credit availability. Therefore, under Basel
I11, a simple, transparent, non-risk based leverage ratio has been introduced. The leverage ratio
is calibrated to act as a credible supplementary measure to the risk based capital requirements.
The leverage ratio is intended to achieve the following objectives:
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b)

constrain the build-up of leverage in the banking sector, helping avoid destabilising
deleveraging processes which can damage the broader financial system and the economy;
and

reinforce the risk based requirements with a simple, non-risk based “backstop” measure.

Definition and Calculation of the Leverage Ratio

a)

b)

The provisions relating to leverage ratio are intended to serve as the basis for testing the
leverage ratio during the parallel run period. Banks are required to maintain minimum Tier
1 leverage ratio of 4% during the parallel run period from Mid July, 2016 to mid July,
2018. After the parallel run final leverage ratio requirement might be revised by NRB after
taking into account the prescriptions given by the Basel Committee.

The leverage ratio shall be maintained on a quarterly basis. The Leverage Ratio shall be
calculated as:

Leverage Ratio = Capital Measure
Exposure Measure

Capital Measure

a) The capital measure for the leverage ratio should be based on the definition of Tier 1
capital as set out in paragraph 2.1

b) Items that are deducted completely from capital do not contribute to leverage, and
should therefore also be deducted from the measure of exposure.

Exposure Measure

The exposure measure for the leverage ratio should generally follow the accounting
measure of exposure. In order to measure the exposure consistently with financial accounts,
the following should be applied by banks:

a) On-balance sheet, non-derivative exposures will be net of specific provisions and
valuation adjustments to the extent it is recognized on equity (e.g. fair value
adjustment and revaluation adjustment as per NFRS directly recognized on equity or
through other comprehensive income);

b) physical or financial collateral, guarantees or credit risk mitigation purchased is not
allowed to reduce on-balance sheet exposures; and

c) netting of loans and deposits is not allowed.

Component of Exposure Measure

(i) On-Balance Sheet Items

Banks should include all items of assets reported in their accounting balance sheet for the
purposes of calculation of the leverage ratio. In addition, the exposure measure should
include the following treatments for Securities Financing Transactions (e.g. repo and
reverse repo agreements, CBLO) and derivatives.

(if) Repurchase agreements and securities finance
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3.2

Securities Financing Transactions (SFTs) are a form of secured funding and therefore, an
important source of balance sheet leverage that should be included in the leverage ratio.
Therefore, banks should calculate SFT for the purposes of the leverage ratio by applying:

(a) the accounting measure of exposure; and
(b) without netting various long and short positions with the same counterparty.
(iii) Derivatives

Derivatives create two types of exposure: an “on-balance sheet” present value reflecting the
fair value of the contract (often zero at outset but subsequently positive or negative
depending on the performance of the contract), and a notional economic exposure
representing the underlying economic interest of the contract. Banks should calculate
exposure in respect of derivatives, including where a bank sells protection using a credit
derivative, for the purposes of the leverage ratio by applying:

(a) the accounting measure of exposure (positive Marked to Market (MTM) value) plus an
add-on for Potential Future Exposure (PFE) calculated according to the Current
Exposure Method; and

(b) without netting the MTM values and PFEs in respect of various long and short
positions with the same counterparty.

(iv) Other Off-Balance Sheet Items

Banks should calculate the off balance sheet items . These include commitments (including
liquidity facilities), unconditionally cancellable commitments, direct credit substitutes,
acceptances, standby letters of credit, trade letters of credit, failed transactions and
unsettled securities. The off balance sheet items are source of the potentially significant
leverage. Therefore, bank should calculate the above off balance sheet items for the
purposes of the leverage ratio by applying a uniform 100% credit conversion factor (CCF).

CREDIT RISK
GENERAL:

Credit risk is the major risk that banks are exposed to during the normal course of lending and
credit underwriting. There are two approaches for credit risk measurement: the standardized
approach and the internal ratings based (IRB) approach. Due to various inherent constraints of the
Nepalese banking system, the standardized approach in its simplified form, Simplified Standardized
Approach (SSA), has been prescribed in the initial phase.

SIMPLIFIED STANDARDIZED APPROACH (SSA):

In comparison to Basel 1, SSA aligns regulatory capital requirements more closely with the key
elements of banking risk by introducing a wider differentiation of risk weights and a wider
recognition of credit risk mitigation techniques. The advantage of implementing this approach is
twofold. This approach allows transitional advantage by avoiding excessive complexities associated
with the advanced approaches of Basel Il while at the same time it will produce capital ratios more
in line with the actual economic risks that banks are facing, compared to the present Accord.

Under this approach commercial banks are required to assign a risk weight to their balance sheet
and off-balance sheet exposures. These risk weights are based on a fixed weight that is broadly
aligned with the likelihood of a counterparty default. As a general rule, the claims that have already
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been deducted from the core capital shall be exempt from risk weights for the measurement of
credit risk.

Claims on foreign government, their central banks as well as foreign corporates shall be generally
risk-weighed on the basis of the consensus country risk scores of export credit agencies (ECA)*.
Wherever there are claims relating to unrated countries, they shall generally be risk weighed at 100
percent. However, these claims shall be subject to supervisory review and higher risk weight shall
be assigned where the review process is deemed appropriate.

All kinds of claims including loans & advances as well as investments shall be a risk weighed net
of specific provisions and valuation adjustments which are, directly or through other comprehensive
income, recognized on equity. Generally provision related to any receivable or investment is not
defined as general or specific. In such a situation, the total provision against any claim/exposure
(other than the loans and advances) shall be regarded as specific provision.

However, provisions eligible for the supplementary capital shall not be allowed for netting while
calculating risk weighted exposuresin case of loans, advances and bills purchased the provisions
created in lieu of Performing loans only are classified as General loan loss provision. All other
provisions are components of specific loan loss provision. Hence, general loan loss provision
doesn’t comprise provisions created in respect of rescheduled/restructured and non performing
loans. It also doesn’t include additional provisions created for personal guarantee loans or lending
in excess of Single Obligor Limits. However, provisions created in excess of the regulatory
requirements and not attributable to identifiable losses in any specific loans shall be allowed to be
included in the General Loan Loss Provision.

In order to be consistent with the Basel framework, the credit risk for the regulatory capital purpose
shall be computed by segregating the exposure in the following 11 categories:

a)  Claims on government & central bank
b)  Claims on other official entities
c¢)  Claims on banks
d)  Claims on corporate & securities firms
e)  Claims on regulatory retail portfolio
f)  Claims secured by residential properties
g)  Claims secured by commercial real state
h)  Past due claims
i) High risk claims
) Other assets
k)  Off balance sheet items

3.3 RISK MEASUREMENT AND RISK WEIGHTS:

a.  Claims on government & central bank

1. All claims on Government of Nepal and Nepal Rastra Bank shall be risk weighed at 0 %.

2. Claims on foreign government and their central banks shall be risk-weighted on the basis
of the consensus country risk scores as follows:

ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3 4t06 7

Risk weights 0% 20% 50% 100% 150%

b. Claims on other official entities

4 The consensus country risk classification is available on the OECD’s website (http://www.oecd.org) in the Export Credit
Arrangement web page of the Trade Directorate. Each bank while computing the risk weight in any claim should use the
updated risk score.
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1.  Claims on the Bank for International Settlements, the International Monetary Fund, the
European Central Bank and the European Community will receive a 0% risk weight.

2. Following Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs) will be eligible for a 0% risk
weight.

e World Bank Group, comprised of the International Bank for Reconstruction and

Development (IBRD) and the International Finance Corporation (IFC),

Asian Development Bank (ADB),

African Development Bank (AfDB),

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD),

Inter-American Development Bank (IADB),

European Investment Bank (EIB),

European Investment Fund (EIF),

Nordic Investment Bank (NIB),

Caribbean Development Bank (CDB),

Islamic Development Bank (IDB), and
e Council of Europe Development Bank (CEDB).

3. The standard risk weight for claims on other Multilateral Development Banks will be
100%.

4.  Claims on public sector entities (PSEs)®

i. Claims on domestic public sector entities:

The risk weight for claims on domestic pubic sector entities will be 100%.

ii. Claims on foreign public sector entities will be risk-weighed as per the ECA country

risk scores.
ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3to6 7
Risk weights 20% 50% 100% 150%

C. Claims on banks

1. All claims, irrespective of currency, excluding investment in equity shares and other
instruments eligible for capital funds, on domestic banks/financial institutions that
fulfill Capital Adequacy Requirements will be risk weighed at 20% while for the rest, it
will be 100%.

Banks should make use of the publicly available information of the immediately
preceding quarter of the respective banks to gauge their status on capital adequacy.

2. Claims on a foreign bank excluding investment in equity shares and other instruments
eligible for capital funds shall be risk weighed as per the ECA Country risk score
subject to the floor of 20%. The primary basis for applying the ECA Country Risk
score shall be the country of incorporation of the bank. Where the bank is a branch
office, the ECA score of the country where the corporate office is located shall be used
while in the case of a subsidiary the basis shall be the country where the subsidiary is
incorporated.

5 Public sector entity (PSE) is one, which is owned or controlled by government or any other entity categorized as PSE by

NRB.
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ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3to6 7

20% 50% 100% 150%

Risk weights

However, the claims on foreign banks incorporated in the SAARC region and China,
which operate with a buffer of 1% above their respective regulatory minimum capital
requirements may be risk weighed at 20%. The banks shall be responsible to submit
the latest capital adequacy position of such banks and demonstrate that they fulfill the
eligibility requirements. Such capital adequacy position submitted by the banks should
not be prior to one financial year. Moreover, such claims shall be subject to a
supervisory review and supervisors may require the bank to risk-weigh the claims on
ECA country risk scores where the review process is deemed necessary.

d. Claims on corporate & securities firms

1. Domestic corporate includes all firms and companies incorporated in Nepal as per
prevailing Acts and regulations. The claims on domestic corporate, including claims on
insurance companies and securities firm shall be risk weighed as per the credit rating
score provided by licensed credit rating agency subject to the floor of 50% as follows:

A A AA* A* .
Credit rating score equivalent to to to BBB Unrated
. ; & below
AA A
Risk weights 50% | 70% 80% | 100% | 100%

€.

2. The claims on foreign corporate shall be risk weighed as per the ECA Country risk
score subject to the floor of 20% as follows:
ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3to6 7
Risk weights 20% 50% 100% 150%

Claims on regulatory retail portfolio

1.

Claims® that qualify all criteria listed below may be considered as regulatory retail
portfolio and risk weighed at 75%, except for past due loans. Such claims however,
have to be in strict compliance with the Product paper developed by the bank and
approved by their respective board of directors

Criteria:

¢ COrientation criteria :- exposure is to an individual person or persons or to a small
business. Bank should obtain written declaration from the borrower to the effect
that their indebtedness is within the threshold across all banks and Fls..

e Product criteria :- The exposure takes the form of any of the following:
— Revolving credits and lines of credit, (including cash credit etc.)

— Term loans and leases (e.g. hire purchase (except personal), auto loans (except
personal), and leases, working capital term loans, educational loans) and,

— Small business facilities and commitments,

— Deprived sector loans up to a threshold of Rs.10 million (Ten Million only)

6

Lending against securities (such as equities and bonds) whether listed or not, are specifically excluded from this category.

Likewise credit card receivables are excluded from this category. However, lending against personal guarantee and fully
backed by guaranteed cash flow such as pension etc. that has negligible risk of failure can be included in this category.
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2.

e Granularity criteria:- NRB must be satisfied that the regulatory retail portfolio is
sufficiently diversified to a degree that reduces the risks in the portfolio, warranting
the 75% risk weight. No aggregate exposure’ to one counterpart can exceed 0.5 %
of the overall regulatory retail portfolio.

e Low value individual criteria :- The total aggregated exposure to one counterpart®
cannot exceed an absolute threshold of Rs.10 million (Nepalese Rupees Ten
Million only)

Banks which have claims that fulfill all criterion except for granularity may risk weigh
those claims at 100%

Claims secured by residential properties

1.

Lending to individuals meant for acquiring or developing residential property which
are fully secured by mortgages on residential property, that is or will be occupied by
the borrower or that is rented, will be risk-weighted at 60%. However, banks should
ensure the existence of adequate margin of security over the amount of loan based on
strict valuation rules.

Banks have to develop product paper and get it approved from the board of directors to
regulate this kind of lending. The claims in order to be eligible for this category have to
be in strict compliance with this product paper

Where the loan is not fully secured, such claims have to risk weighed at 150%

When claims secured by residential properties are or have been past due® at any point
of time during the last two years, they shall be risk-weighted at 100%, net of specific
provisions.

Claims secured by commercial real estate

1.

Claims secured by mortgages on commercial real estate, except past due, shall be risk-
weighed at 100%. Commercial real estate hereby refers to mortgage of Office
buildings, retail space, multi-purpose commercial premises, multi-family residential
buildings, multi-tenanted commercial premises, industrial or warehouse space, hotels,
and construction etc.

Past due claims
1.

Any loan, except for claim secured by residential property, which is or has been past
due at any point of time during the last two years, will be risk-weighted at 150% net of
specific provision.

High risk claims

1.
2.

150% risk weight shall be applied for venture capital and private equity investments.

Exposures on Personal loan in excess of the threshold of regulatory retail portfolio and
exposures on credit card shall warrant a risk weight of 150%.

Aggregated exposure means gross amount (i.e. not taking any credit risk mitigation into account) of all forms of credit
exposures availed from the bank .

Counterpart refers to one or a group of borrowers defined by the NRB directives as a single obligor.

An exposure is past due if it falls into any other category other than Performing loan as per provisions of NRB directive on
Loan classification.
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8.

Investments in the equity and other capital instruments of institutions, which are not
listed in the stock exchange and have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital, shall be
risk weighed at 150% net of provisions and valuation adjustments which are, directly or
through other comprehensive income, recognized on equity.

The claims which are not fully secured or are only backed up by personal guarantee
shall attract 150% risk weight.

Where loan cannot be segregated/or identified as regulatory retail portfolio or
qualifying residential mortgage loan or under other categories, it shall be risk weighed
at 150%.

Personal Overdraft Loans shall attract risk weight of 150%.

Real Estate loans for land acquisition and development shall attract risk weight of
150%. (Other than mentioned in Capital Adequacy framework 2015-point

3.3()(D)kK)
Lending against shares (above Rs. 5 Million) shall attract risk weight of 150%.

Other assets

1.

With regard to other assets, following provisions have been made;
a. Interest receivable/claim on government securities will be risk-weighed at 0%.

b.  Staff loan given as per Employee By-laws and secured by residential property,
that is or will be occupied by the staff or that is rented, will be risk-weighed at
50%. However, banks should ensure the existence of adequate margin of security
over the amount of loan based on strict valuation rules.

C. Investments in equity or regulatory capital instruments issued by securities firms
will be risk-weighed at 100% net of valuation adjustments which are, directly or
through other comprehensive income, recognized on equity.

d.  Cash in transit and other cash items in the process of collection will be risk-
weighed at 20%. For this purpose, cash items shall include Cheque and Draft.

e. Fictitious assets that have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital shall be risk
weighed at 100%.

f. Investments in the equity and other capital instruments of institutions, which are
listed in the stock exchange and have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital, shall
be risk weighed at 100% net of provisions and valuation adjustments which are,
directly or through other comprehensive income, recognized on equity.
Investments in mutual fund shall also be risk weighted at 100% net of valuation
adjustments as described above.

g.  All Other assets will be risk-weighed at 100% net of specific provision and
valuation adjustments which are, directly or through other comprehensive
income, recognized on equity.

h.  Lending against bonds shall attract risk weight of 100%.
1. Lending against shares (upto Rs. 5 Million) shall attract risk weight of 100%.
] Trust Receipt Loans for Trading Firms shall attract risk weight of 120 % .
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k. Real Estate loans for land acquisition and development shall attract risk
weight of 100%. (For institutions/projects registred/licensed and approved

by Government of Nepal for land acquisition and development purposes)

L Personal Hirepurchase/Personal Auto Loans (upto Rs. 2.5 Million) shall

attract risk weight of 100%.

m. Personal Hirepurchase/Personal Auto Loans (above Rs. 2.5 Million) shall

attract risk weight of 125%.

k. Off balance sheet items

1.  Off-balance sheet items under the simplified standardized approach will be converted
into equivalent risk weight exposure using risk weight as follows:
Off Balance Sheet Exposure Risk
Weight
Any commitments those are unconditionally cancelable at any time by the bank | 0%
without prior notice, or that effectively provide for automatic cancellation due to
deterioration in a borrower’s creditworthiness (for example bills under collection)
Forward exchange contracts. 10%
Short Term Trade-related contingencies 20%
Contingent liabilities arising from trade-related obligations, which are secured against
an underlying shipment of goods for both issuing and confirming bank and are short
term in nature. This includes documentary letters of credit, shipping guarantees issued
and any other trade-related contingencies with an original maturity up to six months.
Undertaking to provide a commitment on an off-balance sheet items 20%
Unsettled'® securities and foreign exchange transactions between bank to bank and | 20%
between bank and customer
Long term irrevocable Credit Commitments 50%
Any un-drawn portion of committed credit lines sanctioned for a period of more than 1
year.
Performance-related contingencies 40%
Contingent liabilities, which involve an irrevocable obligation to pay a third party in
the event that counterparty fails to fulfill or perform a contractual non-monetary
obligation, such as delivery of goods by a specified date etc. This includes issue of
performance bonds, bid bonds, warranties, indemnities, underwriting commitments and
standby letters of credit in relation to a non-monetary obligation of counterparty under
a particular transaction.
Short term irrevocable Credit Commitments 20%

Any un-drawn portion of committed credit lines sanctioned for a period of upto 1 year.
This shall include all unutilized limits in respect of revolving working capital loans e.g.
overdraft, cash credit, working capital loan etc. except for trade finance exposures.

10

An unsettled transaction is one where delivery of the instrument is due to take place against receipt of cash, but which
remain unsettled five business days after the due settlement date.
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Repurchase agreements, securities lending, securities borrowing, reverse repurchase | 100%
agreements and equivalent transactions

This includes sale and repurchase agreements and asset sales with recourse, where the
credit risk remains with the purchasing bank.

Direct credit substitutes 100%

Any irrevocable off-balance sheet obligations which carry the same credit risk as a
direct extension of credit, such as an undertaking to make a payment to a third party in
the event that a counterparty fails to meet a financial obligation or an undertaking to a
counterparty to acquire a potential claim on another party in the event of default by that
party, constitutes a direct credit substitute. This includes potential credit exposures
arising from the issue of financial guarantees and credit derivatives, confirmation of
letters of credit (acceptances and endorsements), issue of standby letters of credit
serving as financial guarantees for loans, securities and any other financial liabilities,
and bills endorsed under bill endorsement lines (but which are not accepted by, or have
the prior endorsement of, another bank).

Unpaid portion of partly paid shares and securities 100%
Unpaid Guarantee Claim 200%
Other Contingent Liabilities 100%

3.4 CREDIT RISK MITIGATION:

Banks may use a number of techniques to mitigate the risks to which they are exposed. The prime
objective of this provision is to encourage the banks to manage credit risk in a prudent and effective
manner. As such, credit risks exposures may be collateralized™ in whole or in part with cash or
securities, or a loan exposure may be guaranteed by a third party. Where these various techniques
meet the minimum conditions mentioned below, banks which take eligible financial collateral are
allowed to reduce their credit exposure to counterparty when calculating their capital requirements
to take account of the risk mitigating effect of the collateral. However, credit risk mitigation is
allowed only on an account by account basis, even within regulatory retail portfolio.

As a general rule, no secured claim should receive a higher capital requirement than an otherwise
identical claim on which there is no collateral. Similarly, the effects of the CRM shall not be double
counted and capital requirement will be applied to banks on either side of the collateralized
transaction: for example, both repos and reverse repos will be subject to capital requirements.

Those portions of claims collateralized by the market value of recognized collateral receive the risk
weight applicable to the collateral instrument. The remainder of the claim should be assigned the
risk weight appropriate to the counter party.

Where the same security has been pledged for both the funded and non funded facilities, banks
should clearly demarcate the value of security held for funded and non funded facilities. In cases
where the bank has obtained the same security for various forms of facilities; banks are eligible to
claim the CRM benefit across all such exposures upto the eligible value of CRM.

a. Minimum conditions for eligibility:

11 A collateralized transaction is one in which: a) banks have a credit exposure or potential credit exposure; and b) that credit
exposures or potential credit exposure is hedged in whole or in part by collateral posted by the counter party or by a third
party on behalf of the counter party.
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In order to obtain capital relief towards credit risk mitigation, there are certain basic
conditions that need to be fulfilled. Supervisors will monitor the extent to which banks satisfy
these conditions, both at the outset of a collateralized transaction and on an on-going basis.

1.

Legal certainty:- Collateral is effective only if the legal mechanism by which collateral
given is robust and ensures that the lender has clear rights over the collateral to
liquidate or retain it in the event of default. Thus, banks must take all necessary steps to
fulfill local contractual requirements in respect of the enforceability of security interest.
The collateral arrangements must be properly documented, with a clear and robust
procedure for the timely liquidation of collateral. A bank's procedures should ensure
that any legal conditions required for declaring the default of the customer and
liquidating the collateral are observed. Where the collateral is held by a custodian, the
bank must seek to ensure that the custodian ensures adequate segregation of the
collateral instruments and the custodian's own assets. Besides that, banks must obtain
legal opinions confirming the enforceability of the collateral arrangements in all
relevant jurisdictions.

Low correlation with exposure:- In order for collateral to provide protection, the credit
quality of the obligor and the value of the collateral must not have a material positive
correlation. For example, securities issued by the collateral provider - or by any related
group entity - would provide little protection and so would be ineligible.

Maturity Mismatch:- The maturity of the underlying exposure and the maturity of the
hedge should both be defined conservatively. The effective maturity of the underlying
should be gauged as the longest possible remaining time before the obligor is scheduled
to fulfill its obligation. The collateral must be pledged for at least the life of the
exposure. In case of mismatches in the maturity of the underlying exposure and the
collateral, it shall not be eligible for CRM benefits.

Currency Mismatch:- Ideally the currency of the underlying exposure and the collateral
should be the same. Where the credit exposure is denominated in a currency that differs
from that in which the underlying exposure is denominated, there is a currency
mismatch. Where mismatches occur, it shall be subject to supervisory haircut of 10%.

Risk Management:- While CRM reduces credit risk, it simultaneously may increase
other risks to which a bank is exposed, such as legal, operational, liquidity and market
risks. Therefore, it is imperative that banks employ robust procedures and processes to
control these risks, including strategy; consideration of the underlying credit; valuation;
policies and procedures; systems; control of roll-off risks; and management of
concentration risk arising from the bank's use of CRM techniques and its effect with the
bank's overall credit profile. In case where these requirements are not fulfilled, NRB
may not recognize the benefit of CRM techniques.

Qualifying criteria for guarantee:- A guarantee (counter guarantee) to be eligible must
represent a direct claim on the protection provider and must be explicitly referenced to
specific exposures or a pool of exposures, so that the extent of the cover is clearly
defined and irrefutable. Other than non-payment by a protection purchaser of money
due in respect of the credit protection contract it must be irrevocable in that there must
be no clause in the contract that would increase the effective cost of cover as a result of
deteriorating credit quality in the hedged exposure. It must also be unconditional in that
there should be no clause in the protection contract outside the control of the bank that
could prevent the protection provider from being obliged to pay out in a timely manner
in the event that the original counter party fails to make the payments due.
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On the qualifying default or non-payment of the counter party, the bank may in a
timely manner pursue the guarantor for any monies outstanding under the
documentation governing the transaction. The guarantor may make one lump sum
payment of all monies under such documentation to the bank, or the guarantor may
assume the future payment obligations of the counter party covered by the guarantee.
The bank must have the right to receive any such payments from the guarantor without
first having to take legal actions in order to pursue the counter party payment.

Eligible Collateral:

1.

~

o a0k~ w

Cash deposit (as well as certificates of deposit or fixed deposits or other deposits) with
the bank. The banks may only claim these as CRM only if it has specific authority to
recover the amount from this source in case of default.

Fixed Deposit Receipts/Certificates of deposits/other deposits of other Banks and Fls,
who fulfill the capital adequacy requirements, subject to a 20% supervisory haircut.

Gold.
Securities issued by the Government of Nepal and Nepal Rastra Bank.
Guarantee of the Government of Nepal

Financial guarantee/counter guarantee of domestic banks and FIs who meet the
minimum capital adequacy requirements subject to a haircut of 20%.

Securities/Financial guarantee/Counter guarantee issued by sovereigns.

Securities/Financial guarantee/Counter guarantee issued by MDBs in the list specified
in3.3b(3&4)

Securities/Financial guarantee/Counter guarantee issued by banks with ECA rating 2 or
better. The supervisory haircut shall be 20% and 50% for the banks with ECA rating of
0-1 and 2 respectively.

Methodology for using CRM

Step 1: Identify the accounts eligible for capital relief under credit risk mitigation.

Step 2: Assess the value of the exposure and the eligible collateral.

Step 3: Adjust the value of the eligible collateral in respect of the supervisory haircut in

terms of currency mismatch and other eligibility requirements.

Step 4: Compare the adjusted value of the collateral with the outstanding exposure.

Step 5: The value of the eligible CRM is the lower of the adjusted value of the collateral and

the outstanding exposure.

Step 6: Plot the eligible CRM in the appropriate category of credit risk.

The sum total of net amount of eligible CRM as per “Form No.4 Exhibit of claims with

eligible credit risk mitigants” shall be consistent with the “Form No.3 Eligible Credit Risk

Mitigants” prescribed in this framework.

OPERATIONAL RISK
GENERAL:

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate internal processes, people, and
systems, or from external events. Operational risk itself is not a new concept, and well run banks
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4.3

have been addressing it in their internal controls and corporate governance structures. However,
applying an explicit regulatory capital charge against operational risk is a relatively new and
evolving idea. Basel Il requires banks to hold capital against the risk of unexpected loss that could
arise from the failure of operational systems.

The most important types of operational risk involve breakdowns in internal controls and corporate
governance. Such breakdowns can lead to financial losses through error, fraud, or failure to perform
in a timely manner or cause the interests of the bank to be compromised in some other way, for
example, by its dealers, lending officers or other staff exceeding their authority or conducting
business in an unethical or risky manner. Other aspects of operational risk include major failure of
information technology systems or events such as major fires or other disasters.

BASIC INDICATOR APPROACH:

Under the basic indicator approach, banks must hold capital for operational risk equal to the
average over the previous three years of a fixed percentage (denoted alpha) of positive annual gross
income.

The capital charge for operational risk may be expressed as follows:
Keia =[Y.(Gln Xa)]l/N

where:
Kgia = capital charge under the Basic Indicator Approach
Gl = annual gross income, where positive, over the previous three years
N = number of the previous three years for which gross income is positive
o = 15 percent.

NRB shall review the capital requirement produced by this approach for general credibility,
especially in relation to a bank's peers and in the event that credibility is lacking, appropriate
supervisory action under Review Process shall be considered.

Figures for the year, in which annual gross income is negative or zero, should be excluded from
both the numerator and denominator while calculating the average. In case where the gross income
for all of the last three years is negative, 5% of total credit and investments net of specific
provisions shall be considered as the capital charge for operational risk. For this purpose
investments shall comprise of money at call, placements, investment in government securities and
other investments irrespective of currency.

Similarly, in case of new banks which have not completed a year of operation and whose average
gross income cannot be measured reliably, they shall also be required to compute their capital
charge for operational risk vide the same approach as prescribed for banks with negative gross
income. These banks may use the gross income approach from the second year onwards. But, based
on the reasonableness of the so computed capital charge for Operation Risk, during the first three
years of operation, review process may require additional proportion of capital charge if deemed
necessary.

GROSS INCOME:

Gross income is defined as "net Interest Income™ plus "non interest income". It is intended that this
measure should:

a. be gross of any provisions (e.g. for unpaid interest) and write-offs made during the year;
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b.  be gross of operating expenses, exclude reversal during the year in respect of provisions and
write-offs made during the previous year(s);

c.  exclude income/gain recognized from the disposal of items of movable and immovable
property;

d.  exclude realized profits/losses from the sale of securities in the “held to maturity” category;

e. exclude other extraordinary or irregular items of income and expenditure

Thus, for the purpose of capital adequacy requirements, gross income shall be summation of:

a.  Total operating income as disclosed in Profit and Loss account prepared as per NRB directive
no.4. The total operating income comprises of:

1. Net Interest Income
2. Commission and Discount Income
3. Other Operating Income
4. Exchange Fluctuation Income
b.  Addition/deduction in the Interest Suspense during the period.

Banks shall use the annual audited financials of the last three years for the computation of gross
income under this approach. Hence, the capital requirement for operational risk for a whole
financial year shall remain constant. Until the accounts are finalized for the financial year, banks
shall use the provisional figures for the period, which should be validated by the internal auditor of
the bank.

COMPUTATION OF RISK WEIGHT:

Operational risk-weighted assets are determined by multiplying the operational risk capital charge
by 9.09 and adding together with the risk weighted exposures for credit risk.

MARKET RISK
DEFINITION OF MARKET RISK:

Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions
arising from adverse movements in market prices. The major constituents of market risks are:

a.  The risks pertaining to interest rate related instruments;

b.  Foreign exchange risk (including gold positions) throughout the bank; and
c.  The risks pertaining to investment in equities and commodities.
SEGREGATION OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO:

Banks shall recognize measure, present and disclose the investment instruments as per the
requirement of NFRSs.

NET OPEN POSITION APPROACH:

Out of the various components of market risk, foreign exchange risk is the predominant risk in our
country. The effects of other forms of market risk are minimal. Thus, a net open position approach
has been devised to measure the capital requirement for market risk. As evidenced by its name, this
approach only addresses the risk of loss arising out of adverse movements in exchange rates. This
approach will be consolidated over time to incorporate other forms of market risks as they start to
gain prominence.
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The designated Net Open Position approach requires banks to allocate a fixed proportion of capital
in terms of its net open position. The banks should allocate 5 percentage of their net open positions
as capital charge for market risk.

NET OPEN POSITION:

Net open position is the difference between the assets and the liability in a currency. In other words,
it is the uncovered volume of asset or liability which is exposed to the changes in the exchange
rates of currencies. For capital adequacy requirements the net open position includes both net spot
positions as well as net forward positions.

For capital adequacy purposes, banks should calculate their net open position in the following
manner:

a.  Calculate the net open position in each of the foreign currencies.
b.  Convert the net open positions in each currency to NPR as per prevalent exchange rates.

c.  Aggregate the converted net open positions of all currencies, without paying attention to long
or short positions.

d.  This aggregate shall be the net open position of the bank.
COMPUTATION OF RISK WEIGHT:

Risk-weighted assets in respect of market risk are determined by multiplying the capital charges by
9.09 and adding together with the risk weighted exposures for credit risk.

REVIEW PROCESS
GENERAL:

The supervisory review process of the framework is intended not only to ensure that banks have
adequate capital to support all the risks in their business, but also to encourage banks to develop
and use better risk management techniques in monitoring and managing their risks. It is the
responsibility of the bank management in developing an internal capital assessment process and
setting capital targets that are commensurate with the bank’s risk profile and control environment
beyond the core minimum requirements.

Nepal Rastra Bank recognizes the significance of the relationship between the amount of capital
held by the bank against its risks and the strength and effectiveness of the bank’s risk management
and internal control processes. However, increased capital should not be viewed as the only option
for addressing increased risks confronting the bank. Other means for addressing risk, such as
strengthening risk management, applying internal limits, strengthening the level of provisions and
reserves, and improving internal controls, must also be considered. Furthermore, capital should not
be regarded as a substitute for addressing fundamentally inadequate control or risk management
processes.

There are three main areas that is particularly suited to treatment under this process: risks
considered under minimum capital requirements which are not fully captured it (e.g. credit
concentration risk); those factors not taken into account by the minimum capital requirements (e.g.
business and strategic risk); and factors external to the bank (e.g. business cycle effects).

In order to achieve the objectives of the supervisory review process, this process has been broadly
divided into three parts:

a. Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)
b.  Supervisory Review

c.  Supervisory Response
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Nepal Rastra Bank has issued INTERNAL CAPITAL ADEQUACY ASSESSMENT PROCESS
(ICAAP) GUIDELINE to provide detail guideline for ICAAP and Supervisory Review Process.
This guideline will also be a part of this framework.

INTERNAL CAPITAL ADEQUACY ASSESSMENT PROCESS:

The internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) is a comprehensive process which
requires board and senior management oversight, monitoring, reporting and internal control reviews
at regular intervals to ensure the alignment of regulatory capital requirement with the true risk
profile of the bank and thus ensure long-term safety and soundness of the bank. The key
components of an effective ICAAP are discussed below.

a.

Board and senior management oversight

Bank management is responsible for understanding the nature and level of risk being taken by
the bank and how this risk relates to adequate capital levels. It is also responsible for ensuring
that the formality and sophistication of the risk management processes is commensurate with
the complexity of its operations. A sound risk management process, thus, is the foundation
for an effective assessment of the adequacy of a bank’s capital position.

The board of directors of the bank are responsible for setting the bank’s tolerance for risks.
The board should also ensure that management establishes a mechanism for assessing various
risks; develops a system to relate these risks to the bank’s capital level and sets up a method
for monitoring compliance with internal policies. It is equally important that the board instills
strong internal controls and thereby an effective control environment through adoption of
written policies and procedures and ensures that the policies and procedures are effectively
communicated throughout the bank.

The analysis of a bank’s current and future capital requirements in relation to its strategic
objectives is a vital element of the strategic planning process. The strategic plan should
clearly outline the bank’s capital needs, anticipated capital expenditures, desirable capital
level, and external capital sources. Senior management and the board should view capital
planning as a crucial element in being able to achieve its desired strategic objectives.

Sound capital assessment

Another crucial component of an effective ICAAP is the assessment of capital. In order to be
able to make a sound capital assessment the bank should, at minimum, have the following:

e Policies and procedures designed to ensure that the bank identifies, measures, and reports
all material risks;

e A process that relates capital to the level of risk;

e A process that states capital adequacy goals with respect to risk, taking account of the
bank’s strategic focus and business plan; and

e A process of internal control, reviews and audit to ensure the integrity of the overall
management process.

Comprehensive assessment of risks

All material risks faced by the bank should be addressed in the capital assessment process.
Nepal Rastra Bank recognizes that not all risks can be measured precisely. However, bank
should develop a process to estimate risks with reasonable certainties. In order to make a
comprehensive assessment of risks, the process should, at minimum, address the following
forms of risk.
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Credit risk: Banks should have methodologies that enable them to assess the credit risk
involved in exposures to individual borrowers or counterparties as well as at the
portfolio level. The credit review assessment of capital adequacy, at a minimum,
should cover risk rating systems, portfolio analysis/aggregation, large exposures and
risk concentrations.

Internal risk ratings are an important tool in monitoring credit risk. Internal risk ratings
should be adequate to support the identification and measurement of risk from all credit
exposures, and should be integrated into an institution’s overall analysis of credit risk
and capital adequacy. The ratings system should provide detailed ratings for all assets,
not only for problem assets.

Credit concentration risk: Risk concentrations are arguably the single most important
cause of major problems in banks. A risk concentration is any single exposure or group
of exposures with the potential to produce losses large enough (relative to a bank’s
capital, total assets, or overall risk level) to threaten a bank’s health or ability to
maintain its core operations.

Lending being the primary activity of most banks, credit risk concentrations are often
the most material risk concentrations within a bank. However, risk concentrations can
arise in a bank’s assets, liabilities, or off-balance sheet items, through the execution or
processing of transactions (either product or service), or through a combination of
exposures across these broad categories. Credit risk concentrations are based on
common or correlated risk factors, which, in times of stress, have an adverse effect on
the creditworthiness of each of the individual counterparties making up the
concentration.

Such credit concentrations are not addressed in the minimum capital requirements for
credit risk. Thus, banks should have in place effective internal policies, systems and
controls to identify, measure, monitor, and control their credit risk concentrations.
Banks should explicitly consider the extent of their credit risk concentrations in their
assessment of capital adequacy under review processes. These policies should cover the
different forms of credit risk concentrations to which a bank may be exposed to. Such
concentrations include but are not limited to:

e Significant exposures to an individual counterparty or group of related
counterparty. Banks might also establish an aggregate limit for the management
and control of all of its large exposures as a group;

e Credit exposures to counterparties in the same economic sector or geographic
region;

¢ Credit exposures to counterparties whose financial performance is dependent on the
same activity or commodity; and

e Indirect credit exposures arising from a bank’s CRM activities (e.g. exposure to a
similar type of collateral or credit protection provided by a single counterparty or
same collateral in cases of multiple banking).

A bank’s framework for managing credit risk concentrations should be clearly
documented and should include a definition of the credit risk concentrations relevant to
the bank and how these concentrations and their corresponding limits are calculated.
Limits should be defined in relation to a bank’s capital, total assets or, where adequate
measures exist, its overall risk level. A bank’s management should conduct periodic
stress tests of its major credit risk concentrations and review the results of those tests to
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identify and respond to potential changes in market conditions that could adversely
impact the bank’s performance.

3. Operational risk: The failure to properly manage operational risk can result in a
misstatement of an institution’s risk/return profile and expose the institution to
significant losses. Gross income, used in the Basic Indicator Approach is only a proxy
for the scale of operational risk exposure of a bank and can in some cases
underestimate the need for capital. Thus, Banks should develop a framework for
managing operational risk and evaluate the adequacy of capital as prescribed by this
framework. The framework should cover the bank’s appetite and tolerance for
operational risk, as specified through the policies for managing this risk, including the
extent and manner in which operational risk is transferred outside the bank. It should
also include policies outlining the bank’s approach to identifying, assessing, monitoring
and controlling/mitigating the risk.

4. Market risk: The prescribed approach for the computation of capital charge for market
risk is very simple and thus may not be directly aligned with the magnitude of risk.
Likewise, the approach only incorporates risks arising out of adverse movements in
exchange rates while ignoring other forms of risks like interest rate risk and equity
risks. Thus, banks should develop a framework that addresses these various forms of
risk and at the same time perform stress tests to evaluate the adequacy of capital.

The use of internal models by the bank for the measurement of market risk is highly
encouraged. Wherever bank's make use of internal models for computation of capital
charge for market risks, bank management should ensure the adequacy and
completeness of the system regardless of the type and level of complexity of the
measurement system as the quality and reliability of the measurement system is largely
dependent on the quality of the data and various assumptions used in the model.

5. Liquidity risk: Liquidity is crucial to the ongoing viability of any financial institution.
The capital positions can have a telling effect on institution’s ability to obtain liquidity,
especially in a crisis. Each bank must have adequate systems for measuring, monitoring
and controlling liquidity risk. Banks should evaluate the adequacy of capital given their
own liquidity profile and the liquidity of the markets in which they operate. Banks are
also encouraged to make use of stress testing to determine their liquidity needs and the
adequacy of capital.

6.  Other risks: Although the ‘other’ risks, such as reputational and strategic risk, are not
easily measurable, banks are expected to take these into consideration as well while
deciding on the level of capital.

Monitoring and reporting

The bank should establish an adequate system for monitoring and reporting risk exposures
and assessing how the bank’s changing risk profile affects the need for capital. The bank’s
senior management or board of directors should, on a regular basis, receive reports on the
bank’s risk profile and capital needs. These reports should allow senior management to:

o Evaluate the level and trend of material risks and their effect on capital levels;

o Evaluate the sensitivity and reasonableness of key assumptions used in the capital
assessment measurement system;

e Determine that the bank holds sufficient capital against the various risks and is in
compliance with established capital adequacy goals; and
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e Assess its future capital requirements based on the bank’s reported risk profile and make
necessary adjustments to the bank’s strategic plan accordingly.

Internal control review

A bank’s internal control structure is essential to a sound capital assessment process.
Effective control of the capital assessment process includes an independent review and,
where appropriate, the involvement of internal or external audits. The bank’s board of
directors has a responsibility to ensure that management establishes a system for assessing the
various risks, develops a system to relate risk to the bank’s capital level, and establishes a
method for monitoring compliance with internal policies. The board should regularly verify
whether its system of internal controls is adequate to ensure well-ordered and prudent
conduct of business.

The bank should conduct periodic reviews of its risk management process to ensure its
integrity, accuracy, and reasonableness. Key areas that should be reviewed include:

e Appropriateness of the bank’s capital assessment process given the nature, scope and
complexity of its activities;

¢ Identification of large exposures and risk concentrations;
e Accuracy and completeness of data inputs into the bank’s assessment process;
e Reasonableness and validity of scenarios used in the assessment process; and

e  Stress testing and analysis of assumptions and inputs.

SUPERVISORY REVIEW:

Nepal Rastra Bank shall regularly review the process by which a bank assesses its capital adequacy,
risk positions, resulting capital levels, and quality of capital held by a bank. Supervisors shall also
evaluate the degree to which a bank has in place a sound internal process to assess capital
adequacy. The emphasis of the review should be on the quality of the bank’s risk management and
controls and should not result in supervisors functioning as bank management. The periodic review
can involve any or a combination of:

On-site examinations or inspections;
Off-site review;
Discussions with bank management;

Review of work done by external auditors (provided it is adequately focused on the necessary
capital issues); and

Periodic reporting.

Some of the key areas which will be reviewed during the supervisory review process are discussed
hereunder

a.

Review of adequacy of risk assessment

NRB shall assess the degree to which internal targets and processes incorporate the full range
of material risks faced by the bank. Supervisors shall also review the adequacy of risk
measures used in assessing internal capital adequacy and the extent to which these risk
measures are also used operationally in setting limits, evaluating business line performance,
and evaluating and controlling risks more generally. Supervisors shall consider the results of
sensitivity analyses and stress tests conducted by the institution and how these results relate
to capital plans.
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Assessment of capital adequacy

NRB shall review the bank’s processes to determine that:

e Target levels of capital chosen are comprehensive and relevant to the current operating
environment;

e These levels are properly monitored and reviewed by senior management; and
e The composition of capital is appropriate for the nature and scale of the bank’s business.

NRB shall also consider the extent to which the bank has provided for unexpected events in
setting its capital levels. This analysis should cover a wide range of external conditions and
scenarios, and the sophistication of techniques and stress tests used should be commensurate
with the bank’s activities.

Assessment of the control environment

NRB shall consider the quality of the bank’s management information reporting and systems,
the manner in which business risks and activities are aggregated, and management’s record in
responding to emerging or changing risks. In all instances, the capital level at an individual
bank should be determined according to the bank’s risk profile and adequacy of its risk
management process and internal controls. External factors such as business cycle effects and
the macroeconomic environment should also be considered.

Supervisory review of compliance with minimum standards

In order to obtain relief as per this framework banks are required to observe a number of
requirements, including risk management standards and disclosures. In particular, banks will
be required to disclose features of their internal methodologies used in calculating minimum
capital requirements. As part of the supervisory review process, supervisors must ensure that
these conditions are being met on an ongoing basis. Likewise, the supervisors must ensure
that qualifying criteria as specified in the framework are continuously being met as these
criteria are developed as benchmarks that are aligned with bank management expectations for
effective risk management and capital allocation.

Significance of risk transfer

Securitization or credit sale agreements with recourse may be carried out for purposes other
than credit risk transfer (e.g. funding). Where this is the case, there might still be a limited
transfer of credit risk. However, for an originating bank to achieve reductions in capital
requirements, the risk transfer arising from a securitization or credit sale has to be deemed
significant by the NRB. If the risk transfer is considered to be insufficient or non existent,
NRB can require the application of a higher capital requirement or, alternatively, may deny a
bank from obtaining any capital relief from the securitization or transfer agreements.
Therefore, the capital relief that can be achieved will correspond to the amount of credit risk
that is effectively transferred.

Credit Risk Mitigants

In case when the eligibility requirements are not fulfilled, NRB will not consider Credit Risk
Mitigants in allocating capital. Similarly, CRM may give rise to residual risks, which may
render the overall risk reduction less effective. Where, these risks are not adequately
controlled by the bank, NRB may impose additional capital charges or take other appropriate
supervisory actions.

Operational risk and Market Risk
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The framework prescribes simple approaches for allocating capital for operational and market
risk which may not be directly aligned with the volume and complexity of risk. Thus, the
supervisor shall consider whether the capital requirements generated by the prescribed
approaches gives a consistent picture of the individual bank's risk exposure in comparison
with the peer group and the banking industry at large. Where NRB is convinced such is not
the case, appropriate supervisory response is warranted.

Market Discipline

The framework requires banks to disclose various key informations about their business on a
periodic basis. It is imperative that the banks discharge their obligations under the disclosure
requirements in order to be eligible to claim benefits of CRM. In line with the utmost
significance of this requirement, the supervisor shall review the adequacy of the disclosures.
As a part of this process itself, the supervisor shall regularly review the website of the banks
and review the contents of the site. Wherever the review process identifies any shortcomings
or non-compliances, appropriate supervisory response shall be initiated.

6.4 SUPERVISORY RESPONSE:

Nepal Rastra Bank expects banks to operate above the minimum regulatory capital ratios.
Wherever, NRB is not convinced about the risk management practices and the control environment,
it has the authority to require banks to hold capital in excess of the minimum.

a.

Supervisory adjustments in risk weighted assets and capital

Having carried out the review process as described above, supervisors should take
appropriate action if they are not satisfied with the results of the bank’s own risk assessment
and capital allocation. In such a scenario, NRB shall be empowered to undertake any or
combination of the following adjustments in the banks risk weighted assets and regulatory
capital computations.

1. Shortfall in provisions made by the bank against adversely classified assets shall be
deducted from the Tier 1 capital.

2. The loans and facilities extended to Directors, Employees (other than loans given under
Employee rules), Shareholders holding more than 1% percent shares and related parties
as well as loans, advances and facilities restricted by the prevailing rules and
regulations shall be deducted from Tier 1 capital.

3. In case the bank has provided loans and facilities in excess of its Single Obligor Limits,
10% of all such excess exposures shall be added to the risk weighted exposure for
credit risk.

4. Where the bank has been involved in the sale of credit with recourse facility, 1% of the
contract (sale) value shall be added to the risk weight for credit risk.

5. Where the banks do not have satisfactory Assets Liability Management policies and
practices to effectively manage the market risks, an additional risk weight of 1% of Net
Interest Income of the immediate previous financial year shall be added to the risk
weight for market risk

Where the Net Interest Income of the immediate previous financial year is negative, 1%
of the total credit and investments net of specific provisions shall be the capital charge
for unsatisfactory ALM policies and practices.

6.  Where the bank's net liquid asset to total deposit ratio is less than 20%, a risk weight of
1% (as given in the table below) of total deposit, for each percent or portion of percent
shortfall in such ratio, is added to total of the Risk Weighted Exposures.

gug ‘g@” 35



10.

11.

Net liquid asset to total deposit| A risk weight to be added to the Risk Weighted
ratio Exposures

19% - less than 20% 1% of total deposit

18% - less than 19% 2% of total deposit

17% - less than 18% 3% of total deposit

16% - less than 17% 4% of total deposit

15% - less than 16% 5% of total deposit and so on.

For this purpose, liquid assets include cash and bank balances, money at call & short
notice, placement up to 90 days and investment in government securities. Borrowings
repayable up to 90 days is deducted from liquid assets to obtain net liquid assets.

Where the banks do not adopt sound practices for the management of operational risk,
an additional capital charge of 2% to 5% of Gross Income of Immediate previous
financial year shall be levied for operational risks.

Where the Gross Income determined for computation of capital charge of Operational
Risk for all of the last three years is negative and where the banks themselves have not
addressed the capital charge for operational risk, 5% of the total credit and investments
net of specific provisions shall be the capital charge for operational risk.

New banks who have not completed a year of operation and hence whose gross income
cannot be measured reliably and where the banks themselves have not addressed the
capital charge for operational risk, shall also be required to compute their capital charge
for operational risk vide the same approach as prescribed for banks with negative gross
income. These banks may use the gross income approach from the second year
onwards. But, based on the reasonableness of the so- computed capital charge for
Operation Risk, during the first three years of operation, review process may require
additional proportion of capital charge.

During the course of review, where the supervisor is not satisfied with the overall risk
management policies and procedures of the bank, the total risk weighted exposures of
the bank shall be increased up to 5%.

In case the bank has not achieved the desired level of disclosure requirements, the total
risk weighted exposures of the bank shall be increased up to 3%.

Banks that do not meet the eligibility requirements to claim the benefit under credit risk
mitigation techniques shall not be allowed the benefit of CRM.

Corrective Actions for Non-Compliances

1.

The failure on part of the banks to meet the provisions of this framework shall be
considered as a violation of the NRB directives and shall attract stipulated actions. The
nature of the enforcement action largely depends on degree of the capital adequacy of
the bank. The trigger points and the prescribed action in case of non-compliance shall
be as per the provisions of Prompt Corrective Action Byelaw 2074 propounded by
Nepal Rastra Bank.

DISCLOSURE
GENERAL:

The purpose of disclosure requirements is to complement the minimum capital requirements and
the review process by developing a set of disclosure requirements which will allow market
participants to assess key pieces of information on the scope of application, capital, risk exposures,
risk assessment processes, and hence the capital adequacy of the bank. It is believed that providing
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7.2

7.3

1.4

disclosures that are based on a common framework is an effective means of informing the market
about a bank’s exposure to those risks and provides a consistent and comprehensive disclosure
framework that enhances comparability. The importance of disclosure is more pronounced in cases
of banks that rely on internal methodologies in assessing capital requirements.

DISCLOSURE PRINCIPLES:

Banks should have a formal disclosure policy approved by the Board of directors that addresses the
bank’s approach for determining what disclosures it will make and the internal controls over the
disclosure process. In addition, banks should implement a process for assessing the appropriateness
of their disclosures, including validation and frequency. While deciding on the disclosure policy,
the board should pay due attention to strike a balance between materiality and proprietary and
confidential information.

a. Materiality

Besides the minimum prescribed disclosure requirements, a bank should decide which
additional disclosures are relevant for it based on the materiality concept. Information would
be regarded as material if its omission or misstatement could change or influence the
assessment or decision of a user relying on that information for the purpose of making
economic decisions.

b. Proprietary and confidential information

Proprietary information encompasses information (for example on products or systems), that
if shared with competitors would render a bank’s investment in these products/systems less
valuable, and hence would undermine its competitive position. Information about customers
is often confidential, in that it is provided under the terms of a legal agreement or
counterparty relationship. This has an impact on what banks should reveal in terms of
information about their customer base, as well as details on their internal arrangements, for
instance methodologies used, parameter estimates, data etc. The disclosure requirements set
out below by NRB aims to strike an appropriate balance between the need for meaningful
disclosure and the protection of proprietary and confidential information.

VALIDATION:

The disclosures of the bank should be subjected to adequate validation. In addition, supplementary
material (such as Management’s Discussion and Analysis) that is published should also be
subjected to sufficient scrutiny (e.g. internal control assessments, etc.) to satisfy the validation
issue. If material is not published under a validation regime, for instance in a stand alone report or
as a section on a website, then management should ensure that appropriate verification of the
information takes place, in accordance with the general disclosure principles.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS:

Banks should at minimum, disclose the following information at the stipulated time intervals. At
the same time, banks shall be free to disclose any other information they consider important for its
stakeholders as and when they consider necessary, beyond the prescribed requirements.

a. Banks should provide the following disclosures as at the end of each financial year along with
the annual financial statements.

1.  Capital structure and capital adequacy
o Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components;

o Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components;
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Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with information on the
outstanding amount, maturity, amount raised during the year and amount eligible to
be reckoned as capital funds.

Deductions from capital;
Total qualifying capital;
Capital adequacy ratio;

Summary of the bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of its capital to
support current and future activities, if applicable; and

Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital instruments,
especially in case of subordinated term debts including hybrid capital instruments.

2.  Risk exposures

O

@)

@)

O 0O O O O

Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational Risk;
Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 11 categories of Credit Risk;

Total risk weighted exposure calculation table;

Amount of NPAs (both Gross and Net)

» Restructure/Reschedule Loan

» Substandard Loan

» Doubtful Loan

» Loss Loan

NPA ratios

» Gross NPA to gross advances

» Net NPA to net advances

Movement of Non Performing Assets

Write off of Loans and Interest Suspense

Movements in Loan Loss Provisions and Interest Suspense

Details of additional Loan Loss Provisions

Segregation of investment portfolio into Held for trading, Held to maturity and
Available for sale category

3. Risk Management Function

O

O

For each separate risk area (Credit, Market and Operational risk), banks must
describe their risk management objectives and policies, including:

» Strategies and processes;

» The structure and organization of the relevant risk management function;
» The scope and nature of risk reporting and/or measurement systems; and
>

Policies for hedging and/or mitigating risk and strategies, and processes for
monitoring the continuing effectiveness of hedges/mitigants.

Types of eligible credit risk mitigants used and the benefits availed under CRM.

b.  All commercial banks should make following disclosures on a quarterly basis on their
respective websites.
o Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components;
o Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components;

.@-U_E'; (l@-” Xq



o Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with information on the

outstanding amount, maturity, amount raised during the year and amount eligible to be

reckoned as capital funds.

Deductions from capital;

Total qualifying capital;

Capital adequacy ratio;

Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational Risk;

Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 11 categories of Credit Risk;

Total risk weighted exposure calculation table;

Amount of NPAs (both Gross and Net)

» Restructure/Reschedule Loan

» Substandard Loan

» Doubtful Loan

» Loss Loan

o NPA ratios

» Gross NPA to gross advances

» Net NPA to net advances

Movement of Non Performing Assets

Write off of Loans and Interest Suspense

Movements in Loan Loss Provisions and Interest Suspense

Details of Additional Loan Loss Provisions

Segregation of investment portfolio into Held for trading, Held to maturity and Available

for sale category

o Summary of the bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of its capital to support
current and future activities, if applicable; and

o Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital instruments, especially
in case of subordinated term debts including hybrid capital instruments.

Disclosure requirements under this framework should also be published in the respective

websites of the banks. Such disclosures of the banks should also be updated to reflect the

capital adequacy position of the banks after the supervisory adjustments under the review

process. Banks that do not host a website yet are required to make the necessary

arrangements to host a website immediately.

Banks are required to report to NRB their capital adequacy computations, according to the

format as specified in Annexure of this framework on a monthly basis within one month after

the end of the month or as required by NRB from time to time. All such returns has to be

validated by the internal auditor of the bank. If the monthly internal audit couldnot be carried

out, it should be disclosed on the monthly returns. But, such returns at the end of the quarter

must be submitted with the validation from the internal auditor of the bank.

O O 0O O O O O

O O O O O

Besides the returns specified above, a bank must inform NRB within 30 days of:

1. Any breach of the minimum capital adequacy requirements set out in this framework
together with an explanation of the reasons for the breach and the remedial measures it
has taken to address those breaches.

2. Any concerns it has about its capital adequacy, along with proposed measures to address
these concerns.
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e. Full compliance of these disclosure requirements is a pre-requisite before banks can obtain
any capital relief (i.e., adjustments in the risk weights of collateralized or guaranteed
exposures) in respect of any credit risk mitigation techniques.

FORM NO. 1 CAPITAL ADEQUACY TABLE (Summary)

(Rs.n .....)
Particulars Current Period Previous Period
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Tier 1 Capital
Tier 2 Capital
Total Capital

Risk-Weighted Exposures

Regulatory Ratios

Current Period

Previous Period

Leverage Ratio

Common Equity Tier 1 to Risk Weighted Exposure Ratio

Tier 1 to Risk Weighted Exposure Ratio

Total Capital to Risk Weighted Exposure Ratio

FORM NO. 1A CAPITAL ADEQUACY TABLE

(Rs.In .....)
1. 1 Risk Weighted Exposures Current Period Ereylous
eriod
a Risk Weighted Exposure for Credit Risk
b Risk Weighted Exposure for Operational Risk
c Risk Weighted Exposure for Market Risk
Adjustments under Pillar 11
Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (5)
Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (6)
Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (7)
Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (9)
Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (10)
Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After Bank's adjustments of Pillar I1)
1.2 CAPITAL Current Period | Frevious
Period
Tier 1 Capital (Core Capital) (CET1 +AT1) 0 0
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) 0 0

Paid up Equity Share Capital

Equity Share Premium

Proposed Bonus Equity Shares

Statutory General Reserves

Retained Earnings

Un-audited current year cumulative profit/(Loss)

Capital Redemption Reserve

Capital Adjustment Reserve

Debenture Redemption Reserve

Dividend Equalization Reserves

xM|—|T|la || |alo ||

Bargain purchase gain

gUe ‘g’ ¥3




Other Free Reserve

Less: Goodwill

Less: Intangible Assets

Less: Fictitious Assets

Less: Investment in equity in licensed Financial Institutions

Less: Investment in equity of institutions with financial interests

Less: Investment in equity of institutions in excess of limits

Less: Investments arising out of underwriting commitments

Less: Reciprocal crossholdings

Less: Purchase of land & building in excess of limit & unutilized

Less: Cash Flow Hedge

Less: Defined Benefit Pension Assets

Less: Un recognized Defined Benefit Pension Liabilities

Less: Negative balance of reserve accounts

N\<><§<C""U)“_Q'C5033_

Less: Other Deductions

Adjustments under Pillar 11
Less: Shortfall in Provision (6.4 a 1)

Less: Loans and Facilities extended to Related Parties and
Restricted lending

Additional Tier 1 (AT1)

a Perpetual Non-Cumulative Preference Share Capital

b Perpetual Debt Instruments

c Stock Premium

Supplementary Capital (Tier I1) 0 0
a Cumulative and/or Redeemable Preference Share

b Subordinated Term Debt

C Hybrid Capital Instruments

d Stock Premium

e General loan loss provision

f Exchange Equalization Reserve

g Investment Adjustment Reserve

h Other Reserves

Total Capital Fund (Tier | and Tier 1) 0 0
1.3 CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS Current Period ig‘?}gg”s

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After
Bank's adjustments of Pillar I1)

Tier 1 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After Bank's
adjustments of Pillar I1)

Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After Bank's
adjustments of Pillar I1)

«*The balance of employee training and capacity development fund, Corporate Social Responsibilty Fund,
Regulatory Reserve and other funds that are restricted for distribution and Fair Value Reserve, Actuarial Loss
(positive figure from OCI) should not be included in Other Free Reserve

*FHATY TAAT AT P, WA AHITF I i, e srer s fFfaa sirer aar Fair Value
Reserve, Actuarial Loss #1 &FTcH®E (W S OC| a1 fafvfa SireT dofrepresr Jwmerer a1 argw & |

Note: this table should be based on the figures as reported in financial statements, as per applicable
reporting standards.
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FORM NO. 2: RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR CREDIT RISK

(Rs.An .....)
Specific
Provision
Book & - . Risk
. | Eligibl Net Risk )
Valu | Valuatio ; Weighted
A. Balance Sheet Exposures o n e CRM| Value |Weight Exposures
Adjustm
ent
a b c d=a-b-c e f=d*e
Cash Balance 0 0 0 0% 0
Balance With Nepal Rastra Bank 0 0 0 0% 0
Gold 0 0 0 0% 0
Investment in Nepalese Government Securities | 0 0 0 0% 0
All Claims on Government of Nepal 0 0 0 0% 0
Investment in Nepal Rastra Bank securities 0 0 0 0% 0
All claims on Nepal Rastra Bank 0 0 0 0% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA -2) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA -3) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA-4-6) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA -7) 0 0 0 0 150% 0
Claims On BIS, IMF, ECB, EC and on
Multilateral Development Banks (MDB's) | 0 0 0 0% 0
recognized by the framework
Claims on Other Multilateral Development 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Banks
Claims on Domestic Public Sector Entity 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 7) 0 0 0 0 150% 0
Claims on domestlc banks that meet capital 0 0 0 0 20% 0
adequacy requirements
Cla!ms on domestic _banks that do not meet 0 0 0 0 100% 0
capital adequacy requirements
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% 0
Claims on foreign bank incorporated in
SAARC region and China operating with a| 0 0 0 0 20% 0

buffer of 1% above their respective regulatory
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Claims on Domestic Corporate (Credit rating o

Score equivalent to AAA) 0 0 0 0 S0% 0
Claims on Domestic Corporate(Credit rating 0

Score equivalentto AA+to AA-) 0 0 0 0 0% 0
Claims on Domestic Corporate(Credit rating 0

Score equivalentto A+ to A- ) 0 0 0 0 80% 0
Claims on Domestic Corporate(Credit rating 0

Score equivalent to BBB* & below) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Claims on Domestic Corporate (Unrated) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 7) 0 0 0 0 150% 0
Regulatory Retail Portfolio (Not Overdue) 0 0 0 0 75% 0
Clal_ms fulfilling aII_ criterion of regulatory 0 0 0 0 100% 0
retail except granularity

Claims secured by residential properties 0 0 0 0 60% 0
Clalms_ not fully secured by residential 0 0 0 0 150% 0
properties

Claims secured by residential properties 0 0 0 0 100% 0
(Overdue)

Claims secured by Commercial real estate 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Pas_t dug claims (gxcept for claim secured by 0 0 0 0 150% 0
residential properties)

High Risk claims 0 0 0 0 150% 0
Lending against securities (bonds) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Lending against Shares (upto Rs.5 Million) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Trust Receipt Loans for Trading Firms 0 0 0 0 120% 0
Real Estate loans for land acquisition and

development (for institutions

registred/licensed and approved by | O 0 0 0 100% 0
Government of Nepal for land acquisition

and development purposes)

Personal  Hirepurchase/Personal  Auto o

Loans (upto Rs. 2.5 Million) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
Personal  Hirepurchase/Personal  Auto

Loans (above Rs. 2.5 0 0 0 0 125% 0
Million)

Investments in equity and other capital

instruments of institutions listed in the stock | 0 0 0 0 100% 0
exchange

Investments in equity and other capital

instruments of institutions not listed in the | 0 0 0 0 150% 0
stock exchange

Staff loan secured by residential property 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Intere_sf[ Receivable/claim on government 0 0 0 0 0% 0
securities
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Cash in transit e_lnd other cash items in the 0 0 0 0 20% 0

process of collection

Other Assets (as per attachment) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0

r .
Book Specific |Eligible|\ .\ | Risk Wg;;ﬁe |
B. Off Balance Sheet Exposures V:Iu Provision | CRM Weight Exposures
a b c d=a-b-c e f=d*e

Revocable Commitments 0 0 0 0% 0

Bills Under Collection 0 0 0 0% 0

Forward Exchange Contract Liabilities 0 0 0 0 10% 0

LC Commitments With Original Maturity

Upto 6 months 0 0 0 0 20% 0
domestic counterparty
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% 0

LC Commitments With Original Maturity

Over 6 months 0 0 0 0 50% 0
domestic counterparty
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% 0

Bid Bond, Performance Bond and Counter

guarantee 0 0 0 0 40% 0
domestic counterparty
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% 0

Underwriting commitments 0 0 0 0 50% 0

Lendl_ng of Bank's Securities or Posting of 0 0 0 0 100% 0

Securities as collateral

Repurchase Agreements, Assets sale with 0 0 0 0 100% 0

recourse

Advance Payment Guarantee 0 0 0 0 100% 0

Financial Guarantee 0 0 0 0 100% 0

Acceptances and Endorsements 0 0 0 0 100% 0

Unpal_d' portion of Partly paid shares and 0 0 0 0 100% 0

Securities

Irrevocable Credit commitments (short term) 0 0 0 0 20% 0

Irrevocable Credit commitments (long term) 0 0 0 0 50% 0

Claims on foreign bank incorporated in

SAARC region operating with a buffer of 1% | 0 0 0 0 20% 0

above their respective regulatory capital
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requirement

Other Contingent Liabilities

100%

Unpaid Guarantee Claims

200%

TOTAL

Total RWE for credit Risk Before Adjustment
(A) +(B)

o |O|O|Oo

o |O|O|Oo

o O|Oo|o

o |O|Oo|o

o |O|Oo|o

Adjustments under Pillar 11

Add: 10% of the loan and facilities in excess
of Single Obligor Limits(6.4 a 3)

Add: 1% of the contract(sale) value in case of
the sale of credit with recourse (6.4 a 4)

Total RWE for credit Risk (After Bank's
adjustments of Pillar I1)

FORM NO.3 ELIGIBLE CREDIT RISK MITIGANTS

Credit exposures Depo | Depos | Gol | Govt.&
sits its d NRB
with | with Securiti

Bank | other es
banks/
FI

G'te

e of
Gov
t. of
Nep

al

Sec/
G'tee of
Other
Soverei
gns

G'tee
of
domes
tic
banks

G'tee | Sec/
of G'tee
MD | of

Bs Forei
gn
Banks

Total

@ [(b) (© | (@)

(€)

()

(9)

(h) (@

Balance Sheet Exposures

Claims on Foreign
government and
Central Bank (ECA
_2)

Claims on Foreign
government and
Central Bank (ECA
-3)

Claims on Foreign
government and
Central Bank
(ECA-4-6)

Claims on Foreign
government and
Central Bank (ECA
-7)

Claims on Other
Multilateral
Development

Banks

Claims on
Domestic Public
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Credit exposures

Depo
sits
with
Bank

Depos
its
with
other
banks/
Fl

Gol

Govt.&
NRB
Securiti
es

G'te

e of
Gov
t. of
Nep

al

Sec/
G'tee of
Other
Soverei
gns

G'tee
of
domes
tic
banks

G'tee
of
MD
Bs

Sec/
G'tee
of
Forei
gn
Banks

Total

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

()

(9)

(h)

Sector Entity

Claims on Public
Sector Entity (ECA
0-1)

Claims on Public
Sector Entity (ECA
2)

Claims on Public
Sector Entity (ECA
3-6)

Claims on Public
Sector Entity (ECA
7)

Claims on domestic
banks that meet
capital  adequacy
requirements

Claims on domestic
banks that do not
meet capital
adequacy
requirements

Claims on foreign
bank (ECA Rating
0-1)

Claims on foreign
bank (ECA Rating
2)

Claims on foreign
bank (ECA Rating
3-6)

Claims on foreign
bank (ECA Rating
7)

Claims on foreign
bank incorporated
in SAARC region
and China
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Credit exposures Depo | Depos | Gol | Govt.& | G'te | Sec/ G'tee G'tee | Sec/ | Total
sits its d NRB e of | G'tee of | of of G'tee
with | with Securiti | Gov | Other domes | MD | of
Bank | other es t. of | Soverei | tic Bs Forei

banks/ Nep | gns banks gn
FI al Banks
(a) (b) () [ (d) (e | (9) (h)y @)

operating with a

buffer of 1% above

their respective

regulatory  capital

requirement

Claims on 0

Domestic

Corporates

Claims on Foreign 0

Corporates (ECA 0-

1)

Claims on Foreign 0

Corporates (ECA 2)

Claims on Foreign 0

Corporates (ECA 3-

6)

Claims on Foreign 0

Corporates (ECA 7)

Regulatory  Retail 0

Portfolio (Not

Overdue)

Claims fulfilling all 0

criterion of

regulatory retail

except granularity

Claims secured by 0

residential

properties

Claims not fully 0

secured by

residential

properties

Claims secured by 0

residential

properties

(Overdue)

Claims secured by 0

Commercial real
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Credit exposures Depo | Depos | Gol | Govt.& | G'te | Sec/ G'tee G'tee | Sec/ | Total
sits its d NRB e of | G'tee of | of of G'tee
with | with Securiti | Gov | Other domes | MD | of
Bank | other es t. of | Soverei | tic Bs Forei

banks/ Nep | gns banks gn
FI al Banks
(a) (b) () [ (d) (e | (9) (h)y @)
estate

Past due claims 0

(except for claim

secured by

residential

properties)

High Risk claims 0

Lending against 0

securities (bonds)

Lending  against 0

Shares (upto Rs.5

Million)

Trust Receipt 0

Loans for Trading

Firms

Real Estate loans 0

for land

acquisition and

development (for

institutions

registred/licensed

and approved by

Government of

Nepal for land

acquisition and

development

purposes)

Personal 0

Hirepurchase/Pers

onal Auto Loans

(upto Rs. 25

Million)

Personal 0

Hirepurchase/

Personal Auto

Loans (above Rs.

2.5

Million)

Investments in 0
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Credit exposures

Depo
sits
with
Bank

Depos
its
with
other
banks/
Fl

Gol

Govt.&
NRB
Securiti
es

G'te

e of
Gov
t. of
Nep

al

Sec/
G'tee of
Other
Soverei
gns

G'tee
of
domes
tic
banks

G'tee
of
MD
Bs

Sec/
G'tee
of
Forei
gn
Banks

Total

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

()

(9)

(h)

equity and other
capital instruments
of institutions listed
in the stock
exchange

Investments in
equity and other
capital instruments
of institutions not
listed in the stock
exchange

Other Assets (as per
attachment)

Total

Off Balance Sheet Exposures

Forward Exchange
Contract Liabilities

LC Commitments
With Original
Maturity Upto 6
months

domestic
counterparty

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 0-1)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 2)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 3-6)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 7)

LC Commitments
With Original
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Credit exposures

Depo
sits
with
Bank

Depos
its
with
other
banks/
Fl

Gol

Govt.&
NRB
Securiti
es

G'te

e of
Gov
t. of
Nep

al

Sec/
G'tee of
Other
Soverei
gns

G'tee
of
domes
tic
banks

G'tee
of
MD
Bs

Sec/
G'tee
of
Forei
gn
Banks

Total

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

()

(9)

(h)

Maturity Over 6
months

domestic
counterparty

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 0-1)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 2)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 3-6)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 7)

Bid Bond,
Performance Bond
and Counter
guarantee

domestic
counterparty

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 0-1)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 2)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 3-6)

foreign
counterparty (ECA
Rating 7)

Underwriting
commitments
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Credit exposures Depo | Depos | Gol | Govt.& | G'te | Sec/ G'tee G'tee | Sec/ | Total
Sits its d NRB e of | G'tee of | of of G'tee
with with Securiti | Gov | Other domes | MD | of
Bank | other es t. of | Soverei | tic Bs Forei

banks/ Nep | gns banks gn
Fl al Banks
(@) (b) () | (d) (e) | (9) () 1@

Lending of Bank's 0

Securities or

Posting of

Securities as

collateral

Repurchase 0

Agreements, Assets

sale with recourse

Advance Payment 0

Guarantee

Financial Guarantee 0

Acceptances  and 0

Endorsements

Unpaid portion of 0

Partly paid shares

and Securities

Irrevocable Credit 0

commitments

(Short Term)

Irrevocable Credit

commitments

(Long Term)

Other  Contingent 0

Liabilities

Total

Grand Total

FORM NO.4 EXHIBIT OF CLAIMS WITH CREDIT RISK MITIGANTS
S.N. | Counterparty Category | Facility | Outstanding Eligible CRM
Nature | Gross Haircut | Net
Amount Amount
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FORM NO.5 OTHER ASSETS

S.No. Assets Gross Amount

Specific
Provision
Valuation
Adjustment

&

Net
Balance

Current tax assets

Investment property

Property and equipment

Assets held for sale

Other non-banking assets

Bills receivable

Accounts receivable

O INOO OB WIN|F-

Accrued income

9 Prepayment and deposits

10 Income tax deposits

11 Deferred employee expenditure

OO0 |0|O|O|O|lO0|O0|O|O

12 Others

Particulars

Net Interest Income

Commission and Discount Income

Other Operating Income

Exchange Fluctuation Income

Addition/Deduction in Interest Suspense during the period

Gross income (a)

Alfa (b)

15%

15%

15%

Fixed Percentage of Gross Income [c=(axb)]

Capital Requirement for operational risk (d) (average of c)

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 11%) in times

(€)

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [f=(dxe)]

PILLAR-1I ADJUSTMENTS

If Gross Income for all the last three years is negative(6.4 a 8)

Total Credit and Investment (net of Specific Provision)

Capital Requirement for operational risk (5%)

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 11%) in times

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [g]

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [h=f or g)

9.09

9.09
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FORM NO.7 RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR MARKET RISK

S.No. | Currency Open Position (FCY) Open Position (NPR) Relevant Open Position
1 INR

2 usD

3 GBP

4 EURO

5 THB

6 CHF

7 |

8 |

9  |....

Total Open Position (a)

Fixed Percentage (b) 5%
Capital Charge for Market Risk [c=(axb)]

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 11%) in times (d) 9.09

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [e=(cxd)]

FORM NO. 8 NET LIQUID ASSETS TO TOTAL DEPOSIT RATIO

(Rs.In .....)

Particulars

Amount

Total Deposit and Borrowing (A)

Total Deposit(as per NRB Ni.Fa. 9.1)

Total Borrowing(as per NRB Ni.Fa. 9.1)

Liguid Assets (B)

Cash(9.1)

Bank Balance(9.1)

Money at call and short notice (9.1)

Investment in government Securities(9.1)

Placement upto 90 days

Borrowings payable upto 90 days (C)

Net Liquid Assets (D)=(B-C)

Net Liquid Assets to Total Deposit

Shortfall in Ratio

Amount to be added to Risk Weighted Exposures
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FORM NO.: 9 Leverage Ratio

(Rs.In .....)

Particulars

Amount

Exposure Measure

1. On balance sheet Assets(net of specific provisioning and valuation
adjustment)

2. Repurchase agreements and securities finance

3. Derivatives

4. Off balance sheet exposure

Capital Measure

1. Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (After regulatory Adjustment)

2. Additional Tier 1 Capital

%

C

Leverage Ratio

Note (if any):
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Capital Adequacy Framework
2007
(Updated July 2008)

INTRODUCTION
BACKGROUND:

Prior to 1988, there was no uniform international regulatory standard for setting bank capital
requirements. In 1988, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS)!? developed the
Capital Accord, which is known as Basel |, to align the capital adequacy requirements applicable
especially to banks in G-10 countries. Basel | introduced two key concepts. First, it defined what
banks could hold as capital, as well as designating capital as Tier 1 or Tier 2 according to its loss-
absorbing or creditor-protecting characteristics. The second key concept introduced in Basel | was
that capital should be held by banks in relation to the risks that they face. The major risks faced by
banks relate to the assets held on balance sheet. Thus, Basel I calculated banks’ minimum capital
requirements as a percentage of assets, which are adjusted in accordance to their riskiness and
assigning risk weights to assets. Higher weights are assigned to riskier assets such as corporate
loans, and lower weights are assigned to less risky assets, such as exposures to government.

The BCBS released the "International Convergence of Capital Measurements and Capital
Standards: Revised Framework", popularly known as Basel II, on June 26, 2004. This framework
was updated in November 2005 and a comprehensive version of the framework was issued in June
2006. Basel Il builds significantly on Basel | by increasing the sensitivity of capital to key bank
risks. In addition, Basel Il recognizes that banks can face a multitude of risks, ranging from the
traditional risks associated with financial intermediation to the day-to-day risks of operating a
business as well as the risks associated with the ups and downs of the local and international
economies. As a result, the new framework more explicitly associates capital requirements with the
particular categories of major risks that banks face.

The new capital framework also recognizes that large, usually internationally active banks have
already put in place sophisticated approaches to risk measurement and management based on
statistical inference rather than judgement alone. Thus, the framework allows banks, under certain
conditions, to use their own ‘internal’ models and techniques to measure the key risks that they
face, the probability of loss, and the capital required to meet those losses. In developing the new
framework, the Basel Committee wanted to incorporate many elements that help promote a sound
and efficient financial system over and above the setting of minimum capital requirements. With
this in mind, the Basel II framework incorporates three complementary ‘pillars’ that draw on the
range of approaches to help ensure that banks are adequately capitalised in commensurate with their
risk profile.

The Basel Committees on Banking Supervision's (BCBS) recommendations on capital accord are
important guiding framework for the regulatory capital requirement to the banking industry all over
the world and Nepal is no exception. Realizing the significance of capital for ensuring the safety

12

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision is a committee of banking supervisory authorities that was established

by the central bank governors of the Group of Ten countries in 1975. It consists of senior representatives of bank supervisory
authorities and central banks from Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Spain,
Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. It usually meets at the Bank for International Settlements in
Basel, Switzerland where its permanent Secretariat is located.

gug “@”" 45



12

13

14

15

and soundness of the banks and the banking system, at large, Nepal Rastra Bank (NRB) has
developed and enforced capital adequacy requirement based on international practices with
appropriate level of customization based on domestic state of market developments. The existing
regulatory capital is largely based on the Basel committee's 1988 recommendations.

With a view of adopting the international best practices, NRB expressed its intention to adopt the
Basel 1l framework, albeit in a simplified form. In line with international development and
thorough discussion with the stakeholders, evaluation and assessment of impact studies at various
phases, this framework has been drafted. This framework provides the guidelines for the
implementation of Basel Il framework in Nepal. Reminiscent of the International convergence of
capital measurements and capital standards, this framework also builds around three mutually
reinforcing pillars, viz. minimum capital requirements, supervisory review process and disclosure
requirements.

OBJECTIVE:

The main objective of this framework is to develop a safe and sound financial system by way of
sufficient amount of qualitative capital and risk management practices. This framework is intended
to ensure that each financial institution maintains a level of capital which,

(i) is adequate to protect its depositors and creditors.

(it) is commensurate with the risk associated activities and profile of the financial institution .
(iii) promotes public confidence in the banking system.

PRE-REQUISITES:

The effective implementation of this framework is dependent on various factors. Some such pre-
requisites are:

(i) Implementation of Basel Core Principles for effective banking supervision
(i) Adoption of the sound practices for the management of Operational Risk
(iii) Formulation and adoption of comprehensive risk management policy

(iv) Adherence to high degree of corporate governance

RESPONSIBILITY:

The board of directors of each financial institution shall be responsible for establishing and
maintaining, at all times, an adequate level of capital. The capital standards herein are the minimum
that is acceptable for financial institutions that are fundamentally sound, well managed, and which
have no material financial or operational weaknesses. Thus, the financial institutions are generally
expected to operate above the limits prescribed by this framework.

SCOPE OF APPLICATION:

This framework shall be applicable to all **B** and *'C"* Class financial institutions licensed to
conduct banking business in Nepal under the Bank and Financial Institution Act, 2073.

This capital adequacy framework shall be applied uniformly to all national level "B" class financial
institutions on a stand-alone basis as well as on a consolidated basis, where the financial institution
is member of a consolidated banking group. For the purpose of capital adequacy, the consolidated
financial institution means a group of financial entities, parent or holding company of which a
financial institution is a subsidiary. All banking and other relevant financial activities (both
regulated and unregulated) conducted within a group including a financial institution shall be
captured through consolidation. Thus, majority owned or controlled financial entities should be
fully consolidated. If any majority owned subsidiary institutions are not consolidated for capital
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purposes, all equity and other regulatory capital investments in those entities attributable to the
group will be deducted except otherwise prescribed and the assets and liabilities, as well as third
party capital investments in the subsidiary will be removed from the bank™s balance sheet for
capital adequacy purposes.

APPROACHES TO IMPLEMENTATION:

"International Convergence for Capital Measurements and Capital Standards: Revised Framework"
alias Basel Il under Pillar 1, provides three distinct approaches for computing capital requirements
for credit risk and three other approaches for computing capital requirements for operational risk.
These approaches for credit and operational risks are based on increasing risk sensitivity and allow
financial institutions to select an approach that is most appropriate for the stage of development of
financial institution's operations.

The products and services offered by the Nepalese Banks and financial institutions are still largely
conventional, in comparison to other economies. This coupled with the various inherent limitations
of our system like the absence of credit rating agencies makes the advanced approaches like
Internal Ratings Based Approach or even Standardized Approach impractical and unfeasible. Thus,
at this juncture, this framework prescribes Simplified Standardized Approach (SSA) to measure
credit risk while Basic Indicator Approach and an indigenous Net Open Position Approach for
measurement of Operational Risk and Market Risk respectively.

EFFECTIVE DATE:

All financial institutions within the scope of this framework should adopt the prescribed approaches
by Mid July 2016 (Fiscal Year 2073/074).

PARALLEL RUN:

In order to ensure a smooth transition to new approaches prescribed by this framework, a parallel
run was arranged for all national level "B" Class financial institutions after Mid-July 2010 i.e. from
fiscal year 2067/68 along with the existing framework. The returns submitted by the financial
institutions during this period were minutely reviewed to identify any anomalies. The identified
shortcomings on the returns was advised to the financial institution's management so that they could
be rectified before moving onto full fledged implementation. Based on the findings of the parallel
run, amendments and modifications have been incorporated in the framework wherever deemed
necessary.

IMPLEMENTATION OF ADVANCED APPROACHES:

This framework prescribes the most simplest of the available approaches at the initial phase with a
vision to move onto more complex and risk sensitive approaches as the market gradually gains
maturity. However, financial institutions willing to adopt advanced approaches, even for internal
purposes, should obtain prior written approval from Nepal Rastra Bank on providing evidences that
they have the resource and the capability to adopt the proposed approaches.

A financial institution will not be allowed to choose to revert to a simpler approach once it has been
approved for a more advanced approach without supervisory approval. However, if the supervisor
determines that a financial institution using a more advanced approach no longer meets the
qualifying criteria for advanced approach, it may allow the financial institution to revert to a
simpler approach for some or all of its operations, until it meets the conditions specified by the
supervisor for returning to a more advanced approach.
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2.2

ELIGIBLE CAPITAL FUNDS
DEFINITION OF CAPITAL.:

Qualifying capital consists of Tier 1 (core) capital and Tier 2 (supplementary) capital elements, net
of required deductions from capital. Thus, for the purpose of calculation of regulatory capital,
financial institutions are required to classify their capital into two parts as follows;

a

Core Capital (Tier 1)

The key element of capital on which the main emphasis should be placed is Tier 1 (core)
capital, which is comprised of equity capital and disclosed reserves. This key element of
capital is the basis on which most market judgments of capital adequacy are made; and has a
crucial bearing on profit margins and a financial institution's ability to compete.

The BCBS has therefore concluded that capital, for supervisory purposes, should be defined
in two tiers in a way, which will have the effect of requiring at least 50% of a financial
institution 's capital base to consist of a core element comprised of equity capital and
published reserves from post-tax retained earnings.

In order to rank as Tier 1, capital must be fully paid up, have no fixed servicing or dividend
costs attached to it and be freely available to absorb losses ahead of general creditors. Capital
also needs to have a very high degree of permanence if it is to be treated as Tier 1.

Supplementary Capital (Tier 2)

Supplementary (Tier 2) Capital includes reserves which, though unpublished, have been
passed through the profit and loss account and all other capital instruments eligible and
acceptable for capital purposes. Elements of the Tier 2 capital will be reckoned as capital
funds up to a maximum of 100 percent of Tier 1 capital arrived at, after making adjustments
referred to in 2.4. In a case, where Tier 1 capital of a financial institution is negative, the Tier
2 capital for regulatory purposes shall be considered as zero and hence the capital fund, in
such cases, shall be equal to the core capital.

ELEMENTS OF TIER 1 CAPITAL:

@ +~oao

Paid up Equity Capital.

Irredeemable non-cumulative preference shares which are fully paid-up and with the capacity
to absorb unexpected losses. These instruments should not contain any clauses whatsoever,
which permit redemption by the holder or issuer upon fulfillment of certain condition.
Financial institution should obtain prior approval of NRB for this kind of instruments to
qualify as a component of core capital.

Share Premium

Proposed Bonus Equity Share

Statutory General Reserve.

Retained Earnings available for distribution to shareholders.

Un-audited current year cumulative profit, after all provisions including staff bonus and taxes
as well as regulatory adjustments. Where such provisions and regulatory adjustments are
not made, this amount shall not qualify as Tier 1 capital.Capital Redemption Reserves
created in lieu of redeemable instruments.

Capital Adjustment reserves created in respect of increasing the capital base of the financial
institution .

Dividend Equalization Reserves.
Any other type of reserves notified by NRB from time to time for inclusion in Tier 1 capital
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2.3 ELEMENTSOF TIER 2 CAPITAL:
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Cumulative and/or redeemable preference shares with maturity of five years and above.
Subordinated term debt fully paid up with a maturity of more than 5 years; unsecured and
subordinated to the claim of other creditors, free of restrictive clauses and not redeemable
before maturity. Since, subordinated term debt is not normally available to participate in the
losses; the amount eligible for inclusion in the capital adequacy calculations is limited to 50%
of core capital. Moreover, to reflect the diminishing value of these instruments as a
continuing source of strength, a cumulative discount (amortization) factor of 20% per annum
shall be applied for capital adequacy computations, during the last 5 years to maturity.

Hybrid capital instruments. Those instruments which combine certain characteristics of debt
and certain characteristics of equity. Each such instrument has a particular feature, which can
be considered to affect its quality as capital. Where these instruments have close similarities
to equity, in particular when they are able to support losses on an ongoing basis without
triggering liquidation, they may be included in Tier 2 capital with approval from Nepal
Rastra Bank.

General loan loss provision limited to a maximum of 1.25% of total Risk Weighted
Exposures. General loan loss provision refers to the provisions created in respect of
Performing Loans only and it does not include provisions of rescheduled/restructured and
classified loans. The additional loan loss provisions created in respect of Personal Guarantee
loans, third party collateral loan and loans in excess of Single Obligor Limits are specific
provisions and hence cannot be included under this category. Such provisions however can
be deducted from the gross exposures while calculating risk weighted exposures for credit
risk.

However, provisions created in excess of the regulatory requirements or provisions not
attributable to identifiable losses in any specific loans shall be allowed to be included in the
General Loan Loss Provision and shall be eligible for Tier Il capital subject to a maximum of
1.25% of total risk weighted exposures.

However, from fiscal year 2020/21, the limit of general loan loss provision is set to a
maximum of 1.65% of total Risk Weighted Exposures.

Exchange equalization reserves created by financial institutions as a cushion for unexpected
losses arising out of adverse movements in foreign currencies.

Investment adjustment reserves to the extent created out of retained earning i.e. appropriation
of profit.Any other type of reserves notified by NRB from time to time for inclusion in Tier 2
capital

DEDUCTIONS FROM CORE (TIER 1) CAPITAL:

Financial institution s shall be required to deduct the following from the Tier 1 capital for capital
adequacy purposes. The claims that have been deducted from core capital shall be exempt from risk
weights for the measurement of credit risk.

a.
b.
C.

Book value of goodwill.

Deferred Tax Assets

Miscellaneous expenditure to the extent not written off. e.g. VRS expense, preliminary
expense, share issue expense, deferred revenue expenditure, etc. However, software
expenditure or software development expenditure, research and development expenditure,
patents, copyrights, trademarks and lease hold developments booked as deferred revenue
expenditure are subject to 100% risk weight and may not be deducted from Tier 1 capital.
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2.6

Investment in equity of financial institutions licensed by Nepal Rastra Bank®2,
All Investments in equity of institutions with financial interest.
Investments in equity of institutions in excess of the prescribed limits.

Investments arising out of underwriting commitments that have not been disposed within a
year from the date of commitment.

h.  Reciprocal crossholdings of financial institution capital artificially designed to inflate the
capital position of the financial institution .

I Any other items as stipulated by Nepal Rastra Bank, from time to time.

J. Negative balance of Reserve Accounts
Negative balances of any reserve such as which is recognized directly or through other
comprehensive income on equity such as revaluation reserve, fair value reserve, actuarial loss
etc. shall be deducted from Core (Common Equity Tier 1) Capital. However, the
corresponding assets shall not be exempted from risk weights for the measurement of credit
risk as the loss recognized in equity has already been adjusted in carrying amount of related
assets. Since, full amount of assets has not been deducted from Core Capital, risk weights on
carrying amount of assets shall be applied to measure credit risk.

CAPITAL FUNDS:

The capital fund is the summation of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. The sum total of the different
components of the tier 2 capitals will be limited to the sum total of the various components of the
Tier 1 capital net of deductions as specified in 2.4. In case the Tier 1 capital is negative, Tier 2
capital shall be considered to be "Nil" for regulatory capital adequacy purposes and hence, in such a
situation, the capital fund shall be equal to Tier 1 capital.

MINIMUM CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS:

Unless a higher minimum ratio has been set by Nepal Rastra Bank for an individual financial
institution through a review process, every financial institution shall maintain at all times, the
capital requirement set out below:

Q@ +~oa

a.  ATier 1 (core) capital of not less than 6 percent of total risk weighted exposure;
b.  Atotal capital fund of not less than 10 percent of its total risk weighted exposure.

The Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) is calculated by dividing eligible regulatory capital by total
Risk Weighted Exposure (RWE). The total risk weighted exposure shall comprise of risk weights
calculated in respect of financial institution 's credit, operational and market risks. Methodologies to
calculate RWE for each of these risk categories are described in detail in subsequent chapters.

CREDIT RISK

GENERAL:
Credit risk is the major risk that financial institution s are exposed to during the normal course of
lending and credit underwriting. Within Basel II, there are two approaches for credit risk

measurement: the standardized approach and the internal ratings based (IRB) approach. Due to
various inherent constraints of the Nepalese banking system, the standardized approach in its
simplified form, Simplified Standardized Approach (SSA), is prescribed in the initial phase.

13

Investment in shares of Rural Development Banks and other institutions, where the waiver has been explicitly provided by
NRB are subject to risk weight of 100% and shall not be deducted from Tier 1 capital.
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3.2 SIMPLIFIED STANDARDIZED APPROACH (SSA):

In comparison to Basel 1, SSA aligns regulatory capital requirements more closely with the key
elements of banking risk by introducing a wider differentiation of risk weights and a wider
recognition of credit risk mitigation techniques. The advantage of implementing this approach is
twofold. This approach allows transitional advantage for countries like us by avoiding excessive
complexities associated with the advanced approaches of Basel Il while at the same time it will
produce capital ratios more in line with the actual economic risks that financial institutions are
facing, compared to the present Accord.

Under this approach financial institutions are required to assign a risk weight to their balance sheet
and off-balance sheet exposures. These risk weights are based on a fixed weight that is broadly
aligned with the likelihood of a counterparty default. As a general rule, the claims that have already
been deducted from the core capital shall be exempt from risk weights for the measurement of
credit risk.

Claims on foreign government, their central banks as well as foreign corporates shall be generally
risk-weighed on the basis of the consensus country risk scores of export credit agencies (ECA).
Wherever there are claims relating to unrated countries, they shall generally be risk weighed at 100
percent. However, these claim shall be subject to supervisory review and higher risk weight shall be
assigned where the review process deems appropriate.

All kinds of claims including loans & advances as well as investments shall be risk weighed net of
specific provisions and valuation adjustments which are, directly or through other comprehensive
income, recognized on equity. Generally provision related to any receivable or investment is not
defined as general or specific. In such situation, the total provision against any claim/exposure
(other than the loans and advances) shall be considered as specific provision. However, provisions
eligible for the supplementary capital shall not be allowed for netting while calculating risk
weighted exposures.

In case of loans, advances and bills purchased, the provisions created in lieu of Performing loans
only are classified as General loan loss provision. All other provisions are components of specific
loan loss provision. Hence, general loan loss provision doesn’t comprise provisions created in
respect of rescheduled/restructured and non performing loans. It also doesn’t include additional
provisions created for personal guarantee loans or lending in excess of Single Obligor Limits.
However, provisions created in excess of the regulatory requirements and not attributable to
identifiable losses in any specific loans shall be allowed to be included in the General Loan Loss
Provision.

In order to be consistent with the Basel-ll framework, the credit risk for the regulatory capital
purpose shall be computed by segregating the exposure in the following 11 categories.

a) Claims on government & central bank
b) Claims on other official entities

c) Claims on banks

d) Claims on corporate & securities firms
e) Claims on regulatory retail portfolio

f) Claims secured by residential properties
g) Claims secured by commercial real state
h) Past due claims

14 The consensus country risk classification is available on the OECD’s website (http://www.oecd.org) in the Export Credit
Arrangement web page of the Trade Directorate. Each bank while computing the risk weight in any claim should use the
updated risk score.
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i) High risk claims
j) Other assets
k) Off balance sheet items

3.3 RISK MEASUREMENT AND RISK WEIGHTS:
a. Claims on government & central bank

1. All claims on Government of Nepal and Nepal Rastra Bank shall be risk weighed at 0 %.

2. Claims on foreign government and their central banks shall be risk-weighted on the basis
of the consensus country risk scores as follows:

ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3 4106 7

Risk weights 0% 20% 50% 100% 150%

b. Claims on other official entities

1. Claims on the Bank for International Settlements, the International Monetary Fund, the
European Central Bank and the European Community will receive a 0% risk weight.

2. Following Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs) will be eligible for a 0% risk
weight.

e World Bank Group, comprised of the International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (IBRD) and the International Finance Corporation (IFC),
Asian Development Bank (ADB),
African Development Bank (AfDB),
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD),
Inter-American Development Bank (IADB),
European Investment Bank (EIB),
European Investment Fund (EIF),
Nordic Investment Bank (NIB),
Caribbean Development Bank (CDB),
Islamic Development Bank (IDB), and
e Council of Europe Development Bank (CEDB).
3. The standard risk weight for claims on other Multilateral Development Banks will be

100%.
4.  Claims on public sector entities (PSEs)™® will be risk-weighed as per the ECA country
risk scores.
ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3t06 7
Risk weights 20% 50% 100% 150%

C. Claims on banks

1.  All claims, irrespective of currency, excluding investment in equity shares and other
instruments eligible for capital funds, on domestic banks/financial institutions that
fulfill Capital Adequacy Requirements will be risk weighed at 20% while for the rest, it
will be 100%.

Banks should make use of the publicly available information of the immediately
preceding quarter of the respective banks to gauge their status on capital adequacy.

15 Public sector entity (PSE) is one, which is owned or controlled by government or any other entity categorized as PSE by

NRB.
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Claims on a foreign bank excluding investment in equity shares and other instruments
eligible for capital funds shall be risk weighed as per the ECA Country risk score
subject to the floor of 20%. The primary basis for applying the ECA Country Risk
score shall be the country of incorporation of the bank. Where the bank is a branch
office, the ECA score of the country where the corporate office is located shall be used
while in the case of a subsidiary the basis shall be the country where the subsidiary is
incorporated.

ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3to6 7

Risk weights 20% 50% 100% 150%

However, the claims on foreign banks incorporated in the SAARC region and China
which operate with a buffer of 1% above their respective regulatory minimum capital
requirements may be risk weighed at 20%. The banks shall be responsible to submit
the latest capital adequacy position of such banks and demonstrate that they fulfill the
eligibility requirements. Such capital adequacy position submitted by the banks should
not be prior to more than one financial year. Moreover, such claims shall be subject to a
supervisory review and supervisors may require the bank to risk weigh the claims on
ECA country risk scores where the review process deems necessary.

Claims on corporate & securities firms

1. Domestic corporate includes all firms and companies incorporated in Nepal as per

prevailing Acts and regulations. The claims on domestic corporate, including claims on
insurance companies and securities firm shall be risk weighed as per the credit rating score
provided by licensed credit rating agency subject to the floor of 50%6 as follows:

AAY

A+

Credit rating score equivalent to AAA to to BBB Unrated
. ; & below
AA A
Risk weights 50% | 70% 80% | 100% | 100%

2.

The claims on foreign corporate shall be risk weighed as per the ECA Country risk
score subject to the floor of 20% as follows:

ECA risk scores 0-1 2 3to6 7

100% 150%

Risk weights 20% 50%

Claims on regulatory retail portfolio

1.

Claims'® that qualify all criteria listed below may be considered as regulatory retail
portfolio and risk weighed at 75%, except for past due loans. Such claims however,
have to be in strict compliance with the product papers developed by the bank and
approved by their respective board of directors

Criteria:

e Orientation criteria :- exposure is to an individual person or persons or to a small
business. Bank should obtain written declaration from the borrower to the effect
that their indebtedness is within the threshold across all banks and Fls.

e Product criteria :- The exposure takes the form of any of the following:
— Revolving credits and lines of credit, (including Cash Credit etc.)

16 |ending against securities (such as equities and bonds) whether listed or not, are specifically excluded from this category.
Likewise credit card receivables are excluded from this category. However, lending against personal guarantee and fully
backed by guaranteed cash flow such as pension etc. that has negligible risk of failure can be included in this category.
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2.

— Term loans and leases (e.g. hire purchase (except personal), auto loans (except
personal), and leases, working capital term loans, educational loans) and,

— Small business facilities and commitments,
— Deprived sector loans upto a threshold of Rs.10 million (Ten Million only)

e Granularity criteria:- NRB must be satisfied that the regulatory retail portfolio is
sufficiently diversified to a degree that reduces the risks in the portfolio, warranting
the 75% risk weight. No aggregate exposure!’ to one counterpart can exceed 0.5 %
of the overall regulatory retail portfolio.

e Low value individual criteria :- The total aggregated exposure to one counterparty?
cannot exceed an absolute threshold of Rs.10 million (Nepalese Rupees Ten
Million only)

Banks which have claims that fulfill all criteria except for granularity may risk weigh
those claims at 100%

Claims secured by residential properties

1.

Lending to individuals meant for acquiring or developing residential property which
are fully secured by mortgages on residential property, that are or will be occupied by
the borrower or that is rented, will be risk-weighed at 60%. However, banks should
ensure the existence of adequate margin of security over the amount of loan based on
strict valuation rules.

Banks have to develop product paper and get it approved from the board of directors to
regulate this kind of lending. The claims in order to be eligible for this category have to
be in strict compliance with this product paper

Where the loan is not fully secured, such claims have to risk weighed at 150%

When claims secured by residential properties are or have been past due® at any point
of time during the last two years, they shall be risk-weighed at 100%o, net of specific
provisions.

Claims secured by commercial real estate

1.

Claims secured by mortgages on commercial real estate, except past due, shall be risk-
weighed at 100%. Commercial real estate hereby refers to mortgage of Office
buildings, retail space, multi-purpose commercial premises, multi-family residential
buildings, multi-tenanted commercial premises, industrial or warehouse space, hotels,
and construction etc.

Past due claims
1.

Any loan, except for a claim secured by residential property, which is or has been past
due at any point of time during the last two years, will be risk-weighed at 150% net of
specific provision.

High risk claims

1.

150% risk weight shall be applied for venture capital and private equity investments.

17

18
19

Aggregated exposure means gross amount (i.e. not taking any credit risk mitigation into account) of all forms of credit
exposures availed from the bank .

Counterparty refers to one or a group of borrowers defined by the NRB directives as a single obligor.

An exposure is past due if it falls into any other category other than Pass loan as per provisions of NRB directive on Loan
classification.
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8.

Exposures on Personal loan in excess of the threshold of regulatory retail portfolio and
exposures on credit card shall warrant a risk weight of 150%.

Investments in the equity and other capital instruments of institutions, which are not
listed in the stock exchange and have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital, shall be
risk weighed at 150% net of provisions and valuation adjustments which are, directly or
through other comprehensive income, recognized on equity.

Claims which are not fully secured or are only backed up by personal guarantee shall
attract 150% risk weight.

Where a loan cannot be segregated/or identified as regulatory retail portfolio or
qualifying residential mortgage loan or under other categories, it shall be risk weighed
at 150%.

Personal Overdraft Loans shall attract risk weight of 150%.

Real Estate loans for land acquisition and development shall attract risk weight of
150%. (Other than mentioned in Capital Adequacy framework 2007-point

3.3()(D))
Lending against shares (above Rs. 5 Million) shall attract risk weight of 150%.

Other assets

1. With regard to other assets, following provisions have been made;

a.
b.

Interest receivable/claim on government securities will be risk-weighed at 0%.

Staff loan given as per Employee By-laws and secured by residential property, that is
or will be occupied by the staff or that is rented, will be risk-weighed at 50%. However,
banks should ensure the existence of adequate margin of security over the amount of
loan based on strict valuation rules.

Investments in equity or regulatory capital instruments issued by securities firms will
be risk-weighed at 100% net of valuation adjustments which are, directly or through
other comprehensive income, recognized on equity.

. Cash in transit and other cash items in the process of collection will be risk-weighed at

20%. For this purpose, cash items shall include Cheque and Draft.

Fictitious assets that have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital shall be risk weighed
at 100%.

Investments in the equity and other capital instruments of institutions, which are listed
in the stock exchange and have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital, shall be risk
weighed at 100% net of provisions and valuation adjustments which are, directly or
through other comprehensive income, recognized on equity. Investments in mutual
fund shall also be risk weighted at 100% net of valuation adjustments as described
above.

. All Other assets will be risk-weighed at 100% net of specific provision and valuation

adjustments which are, directly or through other comprehensive income, recognized on
equity.

. Lending against bonds shall attract risk weight of 100 % .

Lending against shares (upto Rs. 5 Million) shall attract risk weight of 100%.

gug ‘g” <&



J. Real Estate loans for land acquisition and development shall attract risk weight of
100%. (For institutions/projects registred/licensed and approved by Government of
Nepal for land acquisition and development purposes)

k. Personal Hirepurchase/Personal Auto Loans (upto Rs. 2.5 Million) shall attract risk
weight of 100%.

I.  Personal Hirepurchase/Personal Auto Loans (above Rs. 2.5 Million) shall attract
risk weight of 125%.

k. Off balance sheet items

1.  Off-balance sheet items under the simplified standardized approach will be converted
into equivalent risk weight exposure using risk weight as follows:

Off Balance Sheet Exposure Risk
Weight

Any commitments those are unconditionally cancelable at any time by the bank | 0%
without prior notice, or that effectively provide for automatic cancellation due to
deterioration in a borrower’s creditworthiness (for example bills under collection)

Forward exchange contracts. 10%

Short Term Trade-related contingencies 20%
Contingent liabilities arising from trade-related obligations, which are secured
against an underlying shipment of goods for both issuing and confirming bank and
are short term in nature. This includes documentary letters of credit, shipping
guarantees issued and any other trade-related contingencies with an original
maturity up to six months.

Undertaking to provide a commitment on an off-balance sheet items 20%

Unsettled?® securities and foreign exchange transactions between bank to bank and | 20%
between bank and customer

Long term irrevocable Credit Commitments 50%
Any un-drawn portion of committed credit lines sanctioned for a period of
more than 1 year.

Performance-related contingencies 40%
Contingent liabilities, which involve an irrevocable obligation to pay a third party
in the event that counterparty fails to fulfill or perform a contractual non-monetary
obligation, such as delivery of goods by a specified date etc. This includes issue of
performance bonds, bid bonds, warranties, indemnities, underwriting commitments
and standby letters of credit in relation to a non-monetary obligation of
counterparty under a particular transaction.

Short term irrevocable Credit Commitments 20%
Any un-drawn portion of committed credit lines sanctioned for a period of upto 1
year. This shall include all unutilized limits in respect of revolving working capital
loans e.g. overdraft, cash credit, working capital loan etc. except for trade finance
exposures.

Repurchase agreements, securities lending, securities borrowing, reverse | 100%
repurchase agreements and equivalent transactions

This includes sale and repurchase agreements and asset sales with recourse, where
the credit risk remains with the purchasing bank.
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An unsettled transaction is one where delivery of the instrument is due to take place against receipt of cash, but which
remain unsettled five business days after the due settlement date.
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Direct credit substitutes 100%
Any irrevocable off-balance sheet obligations which carry the same credit risk as a
direct extension of credit, such as an undertaking to make a payment to a third
party in the event that a counterparty fails to meet a financial obligation or an
undertaking to a counterparty to acquire a potential claim on another party in the
event of default by that party, constitutes a direct credit substitute. This includes
potential credit exposures arising from the issue of financial guarantees and credit
derivatives, confirmation of letters of credit (acceptances and endorsements), issue
of standby letters of credit serving as financial guarantees for loans, securities and
any other financial liabilities, and bills endorsed under bill endorsement lines (but
which are not accepted by, or have the prior endorsement of, another bank).

Unpaid portion of partly paid shares and securities 100%

Other Contingent Liabilities 100%
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3.4

CREDIT RISK MITIGATION (CRM):

Banks may use a number of techniques to mitigate the risks to which they are exposed. The prime
objective of this provision is to encourage the banks to manage credit risk in a prudent and effective
manner. As such, credit risks exposures may be collateralized®® in whole or in part with cash or
securities, or a loan exposure may be guaranteed by a third party. Where these various techniques
meet the minimum conditions mentioned below, banks which take eligible financial collateral are
allowed to reduce their credit exposure to counterparty when calculating their capital requirements
to take account of the risk mitigating effect of the collateral. However, credit risk mitigation is
allowed only on an account by account basis, even within regulatory retail portfolio.

As a general rule, no secured claim should receive a higher capital requirement than an otherwise
identical claim on which there is no collateral. Similarly, the effects of the CRM shall not be double
counted and capital requirement will be applied to banks on either side of the collateralized
transaction: for example, both repos and reverse repos will be subject to capital requirements.

Those portions of claims collateralized by the market value of recognized collateral receive the risk
weight applicable to the collateral instrument. The remainder of the claim should be assigned the
risk weight appropriate to the counter party.

Where the same security has been pledged for both the funded and non funded facilities, banks
should clearly demarcate the value of security held for funded and non funded facility. In cases
where the bank has obtained same security for various forms of facilities; banks are eligible to
claim the CRM benefit across all such exposures up to the eligible value of CRM.

a. Minimum conditions for eligibility:

In order to obtain capital relief towards credit risk mitigation, there are certain basic condition
that needs to be fulfilled. Supervisors will monitor the extent to which banks satisfy these
conditions, both at the outset of a collateralized transaction and on an on-going basis.

1.  Legal certainty:- Collateral is effective only if the legal mechanism by which collateral
is given is robust and ensures that the lender has clear rights over the collateral to
liquidate or retain it in the event of default. Thus, banks must take all necessary steps to
fulfill local contractual requirements in respect of the enforceability of security interest.
The collateral arrangements must be properly documented, with a clear and robust
procedure for the timely liquidation of collateral. A bank's procedures should ensure
that any legal conditions required for declaring the default of the customer and
liquidating the collateral are observed. Where the collateral is held by a custodian, the
bank must seek to ensure that the custodian ensures adequate segregation of the
collateral instruments and the custodian's own assets. Besides that, banks must obtain
legal opinions confirming the enforceability of the collateral arrangements in all
relevant jurisdictions.

2. Low correlation with exposure:- In order for collateral to provide protection, the credit
quality of the obligor and the value of the collateral must not have a material positive
correlation. For example, securities issued by the collateral provider - or by any related
group entity - would provide little protection and thus would be ineligible.

3. Maturity Mismatch:- The maturity of the underlying exposure and the maturity of the
hedge should both be defined conservatively. The effective maturity of the underlying
collateral should be gauged as the longest possible remaining time before the obligor is
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A collateralized transaction is one in which: a) banks have a credit exposure or potential credit exposure; and b) that credit
exposures or potential credit exposure is hedged in whole or in part by collateral posted by the counter party or by a third
party on behalf of the counter party.
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scheduled to fulfill its obligation. The collateral must be pledged for at least the life of
the exposure. In case of mismatches in the maturity of the underlying exposure and the
collateral, it shall not be eligible for CRM benefits.

Currency Mismatch:- Ideally the currency of the underlying exposure and the collateral
should be the same. Where the credit exposure is denominated in a currency that differs
from that in which the underlying exposure is denominated, there is a currency
mismatch. Mismatches shall be subject to supervisory haircut of 10%.

Risk Management:- While CRM reduces credit risk, it simultaneously may increase
other risks to which a bank is exposed, such as legal, operational, liquidity and market
risks. Therefore, it is imperative that banks employ robust procedures and processes to
control these risks, including strategy; consideration of the underlying credit; valuation;
policies and procedures; systems; control of roll-off risks; and management of
concentration risk arising from the bank's use of CRM techniques and its effect with the
bank's overall credit profile. In case where these requirements are not fulfilled, NRB
may not recognize the benefit of CRM techniques.

Qualifying criteria for guarantee:- A guarantee (counter guarantee) to be eligible must
represent a direct claim on the protection provider and must be explicitly referenced to
specific exposures or a pool of exposures, so that the extent of the cover is clearly
defined and irrefutable. Other than non-payment by a protection purchaser of money
due in respect of the credit protection contract it must be irrevocable in that there must
be no clause in the contract that would increase the effective cost of cover as a result of
deteriorating credit quality in the hedged exposure. It must also be unconditional in that
there should be no clause in the protection contract outside the control of the bank that
could prevent the protection provider from being obliged to pay out in a timely manner
in the event that the original counter party fails to make the payments due.

On the qualifying default or non-payment of the counter party, the bank may in a
timely manner pursue the guarantor for any monies outstanding under the
documentation governing the transaction. The guarantor may make one lump sum
payment of all monies under such documentation to the bank, or the guarantor may
assume the future payment obligations of the counter party covered by the guarantee.
The bank must have the right to receive any such payments from the guarantor without
first having to take legal actions in order to pursue the counter party payment.

Eligible Collaterals:

1.

o gk~ w

Cash deposit (as well as certificates of deposit or fixed deposits or other deposits) with
the bank. The bank may only claim these as CRM if it has specific authority to recover
the amount from this source in case of default.

Fixed Deposit Receipts/Certificates of deposits/other deposits of other Banks and Fls,
who fulfill the capital adequacy requirements, subject to a 20% supervisory haircut.

Gold.
Securities issued by the Government of Nepal and Nepal Rastra Bank.
Guarantee of the Government of Nepal

Financial guarantee/counter guarantee of domestic banks and FIs who meet the
minimum capital adequacy requirements subject to a haircut of 20%.

Securities/Financial guarantee/Counter guarantee issued by sovereigns.
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4.2

8.  Securities/Financial guarantee/Counter guarantee issued by MDBs in the list specified
in3.3b(3&14)

9.  Securities/Financial guarantee/Counter guarantee issued by banks with ECA rating 2 or
better. The supervisory haircut shall be 20% and 50% for the banks with ECA rating of
0-1 and 2 respectively.

C. Methodology for using CRM

Step 1: Identify the accounts eligible for capital relief under credit risk mitigation.

Step 2: Assess the value of the exposure and the eligible collateral. The value of the eligible
collateral is the lower of the face value of the instrument or the outstanding amount
of exposure

Step 3: Adjust the value of the eligible collateral in respect of the supervisory haircut in
terms of currency mismatch and other eligibility requirements.

Step 4: Compare the adjusted value of the collateral with the outstanding exposure.

Step 5: The value of the eligible CRM is the lower of the adjusted value of the collateral and
the outstanding exposure.

Step 6: Plot the eligible CRM in the appropriate category of credit risk.

The sum total of net amount of eligible CRM as per “Form No.4 Exhibit of claims with
eligible credit risk mitigants” shall be consistent with the “Form No.3 Eligible Credit Risk
Mitigants” prescribed in this framework.

OPERATIONAL RISK
GENERAL:

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate internal processes, people, and
systems, or from external events. Operational risk itself is not a new concept, and well run banks
have been addressing it in their internal controls and corporate governance structures. Basel 1l
requires banks to hold capital against the risk of unexpected loss that could arise from the failure of
operational systems.

The most important types of operational risk involve breakdowns in internal controls and corporate
governance. Such breakdowns can lead to financial losses through error, fraud, or failure to perform
in a timely manner or cause the interests of the bank to be compromised in some other way, for
example, by its dealers, lending officers or other staff exceeding their authority or conducting
business in an unethical or risky manner. Other aspects of operational risk include major failure of
information technology systems or events such as major fires or other disasters.

BASIC INDICATOR APPROACH:

Under the basic indicator approach, banks must hold capital for operational risk equal to the
average over the previous three years of a fixed percentage (denoted alpha) of positive annual gross
income.

The capital charge for operational risk may be expressed as follows:
Keia = [2(Gli.n Xa))/N
where:

Kgia = capital charge under the Basic Indicator Approach

Gl = annual gross income, where positive, over the previous three years
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4.3

N = number of the previous three years for which gross income is positive
o = 15 percent.

NRB shall review the capital requirement produced by this approach for general credibility,
especially in relation to a bank's peers and in the event that credibility is lacking, appropriate
supervisory action under Review Process shall be considered.

Figures for the year, in which annual gross income is negative or zero, should be excluded from
both the numerator and denominator while calculating the average. In case where the gross income
for all of the last three years is negative, 5% of total credit and investments net of specific
provisions shall be considered as the capital charge for operational risk. For this purpose
investments shall comprise of money at call, placements, investment in government securities and
other investments irrespective of currency.

Similarly, in case of new banks who have not completed an year of operation and hence whose
average gross income cannot be measured reliably, they shall also be required to compute their
capital charge for operational risk vide the same approach as prescribed for banks with negative
gross income. These banks may use the gross income approach from second year onwards. But,
based on the reasonableness of the so computed capital charge for Operation Risk, during the first
three years of operation, review process may require additional proportion of capital charge if
deemed necessary.

GROSS INCOME:

Gross income is defined as "net Interest Income™ plus "non interest income". It is intended that this
measure should:

a.  be gross of any provisions (e.g. for unpaid interest) and write-offs made during the year;

b.  be gross of operating expenses, exclude reversal during the year in respect of provisions and
write-offs made during the previous year(s);

c.  exclude income/gain recognized from the disposal of items of movable and immovable
property;

d.  exclude realized profits/losses from the sale of securities in the “held to maturity” category;

e.  exclude other extraordinary or irregular items of income and expenditure

Thus, for the purpose of capital adequacy requirements, gross income shall be summation of:

a.  Total operating income as disclosed in Profit and Loss account prepared as per NRB directive
no.4. The total operating income comprises of:

1. Net Interest Income
2. Commission and Discount Income
3. Other Operating Income
4. Exchange Fluctuation Income
b.  Addition/deduction in the Interest Suspense during the period.

Banks shall use the annual audited financials of the last three years for the computation of gross
income under this approach. Hence, the capital requirement for operational risk for a whole
financial year shall remain constant. Until the accounts are finalized for the financial year, banks
shall use the provisional figures for the period, which should be validated by the internal auditor of
the bank.
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4.4

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

COMPUTATION OF RISK WEIGHT:

Operational risk-weighted assets are determined by multiplying the operational risk capital charge
by 10 (i.e., the reciprocal of the minimum capital ratio of 10%) and adding together with the risk
weighted exposures for credit risk.

MARKET RISK
DEFINITION OF MARKET RISK:

Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions
arising from adverse movements in market prices. The major constituents of market risks are:

a.  The risks pertaining to interest rate related instruments;
b.  Foreign exchange risk (including gold positions) throughout the bank; and

€. The risks pertaining to investment in equities and commodities.

SEGREGATION OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO:

Banks shall recognize measure, present and disclose the investment instruments as per the
requirement of NFRSs.

NET OPEN POSITION APPROACH:

Out of the various components of market risk, foreign exchange risk is perceived as the
predominant at this time. The effects of other forms of market risk are minimal. Thus, a net open
position approach has been devised to measure the capital requirement for market risk. As
evidenced by its name, this approach only addresses the risk of loss arising out of adverse
movements in exchange rates. This approach will be consolidated over time to incorporate other
forms of market risks as they start to gain prominence.

The designated Net Open Position approach requires banks to allocate a fixed proportion of capital
in terms of its net open position. The banks should allocate 5 percentage of their net open positions
as capital charge for market risk.

NET OPEN POSITION:

Net open position is the difference between the assets and the liability in a currency. In other words,
it is the uncovered volume of asset or liability which is exposed to the changes in the exchange
rates of currencies. For capital adequacy requirements the net open position includes both net spot
positions as well as net forward positions.

For capital adequacy purposes, banks should calculate their net open position in the following
manner:

a.  Calculate the net open position in each of the foreign currencies.
b.  Convert the net open positions in each currency to NPR as per prevalent exchange rates.

c.  Aggregate the converted net open positions of all currencies, without paying attention to long
or short positions.

d.  This aggregate shall be the net open position of the bank.
COMPUTATION OF RISK WEIGHT:

Risk-weighted assets in respect of market risk are determined by multiplying the capital charges by
10 (i.e., the reciprocal of the minimum capital ratio of 10%) and adding together with the risk
weighted exposures for credit risk.
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6.2

REVIEW PROCESS
GENERAL.:

The supervisory review process of the framework is intended not only to ensure that banks have
adequate capital to support all the risks in their business, but also to encourage banks to develop
and use better risk management techniques in monitoring and managing their risks. It is the
responsibility of the bank management in developing an internal capital assessment process and
setting capital targets that are commensurate with the bank’s risk profile and control environment
beyond the core minimum requirements.

Nepal Rastra Bank recognizes the significance of the relationship between the amount of capital
held by the bank against its risks and the strength and effectiveness of the bank’s risk management
and internal control processes. However, increased capital should not be viewed as the only option
for addressing increased risks confronting the bank. Other means for addressing risk, such as
strengthening risk management, applying internal limits, strengthening the level of provisions and
reserves, and improving internal controls, must also be considered. Furthermore, capital should not
be regarded as a substitute for addressing fundamentally inadequate control or risk management
processes.

There are three main areas that is particularly suited to treatment under this process: risks
considered under minimum capital requirements which are not fully captured it (e.g. credit
concentration risk); those factors not taken into account by the minimum capital requirements (e.g.
business and strategic risk); and factors external to the bank (e.g. business cycle effects).

In order to achieve the objectives of the supervisory review process, this process has been broadly
divided into three parts:

a. Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)

b.  Supervisory Review

C.  Supervisory Response

INTERNAL CAPITAL ADEQUACY ASSESSMENT PROCESS:

The internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) is a comprehensive process which
requires board and senior management oversight, monitoring, reporting and internal control reviews
at regular intervals to ensure the alignment of regulatory capital requirement with the true risk
profile of the bank and thus ensure long-term safety and soundness of the bank. The key
components of an effective ICAAP are discussed below.

a. Board and senior management oversight

Bank management is responsible for understanding the nature and level of risk being taken by
the bank and how this risk relates to adequate capital levels. It is also responsible for ensuring
that the formality and sophistication of the risk management processes is commensurate with
the complexity of its operations. A sound risk management process, thus, is the foundation
for an effective assessment of the adequacy of a bank’s capital position.

The board of directors of the bank are responsible for setting the bank’s tolerance for risks.
The board should also ensure that management establishes a mechanism for assessing various
risks; develops a system to relate these risks to the bank’s capital level and sets up a method
for monitoring compliance with internal policies. It is equally important that the board instills
strong internal controls and thereby an effective control environment through adoption of
written policies and procedures and ensures that the policies and procedures are effectively
communicated throughout the bank.
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The analysis of a bank’s current and future capital requirements in relation to its strategic
objectives is a vital element of the strategic planning process. The strategic plan should
clearly outline the bank’s capital needs, anticipated capital expenditures, desirable capital
level, and external capital sources. Senior management and the board should view capital
planning as a crucial element in being able to achieve its desired strategic objectives.

Sound capital assessment

Another crucial component of an effective ICAAP is the assessment of capital. In order to be
able to make a sound capital assessment the bank should, at minimum, have the following:

o Policies and procedures designed to ensure that the bank identifies, measures, and reports
all material risks;

e A process that relates capital to the level of risk;

e A process that states capital adequacy goals with respect to risk, taking account of the
bank’s strategic focus and business plan; and

e A process of internal control, reviews and audit to ensure the integrity of the overall
management process.

Comprehensive assessment of risks

All material risks faced by the bank should be addressed in the capital assessment process.
Nepal Rastra Bank recognizes that not all risks can be measured precisely. However, bank
should develop a process to estimate risks with reasonable certainties. In order to make a
comprehensive assessment of risks, the process should, at minimum, address the following
forms of risk.

1.  Credit risk: Banks should have methodologies that enable them to assess the credit
risk involved in exposures to individual borrowers or counterparties as well as at the
portfolio level. The credit review assessment of capital adequacy, at a minimum,
should cover risk rating systems, portfolio analysis/aggregation, large exposures and
risk concentrations.

Internal risk ratings are an important tool in monitoring credit risk. Internal risk ratings
should be adequate to support the identification and measurement of risk from all credit
exposures, and should be integrated into an institution’s overall analysis of credit risk
and capital adequacy. The ratings system should provide detailed ratings for all assets,
not only for problem assets.

2. Credit concentration risk: Risk concentrations are arguably the single most important
cause of major problems in banks. A risk concentration is any single exposure or group
of exposures with the potential to produce losses large enough (relative to a bank’s
capital, total assets, or overall risk level) to threaten a bank’s health or ability to
maintain its core operations.

Lending being the primary activity of most banks, credit risk concentrations are often
the most material risk concentrations within a bank. However, risk concentrations can
arise in a bank’s assets, liabilities, or off-balance sheet items, through the execution or
processing of transactions (either product or service), or through a combination of
exposures across these broad categories. Credit risk concentrations are based on
common or correlated risk factors, which, in times of stress, have an adverse effect on
the creditworthiness of each of the individual counterparties making up the
concentration.
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Such credit concentrations are not addressed in the minimum capital requirements for
credit risk. Thus, banks should have in place effective internal policies, systems and
controls to identify, measure, monitor, and control their credit risk concentrations.
Banks should explicitly consider the extent of their credit risk concentrations in their
assessment of capital adequacy under review process. These policies should cover the
different forms of credit risk concentrations to which a bank may be exposed to. Such
concentrations include but are not limited to:

e Significant exposures to an individual counterparty or group of related
counterparty. Banks might also establish an aggregate limit for the management
and control of all of its large exposures as a group;

e Credit exposures to counterparties in the same economic sector or geographic
region;

o Credit exposures to counterparties whose financial performance is dependent on the
same activity or commaodity; and

e Indirect credit exposures arising from a bank’s CRM activities (e.g. exposure to a
similar type of collateral or credit protection provided by a single counterparty or
same collateral in cases of multiple banking).

A bank’s framework for managing credit risk concentrations should be clearly
documented and should include a definition of the credit risk concentrations relevant to
the bank and how these concentrations and their corresponding limits are calculated.
Limits should be defined in relation to a bank’s capital, total assets or, where adequate
measures exist, its overall risk level. A bank’s management should conduct periodic
stress tests of its major credit risk concentrations and review the results of those tests to
identify and respond to potential changes in market conditions that could adversely
impact the bank’s performance.

Operational risk: The failure to properly manage operational risk can result in a
misstatement of an institution’s risk/return profile and expose the institution to
significant losses. Gross income, used in the Basic Indicator Approach is only a proxy
for the scale of operational risk exposure of a bank and can in some cases
underestimate the need for capital. Thus, banks should develop a framework for
managing operational risk and evaluate the adequacy of capital as prescribed by this
framework. The framework should cover the bank’s appetite and tolerance for
operational risk, as specified through the policies for managing this risk, including the
extent and manner in which operational risk is transferred outside the bank. It should
also include policies outlining the bank’s approach to identifying, assessing, monitoring
and controlling/mitigating the risk.

Market risk: The prescribed approach for the computation of capital charge for market
risk is very simple and thus may not be directly aligned with the magnitude of risk.
Likewise, the approach only incorporates risks arising out of adverse movements in
exchange rates while ignoring other forms of risks like interest rate risk and equity
risks. Thus, banks should develop a framework that addresses these various forms of
risk and at the same time perform stress tests to evaluate the adequacy of capital.

The use of internal models by the bank for the measurement of market risk is highly
encouraged. Wherever banks make use of internal models for computation of capital
charge for market risks, the bank management should ensure the adequacy and
completeness of the system regardless of the type and level of complexity of the
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measurement system as the quality and reliability of the measurement system is largely
dependent on the quality of the data and various assumptions used in the model.

5. Liquidity risk: Liquidity is crucial to the ongoing viability of any financial institution.
Capital positions can have a telling effect on institution’s ability to obtain liquidity,
especially in a crisis. Each bank must have adequate systems for measuring, monitoring
and controlling liquidity risk. Banks should evaluate the adequacy of capital given their
own liquidity profile and the liquidity of the markets in which they operate. Banks are
also encouraged to make use of stress testing to determine their liquidity needs and the
adequacy of capital.

6.  Other risks: Although the ‘other’ risks, such as reputational and strategic risk, are not
easily measurable, banks are expected to take these into consideration as well while
deciding on the level of capital.

Monitoring and reporting

The bank should establish an adequate system for monitoring and reporting risk exposures
and assessing how the bank’s changing risk profile affects the need for capital. The bank’s
senior management or board of directors should, on a regular basis, receive reports on the
bank’s risk profile and capital needs. These reports should allow senior management to:

o Evaluate the level and trend of material risks and their effect on capital levels;

o Evaluate the sensitivity and reasonableness of key assumptions used in the capital
assessment measurement system,;

o Determine that the bank holds sufficient capital against the various risks and is in
compliance with established capital adequacy goals; and

e Assess its future capital requirements based on the bank’s reported risk profile and make
necessary adjustments to the bank’s strategic plan accordingly.

Internal control review

The bank’s internal control structure is essential to a sound capital assessment process.
Effective control of the capital assessment process includes an independent review and,
where appropriate, the involvement of internal or external audits. The bank’s board of
directors has a responsibility to ensure that management establishes a system for assessing the
various risks, develops a system to relate risk to the bank’s capital level, and establishes a
method for monitoring compliance with internal policies. The board should regularly verify
whether its system of internal controls is adequate to ensure well-ordered and prudent
conduct of business.

The bank should conduct periodic reviews of its risk management process to ensure its
integrity, accuracy, and reasonableness. Key areas that should be reviewed include:

e Appropriateness of the bank’s capital assessment process given the nature, scope and
complexity of its activities;

o Identification of large exposures and risk concentrations;
e Accuracy and completeness of data inputs into the bank’s assessment process;
o Reasonableness and validity of scenarios used in the assessment process; and

e Stress testing and analysis of assumptions and inputs.
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6.3

SUPERVISORY REVIEW:

Nepal Rastra Bank shall regularly review the process by which a bank assesses its capital adequacy,
risk positions, resulting capital levels, and quality of capital held by a bank. Supervisors shall also
evaluate the degree to which a bank has in place a sound internal process to assess capital
adequacy. The emphasis of the review should be on the quality of the bank’s risk management and
controls and should not result in supervisors functioning as bank management. The periodic review
can involve any or a combination of:

o On-site examinations or inspections;
o Off-site review;
e Discussions with bank management;

o Review of work done by external auditors (provided it is adequately focused on the necessary
capital issues); and

e Periodic reporting.

Some of the key areas which will be reviewed during the supervisory review process are discussed
hereunder

a. Review of adequacy of risk assessment

NRB shall assess the degree to which internal targets and processes incorporate the full range
of material risks faced by the bank. Supervisors shall also review the adequacy of risk
measures used in assessing internal capital adequacy and the extent to which these risk
measures are also used operationally in setting limits, evaluating business line performance,
and evaluating and controlling risks more generally. Supervisors shall consider the results of
sensitivity analyses and stress tests conducted by the institution and how these results relate
to capital plans.

b. Assessment of capital adequacy

NRB shall review the bank’s processes to determine that:

e Target levels of capital chosen are comprehensive and relevant to the current operating
environment;

e These levels are properly monitored and reviewed by senior management; and
e The composition of capital is appropriate for the nature and scale of the bank’s business.

NRB shall also consider the extent to which the bank has provided for unexpected events in
setting its capital levels. This analysis should cover a wide range of external conditions and
scenarios, and the sophistication of techniques and stress tests used should be commensurate
with the bank’s activities.

C. Assessment of the control environment

NRB shall consider the quality of the bank’s management information reporting and systems,
the manner in which business risks and activities are aggregated, and management’s record in
responding to emerging or changing risks. In all instances, the capital level at an individual
bank should be determined according to the bank’s risk profile and adequacy of its risk
management process and internal controls. External factors such as business cycle effects and
the macroeconomic environment should also be considered.
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6.4

Supervisory review of compliance with minimum standards

In order to obtain relief as per this framework banks are required to observe a humber of
requirements, including risk management standards and disclosures. In particular, banks will
be required to disclose features of their internal methodologies used in calculating minimum
capital requirements. As part of the supervisory review process, supervisors must ensure that
these conditions are being met on an ongoing basis. Likewise, the supervisors must ensure
that qualifying criteria as specified in the framework are continuously being met as these
criteria are developed as benchmarks aligned with bank management's expectations for
effective risk management and capital allocation.

Significance of risk transfer

Securitization or credit sale agreements with recourse may be carried out for purposes other
than credit risk transfer (e.g. funding). Where this is the case, there might still be a limited
transfer of credit risk. However, for an originating bank to achieve reductions in capital
requirements, the risk transfer arising from a securitization or credit sale has to be deemed
sufficient by the NRB. If the risk transfer is considered to be insufficient or non existent,
NRB can require the application of a higher capital requirement or, alternatively, may deny a
bank from obtaining any capital relief from the securitization or transfer agreements.
Therefore, the capital relief that can be achieved will correspond to the amount of credit risk
that is effectively transferred.

Credit Risk Mitigants

In case when the eligibility requirements are not fulfilled, NRB will not consider Credit Risk
Mitigants in allocating capital. Similarly, CRM may give rise to residual risks, which may
render the overall risk reduction less effective. Where, these risks are not adequately
controlled by the bank, NRB may impose additional capital charges or take other appropriate
supervisory actions.

Operational risk and Market Risk

The framework prescribes simple approaches for allocating capital for operational and market
risk which may not be directly aligned with the volume and complexity of risk. Thus, the
supervisor shall consider whether the capital requirements generated by the prescribed
approaches give a consistent picture of the individual bank's risk exposure in comparison
with the peer group and the banking industry at large. Where NRB is convinced such is not
the case, appropriate supervisory response is warranted.

Market Discipline

The framework requires banks to disclose various key information about their business on a
periodic basis. It is imperative that the banks discharge their obligations under the disclosure
requirements in order to be eligible to claim benefits of CRM. In line with the utmost
significance of this requirement, the supervisor shall review the adequacy of the disclosures.
As a part of this process itself, the supervisor shall regularly review the website of the banks
and review the contents of the site. Wherever the review process identifies any shortcomings
or non-compliances, appropriate supervisory response shall be initiated.

SUPERVISORY RESPONSE:

Nepal Rastra Bank expects banks to operate above the minimum regulatory capital ratios. If, NRB
is not convinced about the risk management practices and the control environment, it has the
authority to require banks to hold capital in excess of the minimum.
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Supervisory adjustments in risk weighted assets and capital

Having carried out the review process as described above, supervisors should take
appropriate action if they are not satisfied with the results of the bank’s own risk assessment
and capital allocation. In such a scenario, NRB shall be empowered to undertake any or
combination of the following adjustments in the banks risk weighted assets and regulatory
capital computations.

1.

Shortfall in provisions made by the bank against adversely classified assets shall be
deducted from the Tier 1 capital.

The loans and facilities extended to Directors, Employees (other than loans given under
Employee rules), Shareholders holding more than 1% percent shares and related parties
as well as loans, advances and facilities restricted by the prevailing rules and
regulations shall be deducted from Tier 1 capital.

In case the bank has provided loans and facilities in excess of its Single Obligor Limits,
10% of all such excess exposures shall be added to the risk weighted exposure for
credit risk.

Where the bank has been involved in the sale of credit with recourse facility, 1% of the
contract (sale) value shall be added to the risk weight for credit risk.

Where the banks do not have satisfactory Assets Liability Management policies and
practices to effectively manage the market risks, an additional risk weight of 1% of Net
Interest Income of the immediate previous financial year shall be added to the risk
weight for market risk.

Where the Net Interest Income of the immediate previous financial year is negative, 1%
of the total credit and investments net of specific provisions shall be the capital charge
for unsatisfactory ALM policies and practices.

Where the bank's net liquid asset to total deposit ratio is less than 20%, a risk weight of
1% (as given in the table below) of total deposit, for each percent or portion of percent
shortfall in such ratio, is added to total of the Risk Weighted Exposures.

Net liquid asset to total deposit | A risk weight to be added to the Risk Weighted
ratio Exposures

19% - less than 20% 1% of total deposit

18% - less than 19% 2% of total deposit

17% - less than 18% 3% of total deposit

16% - less than 17% 4% of total deposit

15% - less than 16% 5% of total deposit and so on.

For this purpose, liquid assets include cash and bank balances, money at call & short
notice, placement upto 90 days and investment in government securities. Borrowings
repayable upto 90 days is deducted from liquid assets to obtain net liquid assets.

Note: Aforesaid Provision shall be effective from Falgun end 2066 BS.

Where the banks do not adopt sound practices for the management of operational risk,
an additional capital charge of 2% to 5% of Gross Income of immediate previous
financial year shall be levied for operational risks.

Where the Gross Income determined for computation of capital charge of Operational
Risk for all of the last three years is negative and where the banks themselves have not
addressed the capital charge for operational risk, 5% of the total credit and investments
net of specific provisions shall be the capital charge for operational risk.
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7.2

New banks who have not completed a year of operation and hence whose gross income
cannot be measured reliably and where the banks themselves have not addressed the
capital charge for operational risk, shall also be required to compute their capital charge
for operational risk vide the same approach as prescribed for banks with negative gross
income. These banks may use the gross income approach from second year onwards.
But, based on the reasonableness of the so computed capital charge for Operation Risk,
during the first three years of operation, review process may require additional
proportion of capital charge.

9.  During the course of review, where the supervisor is not satisfied with the overall risk
management policies and procedures of the bank, the total risk weighted exposures of
the bank shall be increased up to 5%.

10. In case the bank has not achieved the desired level of disclosure requirements, the total
risk weighted exposures of the bank shall be increased up to 3%.

11. Banks that do not meet the eligibility requirements to claim the benefit under credit risk
mitigation techniques shall not be allowed the benefit of CRM.

b. Corrective Actions for Non-Compliances

1. The failure on part of the banks to meet the provisions of this framework shall be
considered as a violation of the NRB directives and shall attract stipulated actions. The
nature of the enforcement action largely depends on degree of the capital adequacy of
the bank. The trigger points and the prescribed action in case of non-compliance shall
be as per the provisions of Prompt Corrective Action Byelaw 2074 propounded by
Nepal Rastra Bank.

DISCLOSURE
GENERAL:

The purpose of disclosure requirements is to complement the minimum capital requirements and
the review process by developing a set of disclosure requirements which will allow market
participants to assess key pieces of information on the scope of application, capital, risk exposures,
risk assessment processes, and hence the capital adequacy of the bank. It is believed that providing
disclosures that are based on a common framework is an effective means of informing the market
about a bank’s exposure to those risks and provides a consistent and comprehensive disclosure
framework that enhances comparability. The importance of disclosure is more pronounced in cases
of bank that rely on internal methodologies in assessing capital requirements.

DISCLOSURE PRINCIPLES:

Banks should have a formal disclosure policy approved by the Board of Directors that addresses the
bank’s approach for determining what disclosures it will make and the internal controls over the
disclosure process. In addition, banks should implement a process for assessing the appropriateness
of their disclosures, including validation and frequency. While deciding on the disclosure policy,
the board should pay due attention to strike a balance between materiality and proprietary and
confidential information.

a. Materiality

Besides the minimum prescribed disclosure requirements, a bank should decide which
additional disclosures are relevant for it based on the materiality concept. Information would
be regarded as material if its omission or misstatement could change or influence the
assessment or decision of a user relying on that information for the purpose of making
economic decisions.
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7.3

7.4

b. Proprietary and confidential information

Proprietary information encompasses information (for example on products or systems), that
if shared with competitors would render a bank’s investment in these products/systems less
valuable, and hence would undermine its competitive position. Information about customers
is often confidential, in that it is provided under the terms of a legal agreement or
counterparty relationship. This has an impact on what banks should reveal in terms of
information about their customer base, as well as details on their internal arrangements, for
instance methodologies used, parameter estimates, data etc. The disclosure requirements set
out below by NRB aims to strike an appropriate balance between the need for meaningful
disclosure and the protection of proprietary and confidential information.

VALIDATION:

The disclosures of the bank should be subjected to adequate validation. In addition, supplementary
material (such as Management’s Discussion and Analysis) that is published should also be
subjected to sufficient scrutiny (e.g. internal control assessments, etc.) to satisfy the validation
issue. If material is not published under a validation regime, for instance in a stand alone report or
as a section on a website, then management should ensure that appropriate verification of the
information takes place, in accordance with the general disclosure principles.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS:

Banks should at minimum, disclose the following information at the stipulated time intervals. At
the same time, banks shall be free to disclose any other information they consider important for its
stakeholders as and when they consider necessary, beyond the prescribed requirements.

a. Banks should provide the following disclosures as at end of each financial year along with the
annual financial statements.

1.  Capital structure and capital adequacy

Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components;
Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components;

o Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with information on the
outstanding amount, maturity, amount raised during the year and amount eligible to
be reckoned as capital funds.

Deductions from capital;

Total qualifying capital;

Capital adequacy ratio;

Summary of the bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of its capital to
support current and future activities, if applicable; and

o Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital instruments,
especially in case of subordinated term debts including hybrid capital instruments.

2. Risk exposures

O O O O

Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational Risk;
Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 11 categories of Credit Risk;

Total risk weighted exposure calculation table;

Amount of NPAs (both Gross and Net)

» Restructure/Reschedule Loan

» Substandard Loan

» Doubtful Loan

O O O O
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» Loss Loan
o NPA ratios
» Gross NPA to gross advances
» Net NPA to net advances
Movement of Non Performing Assets
Write off of Loans and Interest Suspense
Movements in Loan Loss Provisions and Interest Suspense
Details of additional Loan Loss Provisions

Segregation of investment portfolio into Held for trading, Held to maturity and
Available for sale category
Risk Management Function

o O O O O

o For each separate risk area (Credit, Market and Operational risk), banks must
describe their risk management objectives and policies, including:

> Strategies and processes;

» The structure and organization of the relevant risk management function;
» The scope and nature of risk reporting and/or measurement systems; and
>

Policies for hedging and/or mitigating risk and strategies, and processes for
monitoring the continuing effectiveness of hedges/mitigants.

o Types of eligible credit risk mitigants used and the benefits availed under CRM.

All commercial banks should make following disclosures on a quarterly basis on their
respective websites.

@)

o

O O O O 0O O O

O O O O

Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components;
Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components;

Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with information on the
outstanding amount, maturity, amount raised during the year and amount eligible to be
reckoned as capital funds.

Deductions from capital;

Total qualifying capital;

Capital adequacy ratio;

Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational Risk;
Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 11 categories of Credit Risk;
Total risk weighted exposure calculation table;

Amount of NPAs (both Gross and Net)

» Restructure/Reschedule Loan

» Substandard Loan

» Doubtful Loan

» Loss Loan

NPA ratios

» Gross NPA to gross advances

» Net NPA to net advances

Movement of Non Performing Assets

Write off of Loans and Interest Suspense

Movements in Loan Loss Provisions and Interest Suspense

Details of Additional Loan Loss Provisions
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o Segregation of investment portfolio into Held for trading, Held to maturity and Available
for sale category

o Summary of the bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of its capital to support
current and future activities, if applicable; and

o Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital instruments, especially
in case of subordinated term debts including hybrid capital instruments.

c.  Disclosure requirements under this framework should also be published in the respective

websites of the banks. Such disclosures of the banks should also be updated to reflect the
capital adequacy position of the banks after the supervisory adjustments under the review
process. Banks that do not host a website yet are required to make the necessary
arrangements to host a website immediately.

d.  Banks are required to report to NRB their capital adequacy computations, according to the

format as specified in Annexure of this framework on a monthly basis within one month after
the end of the month or as required by NRB from time to time. All such returns has to be
validated by the internal auditor of the bank. If the monthly internal audit could not be carried
out, it should be disclosed on the monthly returns. But, such returns at the end of each quarter
must be submitted with the validation from the internal auditor of the bank.

In addition to the returns specified above, a bank must inform NRB within 30 days of:

1. Any breach of the minimum capital adequacy requirements set out in this framework
together with an explanation of the reasons for the breach and the remedial measures it
has taken to address those breaches.

2. Any concerns it has about its capital adequacy, along with proposed measures to address
these concerns.

e. Full compliance of these disclosure requirements is a pre-requisite before banks can obtain
any capital relief (i.e., adjustments in the risk weights of collateralized or guaranteed
exposures) in respect of any credit risk mitigation techniques.

FORM NO. 1 CAPITAL ADEQUACY TABLE

(Rs.In .....)
1. 1 Risk Weighted Exposures Current Previous
Period Period

a | Risk Weighted Exposure for Credit Risk
b | Risk Weighted Exposure for Operational Risk
¢ | Risk Weighted Exposure for Market Risk
Adjustments under Pillar 11

Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (5)

Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (6)

Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (7)

Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (9)

Adjustment as per SRP 6.4a (10)
Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After Bank's adjustments of
Pillar 11)

Current Previous
1.2 CAPITAL Period Period
Core Capital (Tier 1)

a | Paid up Equity Share Capital
b | Irredeemable Non-cumulative preference shares
c | Share Premium
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Proposed Bonus Equity Shares

Statutory General Reserves

Retained Earnings

Un-audited current year cumulative profit/(Loss)

Capital Redemption Reserve

Capital Adjustment Reserve

Debenture Redemption Reserves

Dividend Equalization Reserves

Other Free Reserve

Less: Goodwill

Less: Fictitious Assets

Less: Investment in equity in licensed Financial Institutions

Less: Investment in equity of institutions with financial interests

Less: Investment in equity of institutions in excess of limits

Less: Investments arising out of underwriting commitments

—~ | *_Q'cosg—‘—-—':r@ =|oD |

Less: Reciprocal crossholdings

Less: Purchase of land & building in excess of limit &
unutilized

e

v | Less: Other Deductions

Adjustments under Pillar 11
Less: Shortfall in Provision (6.4 a 1)

Less: Loans and Facilities extended to Related Parties
and Restricted lending (6.4 a 2)

w

upplementary Capital (Tier 1) 0 0

Cumulative and/or Redeemable Preference Share

Subordinated Term Debt

Hybrid Capital Instruments

General Loan Loss Provision

Exchange Equalization Reserve

=h|D |Q|O |T|D

Investment Adjustment Reserve

g | Other Reserves

Total Capital Fund (Tier | and Tier I1) 0 0

1.3 CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS Current Previous

Period Period
Tier 1 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After Bank's
adjustments of Pillar I1)

Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures(After
Bank's adjustments of Pillar 1)

**The balance of employee training and capacity development fund, Corporate Social Responsibilty
Fund, Regulatory Reserve and other funds that are restricted for distribution and Fair Value Reserve,
Actuarial Loss (positive figure from OCI) should not be included in Other Free Reserve

*FHAR AT AGIE PV, YN ATHINF IORENAE B, FAHBE FeT & Mufra s¥er @@ Fair Value
Reserve, Actuarial Loss ®1 &MTcH® T6H wi&ar OC| 1 fafsia riter qoirersar S#Eer T 91ey 89 |

Note: this table should be based on the figures as reported in financial statements, as per applicable
reporting standards.
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FORM NO. 2: RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR CREDIT RISK

(Rs.In .....)
Specific
Provisio
n& Eligib Risk Risk
5’2& IZ Valuatio le V':ﬁtje Weig | Weighted

A. Balance Sheet Exposures n CRM ht Exposures

Adjustm

ent
a b c d:eg-b- e f=d*e
Cash Balance 0 0 0] 0% 0
Balance With Nepal Rastra Bank 0 0 0] % 0
Gold 0 0 0| 0% 0
Investment in Nepalese Government 0 0 0] 0% 0
All Claims on Government of Nepal 0 0 0] 0% 0
Investment in Nepal Rastra Bank securities 0 0 0| 0% 0
All claims on Nepal Rastra Bank 0 0 0] 0% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA -2) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA -3) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0 0 0 0 100 0
Bank (ECA-4-6) %
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0 0 0 0 150 0
Bank (ECA -7) %
Claims On BIS, IMF, ECB, EC and on
Multilateral Development Banks (MDB's) 0 0 0| 0% 0
recognized by the framework
Claims on Other Multilateral Development 0 0 0 0 100 0
Banks %
Claims on Domestic Public Sector Entities 0 0 0 0 1(300 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0| 20% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 2) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 3-6) 0 0 0 0 1(2)0 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 7) 0 o] o 0| 10 0
Claims on dor_nestlc banks that meet capital 0 0 0 0l 20% 0
adequacy requirements
Claims on domestic banks that do not meet 100
. . 0 0 0 0 0

capital adequacy requirements %
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0] 20% 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0] 100 0
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Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0] 150 0
Claims on foreign bank incorporated in
SAARC region and China operating with a 0
buffer of 1% above their respective 0 0 0 0 20% 0
regulatory capital requirement
Claims on Domestic Corporate (Credit rating 0
Score equivalent to AAA) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Claims on Domestic Corporate(Credit rating
Score equivalent to AA+to AA-) 0 0 0 0] 70% 0
Claims on Domestic Corporate(Credit rating
Score equivalentto A+ to A-) 0 0 0 0| 80% 0
Claims on Domestic Corporate(Credit rating 0 0 0 0 100 0
Score equivalent to BBB+ & below) %
Claims on Domestic Corporate (Unrated) 0 0 0 0 1(300 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0] 20% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 2) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 3-6) 0 0 0 0| 100 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 7) 0 0 0 0| 150 0
Regulatory Retail Portfolio (Not Overdue) 0 0 0 0| 75% 0
Claims fulfilling all criterion of regulatory 0 0 0 0 100 0
retail except granularity %
Claims secured by residential properties 0 0 0 0| 60% 0
Claims not fully secured by residential 0 0 0 0| 150 0
Claims secured by residential properties 0 0 0 0] 100 0
Claims secured by Commercial real estate 0 0 0 0] 100 0
Past due claims (except for claim secured by 150
e : 0 0 0 0 0
residential properties) %
. . . 150
High Risk claims 0 0 0 0 % 0
. . . 100
Lending against securities (bonds) 0 0 0 0 % 0
Lending against Shares (upto Rs.5 Million) 0 0 0 0| 100 0
Real Estate loans for land acquisition and
development (for institutions 100
registred/licensed and approved by 0 0 0 0 o 0
Government of Nepal for land acquisition 0
and development purposes)
Personal Hirepurchase/Personal Auto 0 0 0 0 100 0
Loans (upto Rs. 2.5 Million) %
Personal Hirepurchase/Personal Auto 195
Loans (above Rs. 2.5 0 0 0 0 o 0
- (o]
Million)
Staff loan secured by residential property 0 0 0 0] 50% 0
Interest Receivable/claim on government 0 0 0 0] 0% 0
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Cash in transit an(_JI other cash items in the 0 0 0 0l 20% 0
process of collection
Other Assets (as per attachment) 0 0 0 0| 100 0
TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0
Gross | Specific |Eligib Net Risk Risk
Book | Provisio le Value Weig | Weighted
B. Off Balance Sheet Exposures Value n CRM ht Exposures
a b c d:‘g_b_ e f=d*e
Revocable Commitments 0 0 0| 0% 0
Bills Under Collection 0 0 0| 0% 0
Forward Exchange Contract Liabilities 0 0 0 0| 10% 0
LC Commitments With Original Maturity
Upto 6 months 0 0 0 0| 20% 0
Domestic counterparty
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0| 20% 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 1(300 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 o] o 0| 9 0
LC Commitments With Original Maturity
Over 6 months 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Domestic counterparty
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0| 20% 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 1(300 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 1(;)0 0
Bid Bond, Performance Bond and Counter
guarantee 0 0 0 0| 40% 0
Domestic counterparty
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0| 20% 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 1(300 0
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 1(;)0 0
Underwriting commitments 0 0 0 0| 50% 0
Lending of Bank's Securities or Posting of 100
S 0 0 0 0 0
Securities as collateral %
Repurchase Agreements, Assets sale with 0 0 0 0 1000 0
recourse %
Advance Payment Guarantee 0 0 0 0 1(300 0
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Financial Guarantee 0 o| o 0| %
Acceptances and Endorsements 0 0 0 0 1(300
Unpaid portion of Partly paid shares and 100

oo 0 0 0 0
Securities %
Irrevocable Credit commitments (Short 0 0 0 0l 20%
Term)
Irrevocable Credit commitments (Long 0 0 0 0| 50%
Term)
Claims on foreign bank incorporated in
SAARC region operating with a buffer of 0 0 0 0l 20%
1% above their respective regulatory capital
requirement
Other Contingent Liabilities 0 0 0 0 1(300

. . 200
Unpaid Guarantee Claims 0 0 0 0 %
TOTAL 0 0 0 0
Total RWE for Credit Risk Before 0 0 0 0
Adjustment (A) +(B)
Adjustments under Pillar 11

Add: 10% of the loan and facilities in 0

excess of Single Obligor Limits(6.4 a 3)

Add: 1% of the contract(sale) value in

case of the sale of credit with recourse

(6.4a4)
Total RWE for credit Risk (After Bank's
adjustments of Pillar 11)

FORM NO.3 ELIGIBLE CREDIT RISK MITIGANTS
Credit exposures Deposit |Deposit | Gol | Govt. |G'te |Sec/G'te |G'tee of | G'tee Sec/G't |Tota
swith | swith | d & |eof | eof |domesti | of |eeof I
Bank | other NRB [Govt | Other |cbanks [MDB |Foreig
banks/F Securi |.of | Soverei S n
I ties [Nep | gns Banks
al
(a) (b) () [ (d) [() | () @ [(h) | (1)

Balance Sheet Exposures

Claims on Foreign government and

Central Bank (ECA -2) 0
Claims on Foreign government and
Central Bank (ECA -3) 0
Claims on Foreign government and
Central Bank (ECA-4-6) 0
Claims on Foreign government and
Central Bank (ECA -7) 0
Claims on Other Multilateral
Development Banks 0
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Credit exposures Deposit |Deposit | Gol | Govt. |G'te |Sec/G'te |G'tee of | G'tee Sec/G't |Tota

swith | swith | d & |eof | eof |domesti | of |eeof I

Bank | other NRB [Govt | Other |cbanks [MDB |Foreig

banks/F Securi | .of | Soverei S n
I ties [Nep | gns Banks
al

(a) (b) () [ (d) () | (F) @ | () | ()
Claims on Domestic Public Sector
Entity
Claims on Public Sector Entity
(ECA0-1) 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity
(ECA 2) 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity
(ECA 3-6) 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity
(ECAT) 0
Claims on domestic banks that
meet capital adequacy
requirements 0
Claims on domestic banks that do
not meet capital adequacy
requirements 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA
Rating 0-1) 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA 0
Rating 2)
Claims on foreign bank (ECA 0
Rating 3-6)
Claims on foreign bank (ECA 0
Rating 7)
Claims on  foreign  bank
incorporated in SAARC region and
China operating with a buffer of
1% above their  respective
regulatory capital requirement
Claims on Domestic Corporates 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates 0
(ECA 0-1)
Claims on Foreign Corporates 0
(ECA 2)
Claims on Foreign Corporates 0
(ECA 3-6)
Claims on Foreign Corporates 0
(ECAT)
Regulatory Retail Portfolio (Not 0
Overdue)
Claims fulfilling all criterion of 0
regulatory retail except granularity
Claims secured by residential 0
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Credit exposures

Deposit
swith
Bank

Deposit
s with
other
banks/F
I

Gol

Gowt.
&
NRB
Securi
ties

G'te
e of
Govt
.of
Nep
al

Sec/G'te
e of
Other
Soverei
gns

G'tee of
domesti
¢ banks

G'tee
of
MDB

Sec/G't
ee of
Foreig
n
Banks

Tota

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

()

(9)

(h)

(i)

properties

Claims not fully secured by
residential properties

Claims secured by residential
properties (Overdue)

Claims secured by Commercial
real estate

Past due claims (except for claim
secured by residential properties)

High Risk claims

Lending against securities

(bonds)

Lending against Shares (upto
Rs.5 Million)

Real Estate loans for land
acquisition and development
(for institutions
registred/licensed and approved
by Government of Nepal for
land acquisition and
development purposes)

Personal
Hirepurchase/Personal  Auto
Loans (upto Rs. 2.5 Million)

Personal
Hirepurchase/Personal  Auto
Loans (above Rs. 2.5

Million)

Investments in equity and other
capital instruments of institutions
listed in the stock exchange

Investments in equity and other
capital instruments of institutions
not listed in the stock exchange

Other Assets (as per attachment)

Total

Off Balance Sheet Exposures

Forward  Exchange  Contract
Liabilities

LC Commitments With Original
Maturity Upto 6 months
Domestic counterparty

Foreign counterparty (ECA
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Credit exposures Deposit |Deposit | Gol | Govt. |G'te |Sec/G'te |G'tee of | G'tee Sec/G't |Tota

swith | swith | d & |eof | eof |domesti | of |eeof I

Bank | other NRB [Govt | Other |cbanks [MDB |Foreig

banks/F Securi | .of | Soverei S n
I ties [Nep | gns Banks
al
(a) (b) () [ (d) () | (F) @ | () | ()

Rating 0-1)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
2)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
3-6)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
7)
LC Commitments With Original 0
Maturity Over 6 months
Domestic counterparty
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
0-1)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
2)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
3-6)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
7)
Bid Bond, Performance Bond and 0
Counter guarantee
Domestic counterparty
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
0-1)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
2)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
3-6)
Foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0
7)
Underwriting commitments 0
Lending of Bank's Securities or 0
Posting of Securities as collateral
Repurchase Agreements, Assets 0
sale with recourse
Advance Payment Guarantee 0
Financial Guarantee 0
Acceptances and Endorsements 0
Unpaid portion of Partly paid 0
shares and Securities
Irrevocable Credit commitments 0

(Short Term)

Irrevocable Credit commitments
(Long Term)
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Credit exposures Deposit |Deposit | Gol | Govt. |G'te |Sec/G'te |G'tee of | G'tee Sec/G't |Tota
swith | swith | d & |eof | eof |domesti| of |eeof I
Bank | other NRB [Govt | Other |cbanks [MDB |Foreig
banks/F Securi | .of | Soverei S n
I ties [Nep | gns Banks
al
(a) (b) () [ (d) () | (F) @ | () | ()
Other Contingent Liabilities 0
Total
Grand Total
FORM NO.4 EXHIBIT OF CLAIMS WITH CREDIT RISK MITIGANTS
(Rs.In ................)
S. Counterparty | Categor | Facility | Outstandin Eligible CRM
N. y g Nature Gross Haircut Net
Amount Amount
FORM NO.5 OTHER ASSETS
S.No. | Assets Gross Amount Specific Net
Provision & | Balance
Valuation
Adjustment
1 Current tax assets 0
2 Investment property 0
3 Property and equipment 0
4 Assets held for sale 0
5 Other non-banking assets 0
6 Bills receivable 0
7 Accounts receivable 0
8 Accrued income 0
9 Prepayment and deposits 0
10 Income tax deposits 0
11 Deferred employee expenditure 0
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12 | Others

TOTAL 0 0 0
FORM NO. 6: RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR OPERATIONAL RISK

Particulars FY ..... FY ..... FY ...

Net Interest Income

Commission and Discount Income

Other Operating Income

Exchange Fluctuation Income

Addition/Deduction in Interest Suspense during the period

Gross income (a)

Alfa (b) 15% 15% 15%

Fixed Percentage of Gross Income [c=(axb)]

Capital Requirement for Operational Risk (d) (average of c)

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 10%0) in

times (e) 10

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [f=(dxe)]

PILLAR-1I ADJUSTMENTS

If Gross Income for all the last three years is negative(6.4 a

8)

Total Credit and Investment (net of Specific Provision)

Capital Requirement for Operational Risk (5%)

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 10%) in times 10

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [g]

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [h=f or g)

FORM NO.7 RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR MARKET RISK

S.No. Currency Open Position (FCY) Open Position (NPR) Relevant Open
Position
1 INR
2 usD
3 GBP
4 EURO
5 THB
6 CHF
7T | ...
8 | ...
9 | ...
Total Open Position (a)
Fixed Percentage (b) 5%
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Capital Charge for Market Risk [c=(axb)]

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 10%) in times (d)

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [e=(cxd)]

FORM NO. 8 NET LIQUID ASSETS TO TOTAL DEPOSIT RATIO

(Rs.In .....)

Particulars

Amount

Total Deposit and Borrowing (A)

Total Deposit(as per NRB Ni.Fa. 9.1)

Total Borrowing(as per NRB Ni.Fa. 9.1)

Liquid Assets (B)

Cash(9.1)

Bank Balance(9.1)

Money at call and short notice (9.1)

Investment in government Securities(9.1)

Placement upto 90 days

Borrowings payable upto 90 days (C)

Net Liquid Assets (D)=(B-C)

Net Liquid Assets to Total Deposit

Shortfall in Ratio

Amount to be added to Risk Weighted Exposures

A AL b

e a7 fadir Tearedr e QaRTeHE FRATE IR fafraaTaEt, 09y
AT AT Ak TA, 045 FT THRT 490 FT IUGHT () 1 @UE (F3) o fGURT Al FAWT TN AITeA

T bl TouTeleh ATATA SETHHT (ATIHES TATTHT B |

q. g W ¥ AReE (@) A faframewer ama quer e S, S qur o @warer ofre

QURTCHE FRATE] TFEAT AfTIATae, 09%” TH B |

() AT FATTIHTEET T I AT FeATeE ATATTer S T fafasha @mr g 18

R qieemT: fawr ar ygser o A FaRH a9 fataaATaeET-
() “TF" qHT TUTS AL Sk UF, 045 TR TG |

(@) “I6Z A" TSl Ul THT 3 THINAH TATIAT TTHT FITT AT A TR T |

“fafq 09% /09 /9% AT THHT GodATdH AR T5H FEAT 2/ 09¥ I T |

gug ‘@” R




“FfAfa” qwTer THT THT ¥ THINTH ST TUHT A Sebebl ATl ATAT TEHT TG |

TR ATl Ul T Y T [AIh g Sehebl TR TRFY 98 ¥ AT 9Tead
T THT 9 FTHINTH FIAH HHAH HHW AUH THR qHAATS TGS, |

“FULT TR TS UART T 9% THIH (HIch W6 Sehebl SYETN THAY TRRT TS |
“Hifq fger srateae qfafq” T Sate g S, e qar quiEer faframraed
R04R &I Ao 3% FHIGTH FFfrad SYET THARE] HASTHad Tod AHTATS THHT
T, |

‘UL faqmT” T AT b ArAIART AT AL IR TR T |
“Fep AT faeirar TRAT” T AT APATE FATAATAIT b AT foeiiar T=AT TR T |
“FTHETE THE” AT S qaT faxira €ear FEedy U9, 3093 1 T6T 3% aHiaH
rafead S a7 faxira A=Al FAFRT THE TR Te T AT 9T b a7 faxirg qRameR
FRAFERT THEH! TTHT HTH TH AT GRIIHR] GHAATS TS, |

TERT T8 T 91 SR ol qATdr @@, 06R (Capital Adequacy Framework, 2015
Fa AMPUH] TRYT ISl ATechebl IAAH & 9ol (Minimum Total Capital excluding
Conservation Buffer) S ITddTE STHISAS, |

Iy AT Tl (EeTeer TTaAT THTAT gH 3 qURTHE FRATEES:

ICT Sebel ATehebl qAAH YOIhIT AT hTAH T bl b qAT faxiid GeATes @
THINTHPT GERTHE FRATEET Tchlel TS, (-

(<P)

()

()

U Sl ATl FATH ST SITAHET b ar faxiia Fearel F1a| THT i
FAATT q=AE IfATAqFHS FH FUAT -

(1) FEead S a7 faii GRATRT T HARATIAET GARHT FAHT THIHT AR
T GABART [TITEATS ATAAGDT FTH] T |

Teafead o a1 fa<iir FEareT 951 afg (Recapitalization) I ST ATSTAT AT T |

(%) IS ATAI AT A9 FA SO T4 b AMS |

(&) AT AT @red Ak TS |

(9) gEafead d% a1 faxiia Gearer F=aradd A9 qAT QAT T THE FEEE awad
I=o FALATITAR] qAd, AT JAT Fiadr FLgAT Ak A3 |

I S ATl AT TSP ATATAHRT o a7 {aiid ATl FTIH ThT G
FAATT T=e GIATAART FG Tod HATTITHA FHH FTAT -

()  TIL (F) THINTHF] FRATEES T |

(@) ferT AT 99T FS FRERE! £ IHHAT GTHT FEH T | “F7 qH A
fadra ¥R gpHT 8T/ a9 T A7 o6 99T fad gedrare fdae o aradrEr
T HTIH T |

(%) O FFaTF BRATEATT === T Ak a3 |
(%) @ig a7 foot yiwar o a9 fear el yret T g Sl e foe 9 |

gus “@” %5



()

(¥I)

(F) TEfad & a1 foaxi Fearedr FHaRiEsdrs Toaled Ax, LT Gigal fad o
qfaarar dig, TIAIA T dlg a7 FTLATIAH] qSiasiel fad Fa T eafadrd
AT & T 2 I |

AT S ATl FATH IR AITTAT S a1 {aeiiar TeATe HTaH Bl G

FAATT I HATTART T Toeay AT HH AUHT -

() @UE (@) FHITAR] FRAGEE T |

(@) It e @rar @i A% e | ‘97 ARl JEad b SRl ghHr 94t
fagr /g T 9= S qor faxira deamare o/ qrdr a9 e awms |

(%) HAT GIET ghg TF FAT AT A GaATE T Ak ATMST |

(%) FHHAETH qod, TAT qAT AT ATSF Fiaem Fgar Ah a3 |

(F) T Thehl TTEHT (g Ioo dgbl FHART WA I qT8h G¥AeId b a1 faxdira
T A= FIT FHART AT TAT TGATHT Ak ATMST |

() ISl TATqar FEel FRAEl IRF 9UR fAfae g AfeaiiaT dieudl gaaH
ISATehTY ST FTIH A9CHT FFAfvad o a1 fadiia SemeT qouiered Ja7 e
THEATS UAHI TR 100 &I IJUTHT () THISTHHT FRATEES T |

IS SFel AThepl ATH TSI FITAHwRT oieb aT faxiia FEaTel 1| bl otrepr

HAAT TEEAY AATAHRT eIl HH TTHAT -

() @UE () THITHF FRATEEE T |

(1) FHEed b a1 foaxiia AT IR OO W TR SRT o% AEIh!
FRATET YT T |

(3) WWW&@W%WWWWW
TATHAT S A7 foeiiar ST M M (X)) a7 Wi (TfeafaTeTe) 7 IeRar s
Tﬁﬂ%ﬁWﬁ{ﬁﬂT@ﬁWW%ﬁTﬁl

() U /a1 d% qar faxira Fear G U, 063 SR d7 ATaF FRAGES T |

FRATEHT G g qaen fafod 3 sans ofig quRIeas FRaeEs a9 “$”) ‘@’ ‘T’ T
“g” R S TAT faxira FXATEEHT TN FHAT AT &S |

TR fafraw 3 &1 gvg (@) & IYGUE () T (I) TAT UL () HI IUEUE (%) ¥ (I) aehar e
QIRTCAS FRATEEEH] STAD] ATLITEEH e TaT T Afers;-

(P)

(@)

AT PR AT T (Hpraessl TedrT fag I o ATha qARET=ATRl 9bRar
AT T b AT Fa=iTT ARATE%eh! EehT |

THEIf=Id S a7 faxiig TEATRT T ¥/ A7 FoATaas A Sl GAE faerurr
fes GIRTHS FRATET ToaTad T Tehl AACATHT |

ok T i Wedr g A, 2093 1 AT 90 UAH 93 9T (AT HeAT Uk ATIHAr
e M (WSR) 99T 9t (TiateeT™) el fafradraetr, 2093 77 qUST Jiaames
TRT TR T MAT (F9R) a7 TR (Tfafsiet) 1 Jgifvdsd Teafqer AT e ST
fara T9T TR ofp T faiTa eaTe®ad ghHT |

I ek ATTHHT T A (ASR) a1 Wi (Thisrer) &7 dgTiwas TgHiaer dqiT e

@-Ug U@-N %%



0.

1.

®

TFAT AT G2 YA B S | AR AUl dEfafad ey miee (@eiR) ar i
(ufrafsTeT) &1 TFI~ AT AT qatd =T A1 G2 @ @IS TUH AAAS, |
QA FaE3: fafaw 3 gHifTHes FRaer & awEfad g6 o1 i gerers gared
FaER fagd g |

FRATET T sfeqar<r: fafaza 3 &1 @ve (@) st ofrg qurTeHE FRATERS T AfeTard
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TR F. ¥ /050 T FFET AT
ferdrr Feraoreet af=

Name of the Bank or Financial Institution

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Note Year Year Year Year
Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.1
Due from Nepal Rastra Bank 4.2
Placement with Bank and Financial Institutions 4.3
Derivative financial instruments 4.4
Other trading assets 4.5
Loan and advances to B/Fls 4.6
Loans and advances to customers 4.7
Investment securities 4.8
Current tax assets 4.9
Investment in subsidiaries 4.10
Investment in associates 4.11
Investment property 412
Property and equipment 4.13
Goodwill and Intangible assets 4.14
Deferred tax assets 4.15
Other assets 4.16
Total Assets
Current Previous Current Previous
Note Year Year Year Year
Liabilities
Due to Bank and Financial Institutions 4.17
Due to Nepal Rastra Bank 4.18
Derivative financial instruments 4.19
Deposits from customers 4.20
Borrowing 4.21
Current Tax Liabilities 4.9
Provisions 4.22
Deferred tax liabilities 4.15
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Other liabilities
Debt securities issued
Subordinated Liabilities

4.23
4.24
4.25

Total liabilities

Equity

Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings
Reserves

4.26

4.27

Total equity attributable to equity holders
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Contingent liabilities and commitment
Net assets value per share

4.28

Name of the Bank or Financial Institution

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended ......Asar 20.......

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Note Year Year Year Year
Interest income 4.29
Interest expense 4.30
Net interest income
Fee and commission income 431
Fee and commission expense 4.32
Net fee and commission income
Net interest, fee and commission income
Net trading income 4.33
Other operating income 4.34
Total operating income
Impairment charge/(reversal) for loans and other 435
losses '
Net operating income
Operating expense
Personnel expenses 4.36
Other operating expenses 4.37
Depreciation & Amortization 4.38
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Operating Profit

Non operating income 4.39
Non operating expense 4.40

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense 4.41
Current Tax
Deferred Tax

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interest

Profit for the year

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

Name of the Bank or Financial Institution
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended ......Asar 20.......

Group

Bank

Current Previous
Note Year Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax

a) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
e Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
e Gains/(losses) on revalution
e Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
e Income tax relating to above items
Net other comprehsive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

b) Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
e Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge

o Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
e Income tax relating to above items
o Reclassify to profit or loss
Net other comprehsive income that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
c) Share of other comprehensive income of associate accounted as per equited method
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Bank

.@-U_E'; U@-H (1(1 ?



Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income for the period
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Name of the Bank or Financial Institution

Group
Attributable to equity holders of the Bank

Share Capital
Share
premium
General
reserve

Exchange
equalization

reserve

Regulatory

reserve

Fair value

reserve

Revaluation

reserve

Retained

earning

Other reserve

Total

Non-controlling interest
Total equity

Balance at Sawan 1, 20...

Adjustment/Restatement
Adjusted/Restated balance at Sawan 1, 20.....
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to reserve during the year
Transfer from reserve during the year
Transactions with owners, directly recognised in equity
Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued
Cash dividend paid
Other

Total contributions by and distributions
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Balance at Asar end 20.....

Balance at Sawan 1, 20......

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to reserve during the year
Transfer from reserve during the year
Transactions with owners, directly recognized in equity
Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued
Cash dividend paid
Other

Total contributions by and distributions

Balance at Asar end 20.....
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Balance at Sawan 1, 20...

Adjustment/Restatement
Adjusted/Restated balance at Sawan 1, 20.....
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to reserve during the year
Transfer from reserve during the year
Transactions with owners, directly recognised in equity
Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued
Cash dividend paid
Other

Total contributions by and distributions

Balance at Asar end 20.....

Balance at Sawan 1, 20......
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Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to reserve during the year
Transfer from reserve during the year
Transactions with owners, directly recognized in equity
Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued
Cash dividend paid
Other

Total contributions by and distributions

Balance at Asar end 20.....
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Name of the Bank or Financial Institution

Consolidated Statement of cash flows

For the year ended ........ Asar 20.......

Group

Bank

Current Previous
Year Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Interest received

Fees and other income received

Divided received

Receipts from other operating activities

Interest paid

Commission and fees paid

Cash pay